ASSOCIATIONS OF FOUR PROMIS SELF-EFFICACY FOR MANAGING CHRONIC CONDITIONS MEASURES AND THE PATIENT ACTIVATION MEASURE (PAM) AMONG ACUTE STROKE SURVIVORS: AN ANALYSIS OF THE MICHIGAN STROKE TRANSITIONS TRIAL (MISTT) DATA

Ву

Michele Christine Fritz

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Epidemiology – Master of Science

ABSTRACT

ASSOCIATIONS OF FOUR PROMIS SELF-EFFICACY FOR MANAGING CHRONIC CONDITIONS MEASURES AND PATIENT ACTIVATION MEASURE (PAM) AMONG ACUTE STROKE SURVIVORS: AN ANALYSIS OF THE MICHIGAN STROKE TRANSITIONS TRIAL (MISTT) DATA

By

Michele Christine Fritz

BACKGROUND: Successful stroke transitions rely on effective self-management abilities to address stroke deficits and to prevent recurrent stroke. Patient activation and self-efficacy (confidence) are two behavioral constructs that influence successful self-management and are associated with healthier lifestyles and better health outcomes. **OBJECTIVE:** This cross-sectional, secondary analysis of the Michigan Stroke Transitions Trial aimed to determine the associations between 4 PROMIS self-efficacy (SE) measures [managing medications and treatment, activities of daily living, emotions, and social interactions] and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM).

METHODS: Self-reported outcomes were collected 7-days after returning home. PAM measures skill, knowledge, and confidence to manage health and healthcare, while PROMIS SE measures confidence across 4 unique domains. Independent associations of patient characteristics with each PROMIS SE and PAM were determined using a staged multivariable regression model-building approach. Finally, multivariable regression between each PROMIS SE and PAM were explored along with confounding and interaction effects. Variables significantly associated with both SE and PAM were considered as confounders and moderators. Age and education were forced into all models.

RESULTS: For 180 patients mean PAM scores were 64.5 (SD: 16) and SE T-scores were near the standard mean of 50 except for SE for managing daily activities (43.5, SD: 7.5). PAM was positively correlated with each SE measure (r=0.28 to r=0.46). Only perceived emotional support and post-stroke disability were associated with both PAM and SE. Emotional support attenuated the association between all SE domains and PAM, whereas post-stroke disability only affected SE for managing daily activities. After adjusting for potential confounders, SE for managing daily activities was no longer associated with PAM. No significant interactions were found.

CONCLUSIONS: During acute stroke recovery, PROMIS SE and PAM are associated. It is important to account for perceived support and disability. Longitudinal MISTT analyses will explore mediation effects to help inform causal associations between demographic, clinical, and psychosocial factors, intervention effects, and outcomes.

This thesis is dedicated to the friends and family that have supported me throughout this journey. Thank you for your encouragement and prayers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Most importantly, I would like to acknowledge and thank the many stroke survivors and caregivers who participated in the Michigan Stroke Transitions Trial (MISTT) during a time of personal health crisis. Our team is grateful for your willingness to help improve our understanding of how to address stroke transitions. Additionally, thank you to the many individuals who participated in our MISTT focus groups and Advisory Board meetings – your time and expertise were important to the success of this study.

The MISTT study was successfully completed due to the many hours of hard work from the Investigator team, recruitment coordinators, case managers, data collectors, and data analysts. Thank you for your time and dedication to this important work.

Special thanks to my thesis committee members, Dr. Mathew Reeves and Dr. Nicole Talge from the MSU Department of Epidemiology & Biostatistics and Dr. Amanda Woodward from the MSU School of Social Work. I acknowledge the extra time and effort is has taken to mentor me through the complex subject of self-efficacy and patient activation. There is still so much work to be done, and I am looking forward to continuing this journey under your mentorship.

LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
KEY TO ABBERVIATIONS	x
	1
BACKGROUND	4
Self-management and Transitions of Care	4
Self-efficacy and Stroke	6
Patient Activation	9
Patient Activation and Stroke	15
Relationships between Patient Activation and Self-Efficacy	16
Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM) in PAM Construct Validity Studies	16
Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM) in Interventional and Observational Studies	; 18
Summary	24
Aims and Hypotheses	24
METHODS	28
Study Overview	28
Study Design	28
Study Setting and Time Frame	29
Participants	29
Treatment Group Allocation and MISTT Interventions	32
In-hospital Data Collection	33
Outcomes Data Collection	33
Thesis Data Sources and Outcome	35
Patient Characteristics	37
Outcome Measures	40
Analytical and Statistical Approaches	43
RESULTS	48
Descriptive Data for the Patient Activation Measure (PAM)	51
Descriptive Data for PROMIS Self-Efficacy Measures	51
AIM 1: Correlations between Patient Activation Measure (PAM) and PROMIS Self-efficacy Meas	sures
Aim 2: Dationt Eactors Accoriated with the Dationt Activation Measure (DAM)	33
Aim 2. Patient Factors Associated with Solf officacy	دد مع
Solf Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT)	60
Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA)	+0 רא
Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME)	07
Self Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMCI)	0 / כד
Aim A: Associations between Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation (DAM): Evaluation of	73
Confounding and Effect Moderation	77
	//

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Confounding	78
Moderation	85
DISCUSSION	
Patient Activation	
PROMIS Self-Efficacy Domains	
Associations between PROMIS Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation	
Aim 1: Correlation between PROMIS Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation	
Aim 2: Factors Associated with Patient Activation	90
Aim 3: Factors Associated with PROMIS Self-Efficacy	92
Aim 4: The Relationship between PROMIS Self-Efficacy domains and Patient Activation	
Clinical Implications	
Strengths and Limitations	
Future Directions	
Conclusions	
APPENDICES	
APPENDIX A: PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities, Item Bank	
APPENDIX B: Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions, Item Bank	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. 1: Description of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) levels
Table 1. 2: Correlations between Self-Efficacy measures and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) instudies testing PAM construct validity (n=6 studies)
Table 1. 3: Intervention and Observational studies assessing the association between Self-Efficacy andthe Patient Activation Measure (PAM) (n=9 studies)21
Table 2. 1: Study Patient Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria 30
Table 2. 2: MISTT Outcome Measures utilized in a cross-sectional, secondary analysis of self-efficacy and patient activation
Table 2. 3: PROMIS Support short forms ^a
Table 2. 4: Patient Activation Measure ^a 41
Table 2. 5: Self-efficacy concepts addressed in each of four self-efficacy outcome measures from thePROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain
Table 2. 6: PROMIS Self-Efficacy custom short forms and examples from CAT item banks ^a
Table 3. 1: Patient sociodemographic, psychosocial, and health characteristics by mean PAM score for180 acute stroke survivors49
Table 3. 2: Mean T-scores of four PROMIS self-efficacy for managing chronic conditions measures among180 stroke patients52
Table 3. 3: Pearson Correlations of Self-Efficacy with PAM score and PAM full and restricted raw sums ^{a,b}
Table 3. 4: Bivariate associations between sociodemographic, support, disease, general health, andMISTT study domain factors and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) score
Table 3. 5: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with the Patient ActivationMeasure (PAM)58
Table 3. 6: Bivariate associations between sociodemographic, support, disease, general health, andMISTT study domain factors and the T-scores of four PROMIS Self-Efficacy measures
Table 3. 7: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMISSelf-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT)65
Table 3. 8: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMISSelf-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA)68

Table 3. 9: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMISSelf-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME)
Table 3. 10: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMSI) 74
Table 3. 11: Summary of the independent variables significantly associated with each outcome in the final Aim 2 and Aim 3 multivariable linear regression models 77
Table 3. 12: Bivariate associations between Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation (PAM) 78
Table 3. 13: Self-Efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis 81
Table 3. 14: Self-Efficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis
Table 3. 15: Self-Efficacy for managing emotions (SEME) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis 83
Table 3. 16: Self-Efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis
Table 3. 17: Moderation analysis of Self-Efficacy and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) – Interaction effects of four self-efficacy measures with age, education, post-stroke disability, and perceived emotional support

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2. 1: MISTT Patient Participant Flow Diagram
Figure 2. 2: MISTT study timeline
Figure 2. 3: Model building strategy for determining parsimonious multivariable models for Patient Activation Measure (PAM) and four Self-Efficacy outcomes45
Figure 2. 4: Model building strategy for identifying factors that confound the association between Self- Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM)46
Figure 2. 5: Model building strategy to test factors for effect modification (interaction) of the association between Self-Efficacy and PAM
Figure 3. 1: Distribution of PAM scores51
Figure 3. 2: Distribution of PROMIS Self-efficacy T-scores – A. PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT); B. PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA); C PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME); D. Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMSI)

KEY TO ABBERVIATIONS

CAT = Computer Adaptive Testing

- GCS = Glasgow Coma Scale
- MISTT = Michigan Stroke Transitions Trial
- NeuroQOL = Neurologic Quality-of-Life measurement system
- NIHSS = National Institute for Health Stroke Scale
- PAM = Patient Activation Measure
- PHQ-9 = Patient Health Questionnaire, 9-item
- PROMIS = Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System
- QOL = quality-of-life
- RCT = Randomized Clinical Trial
- SEMMT = Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments
- SEMDA = Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities
- SEME = Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions
- SEMSI = Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions
- s-mRS = Simplified Modified Rankin Scale

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is the second leading cause of disability worldwide, leaving survivors to manage complex care conditions in the face of physical, mental health, and social challenges. In the United States, stroke is the fifth leading cause of mortality and the leading cause of adult-onset disability.¹ Approximately 795,000 strokes occur annually in the United States, with nearly 75% of these being first-time (incident) strokes.¹ The majority of stroke survivors return to their pre-stroke communities, but many struggle with social and community reintegration.^{2,3} Given the increase in years lived-with-disability among stroke survivors and the increasing stroke rates among adults <55 years old,¹ stroke survivorship will continue to significantly impact survivors' and caregivers' quality-of-life (QOL), communities, and healthcare systems.

Transitional care focuses on continuity of care and preventing poor outcomes for vulnerable, chronically ill patients moving from one level of care to another (i.e. from hospital to home).⁴ During the transition period, some stroke survivors experience multiple transitions between care settings,⁵ persistent functional decline, persistent unmet educational needs,⁶ poor access to rehabilitation care,⁷ and negative social consequences.⁸⁻¹¹ Successful stroke transitions are challenging because they require coordinated care across healthcare systems, community services, and informal caregivers (i.e. family) to manage a wide variety of treatments, lifestyle changes, and other ongoing needs. Core components that contribute to successful care transitions include patient and caregiver engagement, education, wellbeing, complexity and medication management, care continuity, and accountability.¹² Unfortunately, current systems of care lack good, quality coordination and communication among providers, community services, and patients. Thus, the success of post-stroke transitions rely heavily on the survivor's ability to manage their own care and advocate for themselves. This responsibility can be daunting, especially in the face of post-stroke deficits and uncertainty over how to navigate their health care through an unknown recovery trajectory.

Interventions to improve transitional care have included providing case management across service settings, discharge planning, shared access to information, self-management tools, and creating care pathways to better organize care.¹³ Self-management is defined as taking responsibility for one's behavior and well-being to achieve a desired level of quality-of-life.¹⁴ By encouraging patients to take an active role in their health, self-management is a key element in successfully managing chronic disease, achieving improved health outcomes, and promoting positive quality of life.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ As such, it is a common element embraced in transitional care programs. Despite recent efforts to improve stroke transitions,¹⁸⁻²⁰ heterogeneous interventions targeting and measuring a wide range of self-management constructs have resulted in inconsistent or modest treatment effects thus leaving much uncertainty about optimal evidence-based transitional care recommendations.

This thesis begins to address some of the current research gaps in stroke transitional care through a secondary analysis of the Michigan Stroke Transitions Trial (MISTT) data. MISTT is a randomized clinical trial (RCT) that aimed to improve quality-of-life (QOL) and patient activation during the in-home transitional care period by supporting stroke survivors with a social worker-led case management program and an online informational resource.²¹ The goals of this analysis involved understanding indicators of self-management in stroke survivors, specifically, the association among four self-efficacy measures and patient activation in an acute stroke population, as well as factors that may confound or moderate these relationships.

The following background section will provide information about self-efficacy and patient activation, the primary outcomes of interest for this thesis, followed by the specific aims and hypotheses. These measures will be discussed in the context of self-management strategies for improving disease management and ultimately health outcomes, which are also general goals in achieving successful transitions of care. Keywords used to search the literature include self-efficacy, patient activation, self-management, transitions-of-care / transitional care, care management, case management, and stroke.

References from systematic reviews and empirical articles were also used to target related work and to help supplement the literature search. When available, stroke-related literature will be discussed, but literature from other populations is presented where stroke evidence is limited.

BACKGROUND

Self-management and Transitions of Care

Self-management is a key element for successfully managing chronic disease, achieving improved health outcomes, and promoting quality of life. It extends beyond physical health to address maintaining wellness through medical, behavioral, emotional, and social role management.^{14,16,22} Self-management incorporates a range of cognitive-behavioral constructs such as patient activation, self-efficacy, locus of control, motivation, empowerment, and readiness to change.²³ Interventions designed to influence components of self-management often target problem-solving, decision-making, resource utilization, collaboration with providers, and taking action.¹⁶ Much of the initial self-management work was done by Lorig and colleagues through a series of studies using Arthritis patients. This work led to the development of the Stanford Chronic Disease Self-Management program which aimed to improve selfmanagement for individuals with multiple chronic conditions^{24,25} and has been applied to many populations. Case management interventions often incorporate self-management strategies, which are applied across the spectrum of health care including acute settings, rehabilitation facilities, home-health care, and ambulatory practices. Many interventions targeted toward improving transitions of care incorporate case management strategies focused on facilitating services, improving communication, and improving self-management to equip patients to advocate for themselves.¹² As such, transitions of care, case management, and self-management overlap in their use of self-efficacy and patient activation concepts and measures. Despite recent efforts to improve disease management and transitions of care for a range of chronic disease conditions, heterogeneous interventions targeting and measuring a wide range of self-management constructs have resulted in inconsistent, transient, or modest effects.^{14,26-28} Evidence regarding stroke self-management interventions is still emerging, and stroke brings its own unique challenges.^{18,29} Stroke surfaces as an acute health crisis but transitions into a chronic condition

that requires action to prevent stroke recurrence and ameliorate stroke-related physical and mental

impairments. Stroke survivors often have concurrent chronic conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiac disease, atrial fibrillation, and pre-existing cognitive and physical limitations. As such, self-management among stroke patients is particularly complex and multidimensional with its scope extending beyond traditional physical rehabilitation goals.^{15,30}

Self-efficacy and patient activation are two critical constructs that influence chronic disease selfmanagement. Self-efficacy is a socio-cognitive construct³¹ defined as "...the belief that one can carry out a behavior necessary to reach a desired goal, even when a situation contains unpredictable and stressful elements;"³² it is a measure of confidence. Patient activation is a broader concept than self-efficacy but includes self-efficacy (i.e., confidence) as an important dimension of its overall construct.³³ In addition to confidence, patient activation considers an individual's knowledge and skill related to managing their general health and health care.²³

Because self-efficacy is largely task or behavior specific,³¹ various self-efficacy measures have been used across studies, making direct between-study comparisons difficult. Some studies evaluate the direct relationship between self-efficacy and patient activation,³⁴⁻⁴⁷ but many of these only look at simple correlations between the two constructs.³⁴⁻⁴⁰ Largely, however, the two constructs are analyzed separately⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ and many studies assess only one or the other. Thus, there remains a gap in understanding what factors influence the association between self-efficacy and patient activation. Among acute stroke populations, data are even more limited. Clarity around the relationship between self-efficacy and patient activation can offer insight into potential causal mechanisms and pathways between the two, which may help refine stroke self-management interventions as well as inform selection of measures as assessment tools or outcomes in both the clinical and research settings. This thesis aims to understand the correlations between self-efficacy (defined by four measures from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain) and the Patient Activation Measure

(PAM), determine what factors are associated with each measure, and to identify confounding and moderating factors of the self-efficacy and PAM relationship.

Self-efficacy and Stroke

Self-efficacy is an important, foundational construct contributing to successful disease management, health outcomes, and healthy behaviors.⁵¹⁻⁵⁵ The construct emerged in the late 1970's from Bandura's Social Learning Theory.³¹ Self-efficacy has been a popular research topic within many chronic diseases and stroke. This section will discuss self-efficacy instruments specific to stroke as well as scales originally intended for other conditions that have been applied to stroke populations. Select studies are provided as detailed examples of how self-efficacy concepts have been applied to or measured within stroke; studies were chosen based on their relevance to self-management and transitions of care.

Self-efficacy plays an important role in determining outcomes, and Lorig's work with the Chronic Disease Self-Management program provided empirical evidence that self-efficacy mediates self-management outcomes.²⁴ Due to self-efficacy's role in self-management,¹⁶ it has not only been a popular target for interventions, but has also been utilized as a study outcome and independent covariate. In a 2006 review, Jones⁵¹ reported that studies of chronic disease self-management containing interventions that either targeted self-efficacy or designated self-efficacy as the primary outcome were limited in stroke but much more common for arthritis, diabetes, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). A follow-up review in 2011¹⁵ identified 18 studies of self-efficacy and post-stroke rehabilitation outcomes, summarizing that self-efficacy is associated with better post-stroke QOL, perceived health status, activities of daily living, physical function (to some extent), and less depression. The evidence for stroke self-management interventions was limited to four studies that provided some support for strokespecific self-management. Overall, the authors suggest self-efficacy as an important factor in determining post-stroke outcomes, but determined additional research is needed to determine optimal content and delivery for stoke-specific self-management interventions.

Many self-efficacy scales exist, often targeted toward measuring behaviors or tasks within a specific domain (e.g., getting into bed, walking outside, cooking, knowing when and how to take medications, etc.). Self-efficacy measured in one domain does not imply the same level of confidence for another conceptually distinct domain.⁵⁶ Some scales have been developed specifically for stroke while others were originally intended for different conditions but have been applied to stroke with varying levels of testing for validity and reliability. Among stroke survivors, instruments to measure self-efficacy for falls and balance have been developed, largely to serve the needs of stroke rehabilitation research.¹⁵ Two additional scales provide a more general measure of stroke-specific self-efficacy. The Stroke Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (SSEQ, developed by Jones, Partridge, and Reid) includes two subscales related to post-stroke activity function and self-management,^{56,57} while the Daily Self-Efficacy Scale (DLSES, developed by Maujean et. al.) focuses on self-efficacy related to post-stroke activities of daily living and psychosocial functioning.⁵⁸

Examples of self-efficacy measures that were developed for non-stroke populations but have been applied to stroke include self-efficacy scales for exercise,⁵⁹ memory,⁶⁰ self-care, and ⁶¹ recovery.⁶² To the author's knowledge, only the Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale underwent psychometric testing for validity in stroke patients.⁵⁹

The Generalized Self-Efficacy (GSE) scale (created by Schwarzer and Jerusalem),⁶³ the Stanford Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Disease (SSE) (created by Ritter and Lorig),²⁴ and the Perceived Health Competence Scale (created by M Smith, Walltson, and C Smith)^{64,65} were developed to address broader concepts of self-efficacy that could be applied to various conditions and populations. These have been used in stroke studies but have not undergone psychometric or validity/reliability testing for stroke.

To facilitate comparisons across different conditions and populations, the PROMIS (Patient Reported Outcomes Information System) and NeuroQOL (Neurologic Quality-of-Life) measurement systems were

created. They contain a wide-range of domain-specific measures that can be applied to any health condition or population.⁶⁶ Recently, Gruber-Baldini et al.³² validated five PROMIS measures in the domain of Self-efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions: self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments, self-efficacy for managing daily activities, self-efficacy for managing emotions, self-efficacy for managing social interactions, and self-efficacy for managing symptoms. Their work involved 150 people with general medical conditions as well as a large population (n=837) with chronic neurologic conditions including epilepsy (n=171), multiple sclerosis (n=166), neuropathy (n=163), Parkinson's disease (n=170), and stroke (n=167). Among the four self-efficacy scales used in the MISTT study (self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments, daily activities, emotions, and social interactions),²¹ Gruber-Baldini found that higher self-efficacy was associated with patient characteristics of being female, white, employed, higher annual income (>\$60,000), and having fewer comorbidities.³² Overall, these measures had good internal consistency and good cross-sectional validity; however, no published data yet exists for these new instruments outside the initial validation work.

Strategies for improving stroke-related self-management skills have been tested in a limited number of stroke survivors approximately 1-12 months post-stroke. The largest studies enrolled 210⁶⁷ and 203⁶² survivors in randomized controlled trials, whereas, two of the feasibility studies were very small and only included 25⁶⁸ and 10⁶⁹ stroke survivors. Although all of these interventions were grounded in theories related to self-efficacy, they ranged in their delivery methods from including workbooks^{68,69} to group^{67,70} or individual sessions. Typically multi-domain self-efficacy outcome measures were used, but measures varied across studies and included some non-validated measures, such as the Stroke Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (SSEQ),^{68,69,71} Stanford Self-Efficacy for illness management.⁶⁷ Additionally, a variety of other outcomes were measured, including but not limited to quality-of-life, social integration, physical function, self-care, and work productivity. Overall, this small exemplar of studies provide some evidence

that self-management interventions have a positive, short-term effect on self-efficacy in stroke patients, however, the long-term impact remains uncertain. Likewise, questions remain about self-efficacy's role as a mediator between interventions and various post-stroke outcomes.

In summary, these studies show that self-efficacy is an important aspect of stroke self-management, however, clarity is still needed on optimal intervention components, delivery methods, timing of initiation, and duration. The literature for stroke self-management interventions and self-efficacy outcomes is still limited and difficult to compare due to its heterogeneity.

Patient Activation

Patient activation is another central concept in behavior-changing interventions and has served as a primary and independent outcome for self-management intervention studies. One systematic review summarized²⁶ "patient activating interventions" (i.e. interventions designed to increase activation) into nine core strategies involving problem-solving, audit and feedback, individualized care plans, peer support/family, lay health advisor/community health worker, psychological counseling, theory-based counseling, and skill building. These strategies heavily overlap with core self-management goals and strategies which have also been identified as core transitional care components.¹² Additionally, many of these strategies are also used to increase self-efficacy.

Patient activation, a relatively new construct formally introduced by Hibbard in 2004, brings together established socio-cognitive behavioral theories to explain changes in health behaviors and selfmanagement. These established theories, including health locus of control, empowerment, selfefficacy, and readiness to change, were often studied in isolation in the context of understanding single behaviors. Alternatively, Hibbard combined concepts to define patient activation as an individual's knowledge, skill, and confidence for managing their general health and health care.²³ Thus, patient activation is a broader construct than any of the previous theories and includes self-efficacy as one of

three important dimensions of activation.³³ To measure this global concept of activation, Hibbard developed the self-reported Patient Activation Measure (PAM) using a national expert consensus panel, patient focus groups, and pilot testing.²³ During the development phase PAM was tested among a nationally representative sample of US adults where 21% reported having one chronic condition and 58% reported having two or more chronic conditions. The original 22-item measure²³ was reduced to 13-items and validated within the same population.⁷² Of these 13 items, six directly ask about the respondent's confidence for completing certain tasks (i.e. seeking medical care, communicating with providers, problem solving new health situations, etc.), suggesting a direct reference to self-efficacy. Despite these confidence-related questions, PAM has been shown to be a unidimensional measure and does not contain separate subscales for confidence, skills, or knowledge. Additionally, the developers did not identify individual items as addressing any of the three specific underlying constructs.

Patient activation is a construct in which individuals move successively and progressively through distinct activation stages that reflect increasing and improved capacity around knowledge, skill, confidence, and action.²³ Responses from the 13 PAM questions are transformed into a continuous score ranging between 0-100 with higher scores indicating higher levels of activation. Although continuous scores are recommended for tracking individual change, scores can also be categorized into four levels that describe the patient's activation stage, thus operationalizing the continuous score along the continuum of activation. The levels are assigned by a proprietary algorithm from Insignia Health, but Table 1.1 provides an example of cut-off values. PAM levels are useful for informing optimal delivery of personalized health care by allowing for targeted strategies and interventions that appropriately support the patient's particular activation stage (Table 1.1).

Fortunately, improved PAM scores have been achieved within all four activation levels (although the magnitude of change may not be as large for those within the two highest PAM levels), showing that even highly activated individuals are responsive to improvement^{73,74} and should not be disregarded.

Changes of 5-points or more have been suggested as clinically meaningful changes, however, to the author's knowledge robust analyses to define minimally important differences have not been established.⁷⁵ Additionally, one randomized control trial among 479 chronic diseased individuals found mean latent activation growth trajectories over a six-month time period as being stable or increasing activation levels, independent of intervention effects.²⁷ The "increasing" class had higher baseline activation and was associated with greater increases in 14 of 18 health behaviors over a 6-month period. Although the stable class showed activation increases from baseline to 3-months, they also experienced significant decreases from 3-months to 6-months. However, more work is needed to identify group characteristics associated with trajectories of overall decreasing activation trajectories. Identifying patient characteristics for these different trajectories may help further inform care strategies and tailored interventions and may help explain ineffective interventions.⁷⁶

Table 1. 1: Description of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) levels					
PAM Level	Activation capacity	Examples of tailored strategies for			
(score range) ⁷⁷		a Diabetes Coaching intervention ⁷⁸			
Level 1	Individuals are unaware of their role in their	Build self-awareness and			
(<u><</u> 47)	own health and lack personal resources to	understanding of behavior patterns			
	engage				
Level 2	Individuals have some knowledge but	Make small changes in existing			
(47.1-55.1)	struggle to engage and are only able to set	behaviors (i.e. reduce meal			
	simple goals	portions, take the stairs at work,			
		read nutrition labels)			
Level 3	Individuals understand improved health	Adopt new skills (i.e. add exercise			
(55.2-67.0)	requires self-management and are engaged in	routine) and develop problem-			
	goal-setting and building self-management	solving skills			
	skills				
Level 4	Individuals advocate for themselves and have	Relapse prevention and skills to			
(<u>></u> 67.1)	adopted new behaviors but may struggle to	handle new or challenging			
	maintain these changes in times of stress or	situations			
	change				

PAM has been validated in both chronically ill and healthy individuals.^{23,74,79} PAM scores/levels can

change (increase and/or decrease) over time^{27,73,80} and circumstances regardless of the baseline level.

As reported in summaries by Hibbard, PAM has been used in for a variety of functions, including as a measure of individual patient progress, quality performance, research outcome, and intervention assessment tool.^{33,78} Recently, PAM has even been shown as a strong predictor of future healthcare utilization and outcomes.^{81,82} In addition to its use as an outcome measure, PAM has been recommended as an assessment tool to risk-stratify persons for appropriate levels of care by informing individualized care plans and aiding development of tailored interventions.^{33,78,83} Favorable outcomes such as improved diastolic blood pressure, LDL cholesterol levels, compliance with immunization and drug recommendations, and decreased hospitalizations and emergency department visits have been achieved in chronic disease populations when intervention content, delivery methods, and intensity were tailored to the patient's baseline PAM level,⁷⁸ often while simultaneously considering disease severity and burden. Healthcare systems may benefit through this strategy by allocating highly skilled, specialized personnel or resources to those patients with lower PAM levels needing greater assistance while utilizing less specialized personnel and more independent strategies for those with higher levels of activation. Likewise, provider capacity for delivering effective patient-centered care can be measured by capturing longitudinal changes in PAM. Several clinical guidelines directly endorse the importance of activating patients to participate in management of chronic conditions, including lower back pain,⁸⁴ atrial fibrillation,⁸⁵ and diabetes.^{86,87} In other conditions (i.e., asthma), guidelines have not directly addressed patient activation but do discuss the role of self-management, which implies a role for an active and engaged patient.

Despite the large quantity of patient activation literature, meta-analyses focused on patient activation are rare (n=1),²⁶ and reviews often conclude that studies are heterogeneous in populations, study designs, the application of patient activation, and outcome measures. A meta-analysis of 138 diabetesrelated studies explored the effect of patient activating interventions, defined as an intervention targeted to increase patient motivation, confidence, or skills in disease self-management, on type-2

diabetes outcomes (e.g., A1c, blood pressure, cholesterol).²⁶ The authors found small treatment effects on a range of clinical outcomes, but quality of the evidence was low. They reported that interventions were poorly described and results were difficult to combine due to inconsistent outcomes reporting or measure variability.

Higher activation, as indicated by higher PAM scores or levels, has been associated with a multitude of improved health outcomes, disease-specific self-management behaviors, improved QOL, lower healthcare utilization, and healthy lifestyle behaviors such as exercise, nutrition, and non-smoking as reported in numerous studies and summaries.^{26,27,33,72,74,77,79,88} Randomized trials have explored both patient activating interventions²⁶ and patient activation as an outcome across diverse populations, including chronic illness (diabetes, COPD, celiac disease, heart failure, obesity, hypertension, etc.), cochlear implant patients, mental health and illness, bone density screening patients, employees, older adults, and adolescents. Similar to previous summaries, patient activation trials were heterogeneous in target populations, conditions, and intervention core elements and intensity. Most trials designed with PAM as an outcome tested interventions involving self-management programs or tools/strategies to facilitate self-management skills or actions.^{39,50,89-109} Results of treatment effect on patient activation are mixed, and almost twice the number of studies lacked evidence of a significant treatment effect^{39,89,94-99,101-105,108,109} rather than provided evidence^{90-93,100,101,106,107} of a significant treatment effect associated with PAM. In many studies, sample sizes were limited (<100 participants), which highlights the exploratory nature of this work. Of the six trials that had samples sizes great than 100, only two showed positive treatment effect on PAM.^{100,106} Post-hoc evidence suggests that interventions were effective in participants with lower baseline PAM levels, particularly when the intervention was tailored to the patient's activation level.^{94,99}

PAM has also been included in secondary analyses of RCTs, where associations of treatment group, outcomes, and patient characteristics have been explored in relation to baseline PAM and delta PAM

(i.e., change in PAM scores/levels).^{39,74-76,109} Three studies^{39,74,109} demonstrated that delta PAM was not associated with or different by treatment group, thus additional analyses were conducted using a cohort approach. Lack of association with treatment group provides evidence that patient activation was not a significant mediating variable between the relationship of the trials' intervention and outcomes. Generally, higher baseline PAM scores/levels were associated with better outcomes for cross-sectional and longitudinal change, and lower baseline PAM was associated with larger increases in patient activation over time. Although results from these secondary analyses help advance the understanding of patient activation, they remain exploratory and should be confirmed by testing a-priori hypotheses in future studies.

Many studies have explored patient factors association with PAM. Evidence from observational and controlled trials shows that greater activation is often associated with higher education and income, however, PAM predicts outcomes better than sociodemographic factors.^{35,72,79} Across studies, inconsistent relationships exist for age, gender, comorbidities, and perceived health status.^{73,74,110-112} Disease severity and depression, both important stroke-related considerations, have been negatively associated with PAM.^{111,112} Depression has consistently been associated with lower activation, which in turn affects the ability to endorse health behaviors.^{27,111} In a neurological sample (excluding stroke) higher PAM scores were correlated with better physical and mental health status and lifestyle indexes that account for diet, alcohol consumption, smoking, physical activity, and stress level.⁷⁹ Across studies, better quality-of-life has been positively associated with activation,^{27,79} although the direction of causality is still uncertain. Due to the lack of stroke-related studies, predictive characteristics for PAM still need to be explored within stroke survivors.

Given the complexity around understanding causality of patient activation with various health, mental health, and psychosocial patient factors, there is a wide range of methodologies and applications of patient activation and PAM that contribute to much heterogeneity across studies and results.

Unfortunately, this heterogeneity creates challenges for comparing study results and combining data for meta-analyses. In addition, the patient activation literature is challenging because patient activation is often an underlying component of self-management or case management interventions, however, literature around these topics may or may not directly address or assess patient activation.

Patient Activation and Stroke

Most of the previous patient activation work with PAM has been performed in chronic disease populations such as diabetes, COPD, cardiac disease, cancer, depression, and asthma, with some work among healthy individuals. Despite PAM's success in measuring patient activation within chronic disease populations, its utility for acute and chronic stroke is less understood with limited evidence.^{50,113} To the author's knowledge, only two stroke-related studies have utilized PAM in the context of selfmanagement or transitions of care.^{50,113} Both studies were very small, exploratory studies with a maximum of only 20 stroke participants, which limits the generalizability and reliability of their results.

Kidd et al.¹¹³ found 17 of 20 stroke survivors (within 6-months post-stroke) reported level 4 PAM scores, indicating that they were highly activated individuals. Those who scored lower than PAM level 4 also reported physical stroke-related deficits. Qualitative focus groups highlighted that even highly activated stroke survivors (PAM level 4) experience unmet needs that aren't necessarily reflected by their PAM scores. These findings suggest that more information is needed about using PAM as a post-stroke assessment tool to determine level of care, particularly for community-based transitional care interventions.

In the other small pilot feasibility study, Kersten et. al.⁵⁰ used mixed methods to explore the feasibility of implementing a goal-setting rehabilitation intervention among individuals with stroke or multiple sclerosis >6-months following their diagnosis. Participants in the intervention group had significantly higher PAM and self-efficacy scores (measured by the General Self-Efficacy scale and Stanford Self-

Efficacy scale) at 6- and 12-weeks after the first intervention session. However, the sample size was severely limited (n=10 stroke, n=10 multiple sclerosis) and no between- or within-group comparisons were made, thus limiting the reliability of the results.

In summary, PAM has been found to be a useful tool in addressing chronic disease self-management and health behaviors with its ability to measure a single construct that encompasses self-efficacy, readiness to change, and empowerment. However, more work is needed to understand the utility of PAM in stroke survivors across the changing landscape of acute and long-term recovery and transitional care.

Relationships between Patient Activation and Self-Efficacy

Despite the fact that self-efficacy is reflected in the conceptualization of patient activation, studies that directly measure the association between these two constructs are uncommon. A literature search including the search terms "self-efficacy" AND "patient activation measure" returned 42 results where only 25 studies actually collected data on both self-efficacy and PAM measures. Furthermore, only 15 of these 25 analyzed the association between self-efficacy and PAM. Studies that did analyze the association between self-efficacy and PAM did so in the context of testing the convergent construct validity of PAM and the measure's psychometrics among new populations (Table 1.2) or in intervention or observational studies (Table 1.3).

Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM) in PAM Construct Validity Studies

Interestingly, although confidence (i.e. self-efficacy) is an important concept within patient activation, Hibbard's original construct validity testing of PAM did not address self-efficacy. Instead, health measures (8-item Short Form Health Survey [SF-8]), utilization rates (office visits, emergency visits, and hospitalizations), general preventative behaviors, (i.e., health lifestyle behaviors), disease-specific selfmanagement behaviors, and consumeristic behaviors (seeking health information, being persistent with providers, using performance scores to inform health decisions) were addressed in the PAM

development testing.^{23,72} In subsequent studies, correlations between PAM and self-efficacy measures have been generated for evaluating the convergent construct validity of PAM, particularly when the measure was applied to different populations and translated to additional languages.^{34-38,40} Convergent construct validity tests whether two measures that have related underlying theoretic concepts correlate in the hypothesized direction as an indication of how strongly the measures themselves are related.¹¹⁴ Among six PAM validation studies, Pearson correlation coefficients describing significant (p<0.05), positive associations between PAM and various self-efficacy scales ranged from r=0.21 to 0.65 (Table 1.2). Studies that involved chronic disease populations produced generally weaker coefficients^{36,37,40} compared to those that didn't target a chronic disease population.^{34,35,38} These results contribute evidence to support self-efficacy as an underlying concept of the unidimensional activation construct of PAM across different populations. Studies that used the General Self-efficacy Instrument (GSE) suggest that the strength of association may vary slightly by population, i.e., correlations range from r=21 to r=47.

To date, no validation or psychometric testing of PAM has been conducted among stroke survivors, and none of the previous construct validity studies have utilized the PROMIS domains of Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions. This thesis aimed to contribute to this gap of understanding by exploring the construct validity of PAM's self-efficacy dimension among a population of acute stroke survivors using four measures from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain.

Table 1. 2: Correlations between Self-Efficacy measures and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) in						
studies testing PAM construct validity (n=6 studies)						
Author,	Self-Efficacy	Measure description	Study Population	Correlation		
уса	wiedsule			with PAM		
				p-value		
Brenk-	General Self-	General perceptions	German translation	r=0.43		
Franz ³⁴	Efficacy (GSE)	of self-efficacy or	among primary care			
2013	scale	optimistic belief in	patients, n=508			
Magnezi ³⁵		oneself utilizing the	Hebrew translation	r=0.47		
2014		Perceived Self-Efficacy	among a nationally			
		construct,	representative Israeli			
	-	unidimensional	sample, n=203			
Moreno-			European-Spanish	r=0.21		
Chico ³⁰			translation among chronic			
2017			disease population from a			
			large primary care center,			
			n=208	0.00		
Ngooi ³⁷	Stanford Self-	Multidimensional	Singapore population of	r=0.39		
2017	Efficacy for	scale measuring	outpatient individuals			
	Nanaging Chronic	confidence in self-	with cardiac conditions			
	Disease (SSE) scale	management	recruited cardiac clinics,			
		discasso, and ashiovo	1=270			
		outcomes				
Skolasky ³⁸	Self-efficacy to	This instrument was	Patients undergoing	r=0.65		
2009	narticinate in	customized from the	elective lumbar spine	1-0.05		
2005	physical therapy	Arthritis Self-efficacy	surgery for degenerative			
		scale	disease at an academic			
			specialty hospital in the			
			United States, n=283			
Stepleman ⁴⁰	Multiple Sclerosis	Two subscales	Progressive and relapsing	r=0.50		
2010	Self-Efficacy scale	assessing confidence	Multiple Sclerosis patients			
	(MSSE)	in achieving specific	recruited from a United	function:		
		functions and	States academic specialty	r=0.41		
		controlling aspects of	center during routine	control:		
		multiple sclerosis	visits, n=199	r=0.49		

<u>Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM) in Interventional and Observational Studies</u>

Patient activation and self-efficacy theories are often discussed within the context of both interventional

and observational studies, but few have collected both self-efficacy and PAM measures together, and

even fewer have studied the direct association of these measures. Only 9 of the 15 studies identified as assessing the association between PAM and self-efficacy measures did so in the context of an interventional or observational study (Table 1.3). This leaves an obvious gap in understanding the magnitude of how activation and self-efficacy relate to one another and what factors affect their contribution to health-related outcomes.

Table 1.3 includes a summary of interventional and observational studies that explore associations between self-efficacy and PAM. These studies are heterogeneous in designs, populations, and outcomes, including two secondary analyses of data from randomized clinical trials, a quasiexperimental design, and six observational studies. Some studies used self-efficacy and PAM measures as primary or secondary outcomes, others as independent variables, or to explore mediation or effect modification. Mean age of participants ranged from 46 to 70 years except for one study conducted among women of childbearing age where the mean age was 28 years.

In a sub-set of studies, self-efficacy and PAM had consistent moderate to strong associations in both bivariate and multivariable analyses (Table 1.3).^{39,41-47,108} These studies involved different populations, and the PAM associations were established with both general and domain-specific self-efficacy measures (i.e., pain, depression self-care, preventing pregnancy, etc.). Within studies that evaluated change, both self-efficacy and patient activation increased longitudinally, however, two studies evaluating intervention effects associated with patient activation and self-efficacy produced mixed results of the intervention effect on self-efficacy and PAM.^{41,44}

Two studies explored mediation or moderation effects of self-efficacy and patient activation. Evidence suggests that patient activation mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and self-management behaviors among heart failure patients.⁴⁴ Furthermore, the same study showed that patient activation mediated the association between self-efficacy and self-care behaviors but only at low levels of self-

management knowledge. Similarly, another study found that, among surgical patients with degenerative lumbar disease, patient activation may mediate or confound the association between self-efficacy and physical therapy attendance.⁴² Interestingly, there was no evidence that patient activation affected the association between self-efficacy and the patient's level of engaging in rehabilitation activities (as measured by the Hopkins Rehabilitation Engagement Rating Scale).

In summary, there is clear and consistent evidence of positive associations between various self-efficacy measures and patient activation. However, it is also clear there is great complexity in how self-efficacy, patient activation, interventions, and various outcomes are related and impact one another across different populations. Longitudinal studies are still needed to help clarify the temporal relationships between self-efficacy and patient activation and to understand how they are related to different outcomes. Despite the ambiguity of how self-efficacy and patient activation interact with one another to affect outcomes, the consistent positive association between these two constructs gives evidence that clearly one affects the other and intervening on both can create a positive effect.

Table 1. 3: Intervention and Observational studies assessing the association between Self-Efficacy and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) (n=9 studies)					
Author, year	PAM use	Self-Efficacy measure and use	Study Population	Study Design and Objective	Results assessing the relationship between PAM & Self-Efficacy
Ackermans ⁴¹ 2018	Primary outcome	Pain Self- Efficacy Questionnaire: independent variable	Patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis, n=142	Quasi-experimental study testing an intervention of incorporating feedback from patient-reported outcome measures (PROM) into treatment-option consultations	Pain Self-efficacy was correlated with PAM: r=0.40, p<0.001 Pain self-efficacy was associated with PAM in an adjusted multiple
Maccushian ³⁹	Deimenne		Deine ann anns		regression (β=0.023, p=0.001)
McCusker ³⁹ 2016	Primary outcome, and Independent variable	Self-efficacy for depression self- care: Primary outcome, and independent factor	Primary care patients with ≥1 chronic condition and depressive symptoms, n=223	Secondary analysis of RCT testing the effect of coaching and a Toolkit to improve depression self-care	Self-Efficacy for depression self-care was correlated with PAM: r=0.51 at baseline (n=215) and r=0.67 at 6-mo (n-158)
Skolasky ⁴² 2008	Independent variable	Self-Efficacy to participate in physical therapy: covariate	Surgical degenerative lumbar spinal patients from an academic center, n=65	Prospective cohort to assess role of activation for physical therapy adherence	Increasing self-efficacy was associated with increasing PAM quartiles (ANOVA p<0.001)

Table 1. 3 (cont'	d)				
Young ⁴⁴	Mediating	Self-care	Rural heart	Secondary analysis of RCT testing	PAM and self-efficacy were
2017	factor	confidence scale	failure	the feasibility of a 12-week in-	correlated 3-mo post-intervention
		(Subscale C	patients,	home intervention for improving	(r=0.71, p<0.001) and were
		from the Self-	n=100	self-management behaviors	significantly associated (β =0.75,
		care of Heart			p<0.001).
		Failure Index,			
		SCHFI):			PAM mediated the effect of self-
		Independent			efficacy on self-management
		factor			behaviors in patients with low self-
					management knowledge
Masterson	Primary	Kansas City	Hospitalized	Prospective, cross-sectional study	Mean self-efficacy was higher for
Creber ⁴³	outcome	Cardiomyopathy	heart failure	to determine if PAM was	those with higher PAM levels (3&4)
2017		Questionnaire,	patients,	associated with patient-reported	vs lower PAM levels (1&2): SE mean
		self-efficacy	n=96	outcomes	70.6 vs 82.9, t-test p=0.012)
		sub-scale:			
		Independent			Self-efficacy trended toward a
		variable			significant association with PAM in
					adjusted multivariable regression
					(β=9.2, p=0.052)
Bello ⁴⁵	Independent	Self-Efficacy for	Low income	Cross-sectional survey to	High levels of self-efficacy were
2016	variable	preventing	women of	determine the relationship	associated with high levels of patient
		pregnancy:	child-bearing	between patient activation and	activation (chi-squared p=0.017)
		Primary	age recruited	self-efficacy in avoiding	
		outcome	from a	pregnancy	Adjusted logistic regression revealed
			community		consistent results (OR=3.13 [95% CI:
			health center		1.11-8.78], p=0.031)
			n=112		

Table 1. 3 (cont'	d)				
Munce ⁴⁶	Independent	Moorong Self-	Spinal cord	Cross-sectional survey to	Self-efficacy and PAM were
2016	variable	Efficacy Scale	injury	determine characteristics	positively and moderately correlated
		(MSES) -	survivors in	associated with depression	(r=0.39, p<0.001)
		functional,	Canada		
		social, leisure	n=99		In multivariable regression with both
		and vocational			self-efficacy and PAM as covariates,
		activities post-			only self-efficacy was associated with
		spinal cord			depression
		injury:			
		Covariate			
Gruber ⁴⁷	Dependent	Pain Self-	Orthopedic	Prospective longitudinal study to	Baseline self-efficacy and PAM were
2014	variable	Efficacy	surgical	determine if patient activation is	moderately correlated (r=0.37,
		Questionnaire:	patients with	correlated with fewer orthopedic	p<0.01) and significantly associated
		Independent	hand and	symptoms and less hand and	in multivariable regression (β =0.29,
		variable	upper	upper extremity disability	p<0.01)
			extremity		
			conditions		
			n=112		
Eikelenboom ¹⁰⁸	Construct	SeMas self-	Primary care	Cross-sectional survey for	The SeMas self-efficacy dimension
2015	validity	efficacy	patients with	validating the Self-management	was moderately correlated with PAM
		dimension	chronic	Screening tool (SeMas), a	(r=0.42, p<0.01) and was associated
		included two	conditions	measure to identify barriers to	in multiple linear regression
		questions from	n=204	self-management	(β=16.43, p<0.001)
		the Perceived			
		Competence			
		Scale			

RCT=randomized clinical trial

Summary

Self-efficacy and patient activation remain two important constructs related to successful selfmanagement. Patient activation is intended as a broad measure of one's skill, knowledge, and confidence to self-manage one's own health. Self-efficacy, on the other hand, measures how confident one is in accomplishing a specific task or behavior, which may be grouped into domains and may or may not be disease-specific. Because self-efficacy is one of the underlying dimensions of patient activation there is an expected positive association between the two concepts. Although these two theories are often discussed in the context of self-management studies, analyses exploring the direct relationships between self-efficacy and PAM are less common, particularly among stroke survivors. This thesis aims to contribute to the stroke survivor self-efficacy and PAM literature by identify patient characteristics associated with four new self-efficacy measures from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain and PAM, as well as to explore direct relationships between self-efficacy and PAM through correlation and multivariable modeling. These results may progress the understanding of whether PAM, a broad activation measure, is a sufficient or appropriate measure to consider for stroke self-management intervention work or whether domain specific self-efficacy measures are more informative than PAM.

Aims and Hypotheses

The overarching goal of this thesis was to explore indicators of self-management, specifically the crosssectional relationships between four measures from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain and the patient activation measure (PAM), as well as factors that may confound or moderate these relationships among a population of acute stroke patients. This goal was accomplished through the following aims:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Examine the convergent construct validity of PAM and self-efficacy, one of the core PAM components, by comparing the correlation between PAM (transformed) scores and four different

measures of PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions: 1) self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments; 2) self-efficacy for managing daily activities; 3) self-efficacy for managing emotions; and 4) self-efficacy for managing social interactions. Additionally, perform a sensitivity analysis to further evaluate the construct validity of PAM by examining three sets of PAM raw, untransformed scores – one including all 13 questions (PAM-F), one restricted to the 6 confidence-related questions (PAM-CR), and one restricted to the 7 remaining questions that exclude the confidence-related questions (PAM-nonCR).

I hypothesize that all four PROMIS self-efficacy measures will be significantly and positively correlated with PAM scores, however, self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments and for managing daily activities will have a stronger correlation with PAM scores than either self-efficacy for managing emotions or for managing social interactions. In the sensitivity analysis I hypothesize that correlations will remain significantly and positively correlated with PAM-F, PAM-CR and PAM-nonCR, but that the magnitude of PAM-CR will be larger than PAM-F and in turn the magnitude of PAM-F will be larger than PAM-nonCR.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Identify independent statistical associations (factors) between sociodemographic (i.e., age, sex, race, education), support (i.e., living alone, caregiver status, informational, emotional, instrumental), disease-related (i.e. stroke type and severity, hospital/rehabilitation length-of-stay, discharge destination, stroke risk factors, disability, emotional and behavioral dyscontrol), general health factors (i.e., quality-of-life, health status, depression), and study-related factors (i.e., treatment group, recruitment site) and PAM scores using a multivariable linear model.

I hypothesize that that education, acute rehabilitation (IPR) discharge destination (compared to home or subacute rehabilitation), better QOL, and greater perceived health status will be positively associated

with PAM, while older age, post-stroke disability, and depressive symptoms will be negatively associated with PAM.

<u>Aim 3:</u> Identify independent statistical associations (factors) between sociodemographic (i.e., age, sex, race, education), support (i.e., living alone, caregiver status, informational, emotional, instrumental), disease-related (i.e. stroke type and severity, hospital/rehabilitation length-of-stay, discharge destination, stroke risk factors, disability, emotional and behavioral dyscontrol), general health factors (i.e., quality-of-life, health status, depression), and study-related factors (i.e., treatment group, recruitment site) and each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy measures using a multivariable linear model.

Likewise, I hypothesize that,

- H1: Education, perceived informational support, emotional support, discharge to acute rehabilitation (vs home or subacute rehabilitation), QOL, and perceived health status will be positively associated with the four PROMIS self-efficacy measures
- H2: Age, living alone, stroke severity, post-stroke disability, stroke risk factors, and depressive symptoms will be negatively associated with self-efficacy measures
- H3: Discharge destination, stroke risk factors, and post-stroke disability will be more strongly
 associated with self-efficacy for managing medications and treatment and for managing daily
 activities.
- H4: Living alone and depressive symptoms will be more strongly associated with self-efficacy for managing emotions and for managing social interactions.

<u>Aim 4:</u> Identify the independent relationships between each of the four different PROMIS self-efficacy measures and PAM score after controlling for confounding variables and testing for interaction effects involving each self-efficacy measure. Variables explored as confounders and effect modifiers will be informed by the results of Aim 2 and Aim 3.
I hypothesize that discharge destination, depressive symptoms, and QOL will be significantly associated with both PAM and self-efficacy in Aims 2 and 3 and will be explored confounders and effect modifiers. After controlling for the confounding variables of age, education level, discharge destination, depression, and QOL, I hypothesize that significant associations between each self-efficacy measure and PAM will remain, however, the magnitude of these associations will be attenuated (reduced). I also hypothesize that self-efficacy for managing emotions and social interactions will continue to have weaker associations with PAM than self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments and managing daily activities.

Regarding interaction effects, I hypothesize that no significant interaction effects will be detected with self-efficacy and each of the following factors – age, education, discharge destination, depressive symptoms, and QOL.

METHODS

Study Overview

The Michigan Stroke Transitions Trial (MISTT) was a pragmatic 3 armed- parallel design randomized clinical trial (RCT) that aimed to improve patient and caregiver outcomes related to the in-home transitional care experience.²¹ MISTT tested usual care for acute post-stroke transitions against two other interventions: a social work case management program with or without access to the MISTT website, an online information and support resource. Details of the design and conduct of MISTT, including additional details about the intervention, can be found in the previously published MISTT protocol.²¹

This thesis work is a cross-sectional, secondary-analysis of MISTT data collected 7-days after patients returned home. It aims to 1) examine convergent construct validity of self-efficacy for the Patient Activation Measure (PAM); 2) identify sociodemographic, support, disease-related, general health, and MISTT study-related factors that are associated with PAM; 3) identify sociodemographic, support, disease-related, general health, and MISTT study-related factors that are associated with each of four PROMIS Self-efficacy for Managing Chronic Condition domains; and 4) identify factors that confound or moderate the relationships between each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy domains and PAM.

Study Design

MISTT, a pragmatic, open, randomized, 3-group parallel superiority clinical trial, tested whether social work case management alone or with a complementary online education and support intervention (MISTT website) was superior to usual care, and whether a cumulative response existed across the two intervention groups.

Study Setting and Time Frame

MISTT recruited 320 acute stroke subjects between January 2016 and July 2017 from three acute care hospitals in two regions of mid-Michigan: Sparrow Hospital (Lansing), St. Joseph Mercy Health System (Ann Arbor), and University of Michigan Health System (Ann Arbor). Two of the hospitals were comprehensive stroke centers (Sparrow, University of Michigan) and one a primary stroke center (St. Joseph). Data collection culminated in November 2017.

Participants

The MISTT target population was adult, acute stroke patients returning home within one month of hospital discharge. Patients were eligible to participate if they had a final confirmed hospital diagnosis of acute ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke, were living at home in the community prior to their stroke, and if they were either discharged directly home or were discharged to a rehabilitation facility but expected to return home within one month of hospital discharge (Table 2.1). Patients had to exhibit stroke-related symptoms upon admission (National Institute of Health Stroke Severity [NIHSS] score of >=1) and have functional deficits (Modified Rankin Score [mRS] >=1) or recommendations for post-discharge rehabilitative therapy upon hospital discharge. Patients were excluded if they lived greater than 50-miles from the hospital; were non-English speaking; discharged to hospice care or a facility for long-term care; did not have a proxy available for consent [if required due to a failed cognitive screen (Six-item Screener [SIS] score <=4), cognitive impairment or stroke-related deficits]; were enrolled in another acute stroke intervention trial that likely had significant impact on the post-acute period; life expectancy less than 6-months; or had a significant medical comorbidity likely to impact completion of the study (e.g. metastatic cancer, end-stage renal failure, etc.). Participants were recruited by hospital study coordinators and research assistants who were trained in MISTT recruitment and enrollment protocols.

Table 2. 1: Study Patient Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Patient Inclusion Criteria:

- i) A final confirmed hospital diagnosis of acute stroke (ischemic or hemorrhagic).
- ii) Patient living at home pre-stroke.
- iii) Presence of stroke-related deficits at admission (defined as a National Institute of Health Stroke Severity score of >=1).
- iv) Presence of functional limitations at discharge (defined as a modified Rankin score [mRS] score of >=1 or therapy ordered).
- v) Discharged directly home (includes patient's residence or that of a family member), or discharged to a rehabilitation facility with the expectation of return to home within 4 weeks

Patient Exclusion Criteria:

- i) Patients who live more than 50 miles from the hospital (for reasons related to the home visits).
- ii) Patients discharged to hospice care, nursing home for long term care, or long term care hospital (LTCH).
- Patients who have clinically documented cognitive deficits or stroke-related impairments including aphasia sufficient to impact the consent process and for whom a proxy respondent is not available.
- iv) Patients who fail the 6-item Cognitive Screen for cognitive function (score <=4) and for whom a proxy respondent is not available.
- v) Patients enrolled in another acute stroke intervention trial that has a significant impact on the post-acute period (i.e., intensive data collection required of patient during follow-up).
- vi) Limited life expectancy (< 6 months) or significant medical comorbidity likely to impact completion of the study (e.g., severe mental illness, drug or alcohol abuse, metastatic cancer).
- vii) Does not speak English.
- viii) Completed abbreviated or proxy interview^a

^a Specific to thesis study criteria

The MISTT study enrolled 320 acute stroke patients (Figure 2.1). Of 1,793 patients screened, 1,016

(57%) were excluded because they did not meet eligibility criteria. Primary reasons for ineligibility

involved patients not returning home or an expectation that they would not return home within four

weeks of discharge to a rehabilitation facility (n=247, 24%), lack of stroke symptoms upon admission

(National Institute of Health Stroke Scale [NIHSS] <1) (n=223, 22%), significant comorbidity likely to

interfere with study follow-up (n=164, 16%), and lack of functional deficit upon acute hospital discharge (Modified Rankin Score [mRS] <1 or no rehabilitation services recommended) (n=154, 15%), final diagnosis not stroke (n=76, 8%), and other reasons (n=152, 15% - not living at home or within 50 miles of the recruitment hospital, life expectancy <6-months, and non-English speaking) (Circ CVO paper in press).

Among the 777 patients who were eligible 259 (33%) declined participation, and 198 (25%) did not make a decision about study participation before they were discharged; this resulted in a consent rate of 41.2% [320/777] (Figure 2.1). Randomization of treatment assignment did not occur until the patient returned home, thus 55 consented patients were excluded before randomization, largely due to rehabilitation stays that extended beyond 1 month. A total of 265 patients were randomized: 87 to group 1, 88 to group 2, and 90 to group 3 (Figure 2.1).



^a Except Self-efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) n=178

Figure 2. 1: MISTT Patient Participant Flow Diagram

Treatment Group Allocation and MISTT Interventions

On the day of discharge to home (either from acute hospitalization or from a rehabilitation stay), patients were randomized to one of the three treatment groups 1) Usual Care, 2) Social Work Case Management (SWCM) program, or 3) SWCM program plus MISTT website access.

The SWCM program was delivered by Masters-level trained social workers who contacted patients within 24-48 hours after returning home to schedule an in-home biopsychosocial assessment. On average, assessments were completed within 9 days of returning home (SD=9.2, median=6 days IQR=4,

12), at which time those assigned to the MISTT website also received their website training and orientation. Minimal intervention activities occurred before the assessment visit, but were intended to identify, address, and support the many psychosocial needs that stroke survivors experience during their in-home transition. Details of the SWCM intervention were previously published.¹¹⁵

In-hospital Data Collection

Basic demographic data, contact information, and clinical data were collected from the medical record for consented patients. Clinical data included admission date, stroke type, pre-stroke function and ambulatory status, stroke severity (NIHSS or Glasgow Coma Score [GCS]), discharge dates and destination(s), history of stroke-related risk factors (i.e., history of transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, hyperlipidemia, depression, smoking status, and heavy alcohol use), stroke symptom duration, in-hospital acute stroke treatment(s), major hospital complications, discharge modified Rankin Score (mRS), discharge destination (home, in-patient rehabilitation facility [IRF], skilled nursing facility [SNF]) as well as recommendations for out-patient rehabilitation or home health care. Finally, a complete copy of the discharge summary was obtained which included a comprehensive medication list. Additional selfreported patient characteristics collected during the 7-day outcomes interview included marital status, education level, living arrangements, history of pre-stroke depression, and pre-stroke ambulatory status.

Outcomes Data Collection

MISTT patient-reported outcomes were collected via telephone interview 7-days and 90-days after patients returned home either directly from their acute stroke hospitalization or following a rehabilitation stay (Figure 2.2).²¹ Outcomes were collected for all treatment groups and were completed independently from the SWCM program assessments. Measurement domains were informed by stakeholder focus groups, and measures were chosen after extensive review of available instruments

relevant to post-stroke functional recovery, disability, handicap, and quality-of-life (QOL). Validated, psychometrically robust PROMIS (Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement System) and Neuro-QOL (QOL in Neurological Disorders) measures were chosen for their ability to compare results across diseases, conditions, and settings as well as for their flexibility in creating custom short forms and utilizing Computer Adaptive Testing (CAT) methods to reduce responder burden.^{66,116,117} MISTT primary outcomes included PROMIS Global-10 Quality-of-Life physical health and mental health subscales and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM). Secondary outcomes included depressive symptoms (PHQ-9), NeuroQOL anxiety, hospital readmissions and emergency department visits, stroke recurrence, and 90-day home time.²¹

Trained research assistants conducted calls from a toll-free study phone number. For the 7-day interview, each participant had a 15-day window that they were eligible for data collection (days 5-21), after which time the interview was regarded as missing. On average, 4 calls were required to successfully complete an interview, which occurred an average of 11 days (SD=5.7, median=9 days IQR= 7.0, 13.5) after returning home.

Full patient interviews took approximately 40 minutes to complete, but abbreviated or proxy interviews were offered as alternatives for patients who were unable or unwilling to complete the full interview. The alternative interviews contained the primary RCT outcome measures (PROMIS Global-10 QOL and PAM) but drastically reduced interviewer time and burden by excluding many of the other measures.

Reasons for missing interviews were documented based on known information and categorized as no contact (i.e., never answered), refused to complete the interview (e.g., too busy or uninterested, or health-related reasons (e.g., readmission). Withdrawals from follow-up were confirmed or clarified with social workers, hospital staff, or patients/caregivers as needed and then finalized by the project

manager. Patients wishing to withdraw from the study intervention (SWCM or SWCM+Web) were asked permission to be contacted for outcomes data collection.



Figure 2. 2: MISTT study timeline

Thesis Data Sources and Outcome

This secondary analysis utilized cross-sectional data collected at the 7-day interview along with patient characteristics collected from medical records during the acute hospitalization (Table 2.2). Since the focus was on outcomes collected at the beginning of the intervention period, treatment group effects were not assessed. In addition to MISTT criteria, patients who completed abbreviated or proxy versions of their 7-day outcomes interviews were excluded because these alternative interviews did not contain the PROMIS self-efficacy measures utilized in this analysis.

Table 2. 2: MISTT Outcome Measures utilized in a cross-sectional, secondary analysis of self-efficacy						
and patient activation	and patient activation					
	Variable type	Number of	Data collection			
		questions	source			
OUTCOMES						
Patient Activation Measure (PAM)	Continuous	13	7-day interview			
	transformed sum score					
	and raw sums					
Self-efficacy for managing	Continuous T-score	5	7-day interview			
medications and treatment						
Self-efficacy for managing daily	Continuous T-score	CAT, ^a mean	7-day interview			
activities		4-6				

Table 2. 2 (cont'd)						
Self-efficacy for managing emotions	Continuous T-score	CAT, mean 4-6	7-day interview			
Self-efficacy for managing social interactions	Continuous T-score	4	7-day interview			
Age	Continuous years	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Sex	Binary: male, female	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Race	Binary: white, non- white	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Education level	Categorical: High school or less, some college, college degree	1	7-day interview			
SUPPORT DOMAIN VARIABLES	·	•				
Living alone	Binary: yes, no	1	7-day interview			
Caregiver consented to MISTT	Binary: yes, no	n/a	Hospital medical record			
PROMIS Informational support	Continuous T-score	4	7-day interview			
PROMIS Emotional support	Continuous T-score	4	7-day interview			
PROMIS Instrumental support	Continuous T-score	4	7-day interview			
DISEASE DOMAIN VARIABLES	T	I	T			
Stroke type	Binary: ischemic, hemorrhagic	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Stroke severity ^b	Categorical: mild, moderate, severe	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Stroke risk factors ^c	Categorical: no risk factors, 1 factor, <u>></u> 2 factors	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Discharge destination	Categorical: home, in- patient rehab (IPR), subacute rehab (SAR)	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Cumulative length-of-stay ^d	Continuous days	n/a	Hospital medical record			
Self-reported post-stroke disability, simplified modified Rankin Score (s- mRS)	Binary: mild (score <u><</u> 2), moderate/severe (3-5)	1-4	7-day interview			
Neuro-QOL emotional and	Continuous T-score	CAT, mean	7-day interview			
behavioral dyscontrol		4-6				
GENERAL HEALTH DOMAIN VARIABL	ES					
Depressive symptoms, Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)	Continuous sum score	9	7-day interview			
quality-of-life (PROMIS Global-10 QOL, global02)	Continuous raw score	1	7-day interview			
Perceived health status (PROMIS Global-10 QOL, global01)	Continuous raw score	1	7-day interview			

Table 2. 2 (cont'd)			
MISTT DOMAIN VARIABLES			
Recruitment site	Categorical: Sparrow, St. Joseph, University of Michigan	n/a	Hospital medical record
Randomization treatment group	Categorical: Usual Care, SWCM, SWCM+Web	n/a	Hospital medical record

^a Computer Adapted Testing

^b Mild: NIHSS=1-5 or GCS=13-15, Moderate: NIHSS=6-13 or GCS=5-12, Severe: NIHSS=14-42 or GCS=3-4 ^c Factors include history of transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hyperlipidemia

^d Calculated by subtracting the stroke admission date from the discharge to home date. This reflects the total time hospitalized and in an acute or subacute rehabilitation facility, if applicable.

Patient Characteristics

Patient demographic, clinical, and psychosocial characteristics were grouped into five domains: sociodemographic characteristics, perceived support, disease-specific characteristics, general health characteristics, and MISTT study variables (Table 2.2). Sociodemographic information consisted of age (continuous), sex (male, female), race (white, non-white), and education level (high school or less, some college, college degree) which was used as a proxy for socioeconomic status. Several variables were grouped into a support domain that represented different types of social support the patient perceived having or potentially had access to. These variables included living alone (binary), whether the patient has a caregiver who consented to the MISTT study (binary), and perceived informational, emotional, and instrumental support (continuous). Perceived support was measured using three PROMIS support instruments - informational support (short form 4a),¹¹⁸ emotional support (short form 4a),¹¹⁹ and instrumental support (custom short form)¹²⁰ – which measure support provided by others as resources of helpful information or advice, being cared for and valued, and providing practical help, respectively. Continuous T-scores, with higher scores indicating more perceived support as measured by PROMIS instruments, were standardized to a mean of 50 (SD=10) using a general population. Table 2.3 reports the description and exact questions for each measure.

Table 2. 3: PROMIS Support short forms^a

PROMIS Informational Support, short form 4a – measures perceived availability of helpful information or advice¹¹⁸

- 1. I have someone to give me good advice about a crisis if I need it.
- 2. I have someone to turn to for suggestions about how to deal with a problem.
- 3. I have someone to give me information if I need it.
- 4. I get useful advice about important things in life.

PROMIS Emotional Support, short form 4a – measures perceived feelings of being cared for and valued¹¹⁹

- 1. I have someone who will listen to me when I need to talk.
- 2. I have someone to confide in or talk to about myself or my problems.
- 3. I have someone who makes me feel appreciated.
- 4. I have someone to talk with when I have a bad day.

PROMIS Instrumental Support, custom short form – measures perceived availability of assistance with material, cognitive, or task performance¹²⁰

- 1. Is someone available to help you if you need it?
- 2. Do you have someone to take you to the doctor if you need it?
- 3. Do you have someone to help you with your daily chores if you are sick?
- 4. Do you have someone to run errands if you need it?

^a Response options: 1=never, 2=rarely, 3=sometimes, 4=usually, 5=always

Disease-related variables included stroke type (ischemic, hemorrhagic), stroke severity (mild, moderate,

severe based on NIH-Stroke Scale [NIHSS] or Glasgow Coma Scale [GCS]), stroke risk factors (no risk

factors, one, or greater than two), discharge destination (home, in-patient rehabilitation [IPR], or

subacute rehabilitation [SAR]), cumulative length-of-stay (sum of acute hospitalization and rehabilitation

stay, continuous), and 7-day self-reported measures of post-stroke disability measured by the simplified

modified Rankin Score (s-mRS, binary) and Neuro-QOL emotional and behavioral dyscontrol

(continuous). Stroke severity was categorized as mild if NIHSS=1-5 or GCS=13-15, as moderate if

NIHSS=6-13 or GCS=5-12, and as severe if NIHSS=14-42 or GCS=3-4. The NIHSS is a 15-item measure of

stroke severity ranging from 0-42 with higher scores indicating more severe stroke.¹²¹ NIHSS assesses

the severity/intensity of deficit in different areas affected by stroke including ataxia, aphasia, limb

weakness, visual deficits, etc. and is commonly used in clinical practice, especially for suspected ischemic

stroke cases. The GCS is a scale to assess trauma and may be used in cases with suspected hemorrhagic

stroke. GCS ranges from 3-15 with higher scores indicating less severity.¹²² Both the NIHSS and GCS are performed by clinicians or other trained staff. Stroke risk factors served as proxy for a comorbidity index and was created by categorizing if the patient had confirmed history of any of the following stroke risk factors: transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, or hyperlipidemia. The number of confirmed stroke risk factors was counted (range 0-8) and categorized into 0, 1, or \geq 2 factors. Cumulative length-of-stay was calculated by subtracting the index stroke admission date from the date the patient discharged home (from either their acute hospitalization or rehabilitation stay). The s-mRS is validated measure used to assess post-stroke functional status.¹²³ Responses are scored 0-5 on an ordinal scale with higher scores indicating worse function. For this analysis scores were dichotomized into levels of mild= \leq 2 or moderate/severe=3-5. Neuro-QOL emotional and behavior dyscontrol is a measure of emotional lability, irritability, disinhibition, and impulsiveness that was administered using CAT methods.¹²⁴ Continuous T-scores were standardized to a clinical population (mean=50, standard deviation=10) with higher T-scores indicating more dyscontrol.

General health variables included current depressive symptoms measured by the PHQ-9 (continuous), quality-of-life [QOL] (a single item question from PROMIS Global-10 QOL [global02], continuous), and perceived health status (a single item question from PROMIS Global-10 QOL [global01], continuous). The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)^{125,126} is a commonly used validated 9-item instrument measuring severity of depression symptoms using a four-point Likert scale. Response items were summed (range 0-27) with higher scores indicating more depressive symptoms.¹²⁷ QOL and perceived health status are two single-item questions from the PROMIS Global-10 QOL measure.¹²⁸ Responses to both the QOL question (global02) *"in general, would you say you say your quality of life is"* and the health status question (global01) *"in general, would you say your health is"* span from poor to excellent (score 1-5, respectively) with higher scores reflecting better QOL and health status. Rather than T-

scores, raw scores ranging from 1-5 were generated from Likert response scales with higher scores indicating better QOL and health status.

MISTT variables included recruitment site (Sparrow, St. Joseph, University of Michigan) and randomized treatment group (UC, SWCM, SWCM+MISTT Website).

Outcome Measures

In this analysis, PAM served as the primary, dependent variable for Aims 1, 2, and 4. PAM is a 13-item measure of global activation that evaluates the ability to self-manage one's own health through concepts of skill, knowledge, and confidence (Table 2.4).⁷² Patient activation is an important construct in successful chronic disease self-management and patient engagement. Five-point Likert response options were converted into a scale ranging from 0-100 using a proprietary algorithm (https://www.insigniahealth.com/account/login). Validation work has shown average PAM scores around 62 and standard deviation of 13 with a five-point change thought to represent meaningful clinical change.⁷⁵ In addition to the transformed scores, raw sums (range 13-52) were used in a construct validity sensitivity analysis between self-efficacy and PAM (Aim 1) because the algorithm that produces transformed score that only represents a subset of questions. Thus, raw sums were calculated for the full 13 PAM questions (PAM-F) as well as two restricted sums: PAM-CR sums included only six confidence-related questions while PAM-nonCR sums included the remaining seven questions that did not directly address confidence (Table 2.4). Responses were re-coded to ensure higher raw sums reflected higher levels of activation.

Table 2. 4: Patient Activation Measure ^a		
PAM-13 Questions		PAM-
		nonCR
1. When all is said and done, I am the person who is responsible for		Х
taking care of my health.		
2. Taking an active role in my own health care is the most important		Х
thing that affects my health.		
3. I am confident I can help prevent or reduce problems associated with	Х	
my health.		
I know what each of my prescribed medications do.		Х
5. I am confident that I can tell whether I need to go to the doctor or	Х	
whether I can take care of a health problem myself.		
6. I am confident that I can tell a doctor concerns I have even when he o	r X	
she does not ask.		
7. I am confident that I can follow through on medical treatments I may	Х	
need to do at home.		
8. I understand my health problems and what causes them.		Х
9. I know what treatments are available for my health problems.		Х
10. I have been able to maintain (keep up with) lifestyle changes, like		Х
eating right or exercising.		
11. I know how to prevent problems with my health.		Х
12. I am confident I can figure out solutions when new problems arise	Х	
with my health.		
13. I am confident that I can maintain lifestyle changes, like eating right	Х	
and exercising, even during times of stress.		

^a Response options: 1=strongly agree, 2=agree, 3=disagree, 4=strongly disagree, 5=n/a

Four different self-efficacy instruments, which measure a range of self-management behaviors and activities, served as the main independent variables for Aims 1 and 4 of this thesis analysis as well as the main dependent outcome for Aim 3. These measures come from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain and include: 1) self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments, 2) self-efficacy for managing daily activities, 3) self-efficacy for managing emotions, and 4) self-efficacy for managing social interactions (Table 2.5). Five-point Likert response options (ranging from 1=I am not confident at all to 5=I am very confident) were converted into a T-score that has been standardized among a chronic disease population to a mean T-score of 50 and standard deviation of 10 using the HealthMeasures Scoring System (https://www.assessmentcenter.net/ac_scoringservice).³² Two of the

instruments, self-efficacy for managing daily activities, and self-efficacy for managing emotions were administered using a computer adaptive testing (CAT) method. CAT minimizes respondent burden by utilizing questions most applicable to the individual respondent; CAT pulls questions from the entire item bank (35 in self-efficacy for managing daily activities and 25 in self-efficacy for managing emotions¹¹⁹), but typically administers an average of 4-6 questions per participant. Since question selection is based on the answer to the previous question, the specific questions used varies between individuals; example items are shown in Table 2.6 and the full bank of questions are included in Appendix A and Appendix B. Self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments was a 5-item custom short form while self-efficacy for managing social interactions was a 4-item custom short form, taken from item banks consisting of 26 and 23 items, respectively (Table 2.6). Custom short forms were chosen because CATs were unavailable at the time of measurement selection, and it allowed the selection of questions that were most relevant to the intervention goals.

Table 2. 5: Self-efficacy concepts addressed in each of four self-efficacy outcome measures from the				
PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain				
PROMIS Self-Efficacy instruments	Assessment of			
Self-Efficacy for managing medications and	Confidence in managing different levels of medications			
treatment (SEMMT)	and treatments in everyday and challenging situations			
Self-Efficacy for managing daily activities	Confidence in performing ADL and IADLs without			
(SEMDA)	assistance along with activities such as exercise, travel,			
	and managing things in the face of challenging			
	situations			
Self-Efficacy for managing emotions	Confidence to manage symptoms of anxiety,			
(SEME)	depression, helplessness, discouragement, frustration,			
	disappointment, and anger			
Self-Efficacy for Managing Social	Confidence participating in social activities, seeking			
Interactions (SEMSI)	help, and communicating with peers and healthcare			
	professionals			

Table 2. 6: PROMIS Self-Efficacy custom short forms and examples from CAT item banks^a PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT), custom short form 1. Current level of confidence I know when and how to take my medications 2. Current level of confidence I can find information to learn more about my treatment 3. Current level of confidence I can get help when I am not sure how to take my medicine 4. Current level of confidence I can follow a full treatment plan (including medication, diet, physical activity) 5. Current level of confidence I can list my medications, including the doses and schedule PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA), example CAT items 1. Current level of confidence I can go shopping and run errands 2. Current level of confidence I can manage my clothes when I use the toilet 3. Current level of confidence I can walk around inside my house 4. Currently level of confidence I can maintain a regular exercise program **PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME), example CAT items** 1. Current level of confidence I can handle negative feelings 2. Current level of confidence I can find ways to manage stress 3. Current level of confidence I can avoid feeling discouraged 4. Current level of confidence I can keep emotional distress from interfering with things I want to do PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMSI), custom short form 1. Current level of confidence I have someone to help me plan and make decisions related to my illness 2. Current level of confidence I can keep in touch with family and friends 3. Current level of confidence I can ask for help when I don't understand something 4. Current level of confidence I can maintain my usual social activities CAT = computer adaptive testing ^a Response options: 1=I am not confident at all, 2=I am a little confident, 3=I am somewhat confident, 4=I am guite confident, 5=I am very confident

Analytical and Statistical Approaches

Data were collected in REDCap¹²⁹ and exported to SAS 9.4 for data preparation and analyses. Responses

from PROMIS and Neuro-QOL measure that were not collected using CAT methods were submitted to

the HealthMeasures scoring center to obtain T-scores and standard errors. Likewise, raw PAM data

were submitted to Insignia Health to obtain transformed PAM scores.

Aim 1 involved exploring the convergent construct validity of PAM related to self-efficacy, which tests if

the primary measure (PAM) actually measures one of the underlying constructs that it claims to

measure (self-efficacy). First, scatterplots were generated to ensure utilizing a Pearson correlation

method was appropriate. Pearson correlation coefficients (r-values) were then generated to test the strength of the linear association existing between PAM and each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy domains - managing medications and treatments, managing daily activities, managing emotions, and managing social interactions. Correlations were considered significant at p<0.05, thereby rejecting the null hypothesis that the two outcomes are not related (H₀: r=0), and classified as strong, moderate, or weak if r-values were >0.6, 0.4-0.6, or <0.4, respectively. A sensitivity analysis was performed to further understand if the six PAM questions that addressed one's "confidence" accounted for the hypothesized positive correlations between self-efficacy and PAM; Pearson correlation coefficients were generated for each self-efficacy measure using the raw sums for PAM-13 (i.e., all PAM questions), PAM-CR (a restricted sum only including six confidence-related questions), and PAM-nonCR (a restricted sum excluding the six confidence-related questions).

Aim 2 and Aim 3 both involved a staged approach to building multivariable linear regression models to explore sociodemographic, support, disease-related, general health, and MISTT study factors associated with PAM and self-efficacy, respectively (Table 2.2, Figure 2.3). The dependent variable for Aim 2 was the transformed PAM score, while the dependent variables for Aim 3 were each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy measure T-scores. First, bivariate associations between individual variables from the sociodemographic, support, disease, general health, and MISTT domains (Table 2.2) and each dependent variable were assessed using simple linear regression. Variables with significant bivariate associations of p<0.1 were then entered into a single multivariable domain-specific sub-model (i.e. one model per domain) for their associated domain. Additionally, age and education were identified a-priori as important factors to consider in relation to self-efficacy and patient activation and were forced into the sub-models regardless of their significance. Variables that remained significant (p<0.05) in the domain-specific multivariable sub-models were carried forward and combined into a full multivariable model for each outcome measure. A final parsimonious multivariable model was determined using backward

stepwise selection where variables no longer significant were dropped one at a time in order of least significance, i.e. largest p-value first (Figure 2.3). Point estimates, explained variance (R²), degrees of freedom, and the type 3 p-value were reported for each domain-specific sub-model and the final model of each outcome.



Figure 2. 3: Model building strategy for determining parsimonious multivariable models for Patient Activation Measure (PAM) and four Self-Efficacy outcomes.

Aim 4 involved building two sets of multivariable linear regression models - one to explore the relationships between each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy measures and PAM while controlling for confounding variables (Figure 2.4) and one to determine moderation by investigating interaction terms(Figure 2.5). Variables considered in the confounding models were limited to those that were statistically associated with both PAM and self-efficacy, as indicated by their significance (p<0.05) in the final models from Aims 2 and 3. First, a base model that included self-efficacy as the independent variable and PAM as the outcome variable was built adding a-priori confounders of age and education. Next, a series of sub-models examined the effect of each individual potential confounding factor on the magnitude and direction of the association between each of the four self-efficacy measures and PAM by

adding the variable of interest to the base model. Evidence of confounding was inferred by attenuation \geq 10% of the self-efficacy beta coefficient for changed in the sub-models. The potential confounders were then entered into a full model (Figure 2.4) to determine the independent relationship between self-efficacy and PAM as revealed by the magnitude, direction, and significance of self-efficacy's β coefficient, after adjusting for these factors.



Figure 2. 4: Model building strategy for identifying factors that confound the association between Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation Measure (PAM)

The covariates retained in the confounding models were then tested for significant interaction effects with self-efficacy to determine if they moderated the associations of self-efficacy and PAM (Figure 2.5). A series of multivariable models were built for each self-efficacy measure to test the interaction effect with each covariate that was retained in the final confounding model. Moderation was inferred if the interaction term was statistically significant at p<0.05.



Figure 2. 5: Model building strategy to test factors for effect modification (interaction) of the association between Self-Efficacy and PAM

RESULTS

One hundred eighty patients completed a full 7-day interview and were eligible for this analysis (Figure 2.1). Of these 180 participants, 107 (59%) discharged from one hospital site (Sparrow), while 49 (27%) discharged from St. Joseph Mercy and 24 (13%) from University of Michigan (Table 3.1). Fifty-six (31%) had been randomized to Usual Care, 62 (34%) to SWCM, and 62 (34%) to SWCM+MISTT Website. Patient-reported interviews were conducted, on average, 10-days (range 4-28 days, inter-quartile range 7-12-days) after patients returned home. Patient characteristics, collected from the medical record and during the 7-day interview, are shown in Table 3.1. The mean patient age was 66 years (range 27-90 years with 19% <55 years old), 49% were female, and 18% non-white. Level of education was evenly distributed with 34% having a high school degree or less, 36% completing some college, and 28% completing a 4-year or advanced college degree. Twenty-six percent lived alone while 64% had a caregiver who also enrolled in the MISTT study. Perceived instrumental, emotional, and informational support were all above the general population's standard mean of 50. Eighty-eight percent of patients experienced an ischemic stroke, and stroke severity was classified as mild (defined as NIHSS 1-5, or Glasgow Coma Score [GCS] 13-15) in 74% of all cases. Forty-seven percent of patients were discharged directly home from the hospital, 44% to inpatient rehabilitation (IPR), and 9% to a subacute rehabilitation facility. The average cumulative length of stay (LOS) from hospital admission to returning home (including rehabilitation LOS where applicable) was 12 days. Mean acute hospitalization was 4.5 (SD=3.4) days, whereas, mean rehabilitation stay was 7.7 (SD=9.1) days.

Stroke risk factors were quantified by the number of following conditions as documented in the medical record - history of transient ischemic attack (TIA), stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hyperlipidemia. Seventeen percent of patients had no stroke risk factors documented, 27% had only one, and 56% had two or more.

At the time of the 7-day interview, 58% of patients reported mild disability (s-mRS ≤ 2). Neuro-QOL emotional and behavioral T-scores were 44, just over a half standard deviation lower (indicating less self-reported dyscontrol) than the standard mean T-score of 50 as determined from a clinical population.¹²⁴ The average PHQ-9 score (5.7, SD=5.0) indicated a mild level of depressive symptoms (PHQ-9 score of 5-9); however 20% scored \geq 10 indicating moderate to severe depressive symptoms.¹³⁰ Single-item QOL and perceived health status questions had mean raw scores of 3.2 (SD=0.9) and 3.1 (SD=0.9) respectively, based on a 1-5 Likert response scale where 1=poor, 2=fair, 3=good, 4=very good, 5=excellent.

180 acute stroke survivors		
Variableª	n (%) mean (SD)	Mean (SD) 7- day PAM score
Number of patients	180 (180/265=67.9%)	64.5 (16.1)
SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC DOMAIN VARIABLES	-	•
Age (mean years, SD)	66.1 (12.4)	
Age		
-<55 years	35 (19.4%)	62.7 (14.1)
-55-75 years	102 (56.7%)	67.2 (17.0)
->75 years	43 (23.9%)	59.7 (14.3)
Sex		
-Female	88 (48.9%)	66.1 (16.5)
-Male	92 (51.1%)	63.1 (15.7)
Race		
-White	148 (82.2%)	64.7 (16.4)
-Non-white	32 (17.8%)	63.5 (14.7)
Education level		
-High school or less	62 (34.4%)	62.9 (15.2)
-Some college	66 (36.7%)	64.2 (15.9)
-College/advanced degree	52 (28.9%)	66.9 (17.5)
SUPPORT DOMAIN VARIABLES	-	•
Living alone ^b		
-Yes	46 (25.7%)	65.6 (18.0)
-No	133 (74.3%)	64.1 (15.5)
Consented caregiver		
-Yes	115 (63.9%)	62.4 (15.0)
-No	65 (36.1%)	68.3 (17.3)
PROMIS Informational support (mean T-score, SD)	59.0 (8.8)	

Table 3. 1: Patient sociodemographic, psychosocial, and health characteristics by mean PAM score for

Table 3. 1 (cont'd)		
PROMIS Emotional support (mean T-score, SD) ^c	56.0 (7.8)	
PROMIS Instrumental support (mean T-score, SD)	57.8 (6.8)	
DISEASE DOMAIN VARIABLES		
Stroke type		
-Ischemic	158 (87.8%)	64.2 (16.1)
-Hemorrhagic	22 (12.2%)	66.9 (15.9)
Stroke Severity ^d		
-Mild	134 (74.4%)	65.4 (16.1)
-Moderate	38 (21.1%)	61.1 (15.7)
-Severe	8 (4.4%)	66.6 (17.8)
Discharge destination		
-Home	84 (46.7%)	65.9 (16.3)
-Inpatient rehabilitation (IPR)	80 (44.4%)	64.6 (16.2)
-Subacute rehabilitation (SAR)	16 (8.9%)	56.8 (13.2)
Complete LOS (days from admission to discharge home)	12.3 (10.0)	
Stroke Risk Factors ^e		
-None	27 (15.0%)	64.3 (16.5)
-One	49 (27.2%)	63.0 (15.5)
-Two or more	104 (57.8%)	65.3 (16.4)
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS) ^b		
-Mild (score <u><</u> 2)	103 (57.5%)	67.5 (16.7)
-moderate/severe (score >2)	76 (42.5%)	60.5 (14.5)
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol (mean T-score, SD)	44.0 (9.4)	
GENERAL HEALTH DOMAIN VARIABLES		
Depressive symptoms (PHQ-9 mean score, SD) ^b	5.7 (5.0)	
Depressive symptoms ^b		
-Yes (PHQ-9 score <u>></u> 10)	35 (19.6%)	59.2 (14.3)
-No (PHQ-9 score <10)	144 (80.5%)	66.0 (16.3)
Quality-of-Life (PROMIS Global02; mean raw score, SD) ^b	3.2 (0.9)	
Perceived Health status (PROMIS Global01; mean raw score, SD)	3.1 (0.9)	
MISTT STUDY DOMAIN VARIABLES		
MISTT Treatment Group		
-Usual Care	56 (31.1%)	66.7 (17.2)
-SWCM	62 (34.4%)	62.2 (14.6)
-SWCM+MISTT website	62 (34.4%)	64.9 (16.5)
MISTT Study Site		
-Sparrow	107 (59.4%)	63.3 (16.1)
-St. Joseph Mercy	49 (27.2%)	66.1 (17.0)
-University of Michigan	24 (13.3%)	67.2 (14.2)

^a Variables were collected at baseline from hospital data or during the 7-day interview; n=180 unless noted ^b n=179

^c n=178

^dmild: NIHSS=1-5 or GCS=13-15, moderate: NIHSS=6-13 or GCS=5-12, severe: NIHSS=14-42 or GCS=3-4 ^efactors include history of transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hyperlipidemia

Descriptive Data for the Patient Activation Measure (PAM)

Among the 180 stroke patients included in this analysis, mean PAM scores were 64.5 with a standard deviation of 16.1 (Table 3.1); scores ranged from 30.4 to 100.0 with a median of 60.6 (IQR: 51.0, 73.5) (Figure 3.1). Mean PAM scores were lowest for the elderly (>75 years old, PAM=59.7, SD: 14.3) and patients discharged to subacute rehabilitation facilities (PAM=56.8, SD: 13.2). Patients who did not have a caregiver that consented to the MISTT study had the highest mean PAM scores (PAM=68.3, SD: 17.3) along with those who were 55-75 years old (PAM=67.2, SD: 17.0), had mild post-stroke disability (PAM=67.5, SD: 16.7), and were recruited from University of Michigan Hospital (PAM=67.2, SD: 14.2).



Figure 3. 1: Distribution of PAM scores

Descriptive Data for PROMIS Self-Efficacy Measures

Mean T-scores for the four PROMIS self-efficacy for managing chronic conditions measures are shown in Table 3.2. Self-efficacy for managing daily activities had the lowest mean T-score (43.5, SD: 7.5), while

self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments, managing emotions, and managing social

interactions among this stroke population were similar to the standardized mean of 50.

Table 3. 2: Mean T-scores of four PROMIS self-efficacy for managing chronic conditions measures				
among 180 stroke patients				
Outcome Measure	n	Mean T-score (SD)		
Self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT)	180	47.0 (8.4)		
Self-efficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA)	180	43.5 (7.5)		
Self-efficacy for managing emotions (SEME)	180	50.2 (8.9)		
Self-efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI)	178	49.8 (7.4)		



Figure 3. 2: Distribution of PROMIS Self-efficacy T-scores – A. PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT); B. PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA); C. PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME); D. Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMSI)

AIM 1: Correlations between Patient Activation Measure (PAM) and PROMIS Self-efficacy Measures As hypothesized, PAM was positively and significantly correlated to PROMIS self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT) (r=0.46, p<0.0001), managing daily activities (SEMDA) (r=0.28, p=0.0001), managing emotions (SEME) (r=0.38, p<0.0001), and managing social interactions (SEMSI) (r=0.28, p<0.0001) (Table 3.3). The strength of these relationships vary across self-efficacy domains with SEMMT having a moderate correlation (0.4<r<-0.59) and SEMDA, SEME, and SEMSI having weak relationships (r<0.4). Raw sums of PAM-F, PAM-CR, and PAM-nonCR were strongly and positively correlated to one another and transformed PAM scores, with correlation coefficients ranging from r=0.79 to r=0.96. Similar to the magnitude of correlations found between PAM scores and PROMIS selfefficacy measures, the raw PAM sums had significant, positive relationships with self-efficacy. Again, SEMMT had moderate strength with each raw PAM sum (r=0.45 to r=0.49), whereas, SEMDA (r=0.29 to 0.30), SEME (r=0.33 to r=0.43), and SEMSI (r=0.28 to r=0.30) revealed weaker correlations. Unexpectedly, the magnitude of correlation coefficients were similar across the full and restricted PAM sums (Table 3.3) indicating that the self-efficacy dimension is equally correlated with PAM questions that do and do not directly address confidence.

Table 3. 3: Pearson Correlations of Self-Efficacy with PAM score and PAM full and restricted raw sums ^{a,b}								
	PAM	SEMMT	SEMDA	SEME	SEMSI	PAM-F raw	Restricted	Restricted
	transformed	T-score	T-score	T-score	T-score	sum	PAM-CR ^a	PAM-nonCR ^b
	score						raw sum	raw sum
PAM	1.0							
transformed								
score								
SEMMT	r=0.46	1.0						
T-score	(p<0.0001)							
SEMDA	r=0.28	r=0.42	1.0					
T-score	(p=0.0001)	(p<0.0001)						
SEME	r=0.38	r=0.56	r=0.55	1.0				
T-score	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)					
SEMSI	r=0.28	r=0.49	r=0.32	r=0.47	1.0			
T-score	(p=0.0001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)				
PAM-F raw	r=0.94	r=0.49	r=0.30	r=0.40	r=0.30	1.0		
sum	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)			
Restricted	r=0.89	r=0.49	r=0.29	r=0.43	r=0.28	r=0.94	1.0	
PAM-CR ^a raw	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p=0.0001)	(p<0.0001)		
sum								
Restricted	r=0.90	r=0.45	r=0.29	r=0.33	r=0.29	r=0.96	r=0.79	1.0
PAM-nonCR ^b	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	(p<0.0001)	
raw sum								

SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments; SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities; SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions; SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

^a Restricted PAM-CR includes questions starting with "I am confident"

^b Restricted PAM-nonCR excludes questions starting with "I am confident"

Aim 2: Patient Factors Associated with the Patient Activation Measure (PAM)

Multivariable linear regression models were built to determine the set of variables that were independently associated with PAM scores among this population of acute stroke patients. The list of potential variables was selected from significant (p<0.1) bivariate simple linear regression analyses (Table 3.4). Age and education were chosen a-priori and forced into all models regardless of significance in bivariate analyses. The following nine variables had significant (p<0.1) bivariate associations with PAM: emotional support, informational support, instrumental support, single-item QOL(global02), and perceived health (global01) were all positively associated with PAM, while having a consented caregiver, post-stroke disability, emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, and depressive symptoms were negatively associated with PAM. Results from the multivariable model building are shown in Table 3.5. Step one involved creating a series of separate, domain-specific multivariable models by adding variables that were significant in the bivariate analysis to the base model that included age and education (Figure 2.3). Next, variables that remained significant in these models were then entered into a full model; these included consented caregiver status, PROMIS emotional support, post-stroke disability (s-mRS), and NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol. A final, parsimonious model was identified using backwards selection where non-significant variables were dropped one at a time in order of largest to smallest p-value. The final multivariable model for PAM included the following three statistically significant (p<0.05) variables: consented caregiver status, PROMIS emotional support, and post-stroke disability. The model's overall F-test, testing the null hypothesis that all coefficients were equal to zero was highly statistically significant (p<0.0001). The R² for the model was 0.175, meaning the variables accounted for 17.5% of PAM's variance. Greater post-stroke disability (β =-5.5 [95% CI: -10.1, -0.87]) and having a consented caregiver (β =-7.2 [95% CI: -11.9, -2.4]) were negatively associated with PAM meaning PAM scores were 5.5 points lower in patients with moderate/severe disability (s-mRS 3-5) compared to those with mild disability (s-mrs <2) and 7.2 points lower in patients who had a MISTT-

consented caregiver compared to those with no consented caregiver. Emotional support, on the other

hand, was positively associated with PAM (β=0.66 [95% CI: 0.36, 0.95]); for every 1-unit increase in

emotional support T-score, PAM score increased by 0.66 points.

Table 3. 4: Bivariate associations between sociodemographic, support, disease, general health, and				
MISTT study domain factors and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) score				
Variable ^a	PAM score			
	Estimate [CI], p-value ^b			
SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC DOMAIN VARIABLES				
Age (years)	-0.092 [-0.28, 0.099]; p=0.34			
Sex				
-Female	3.0 [-1.8, 7.7]; p=0.22			
-Male	Ref			
Race ^c				
-White	Ref			
-Non-white	-1.4 [-7.6, 4.8]; p=0.66			
Education level	Overall p=0.41			
-High school or less	Ref			
-Some college	1.3 [-4.4, 6.9]; p=0.67			
-College degree or more	4.0 [-2.0, 10]; p=0.19			
SUPPORT DOMAIN VARIABLES				
Living alone ^c				
-Yes	1.5 [-4.0, 6.9]; p=0.60			
-No	Ref			
Consented caregiver				
-Yes	-5.9 [-11, -1.1]; p=0.017			
-No	Ref			
PROMIS Informational support	0.38 [0.12, 0.64]; p=0.005			
PROMIS Emotional support ^d	0.49 [0.20, 0.79]; p=0.0012			
PROMIS Instrumental support	0.37 [0.020, 0.71]; p=0.38			
DISEASE DOMAIN VARIABLES				
Stroke Severity ^e	Overall p=0.33			
-Mild	Ref			
-Moderate	-4.3 [-10, 1.5]; p=0.15			
-Severe	1.2 [-10, 13]; p=0.84			
Discharge destination	Overall p=0.11			
-Home	Ref			
-Inpatient rehabilitation (IPR)	-1.3 [-6.2, 3.6]; p=0.60			
-Subacute rehabilitation (SAR/SNF)	-9.1 [-18, -0.52]; p=0.038			
Complete LOS (admission to discharge home)	-0.018 [-0.26, 0.22]; p=0.89			

Table 3. 4 (cont'd)	
Stroke Risk Factors ^f	Overall: p=0.71
-None	Ref
-One	-1.2 [-8.9, 6.4]; p=0.75
-Two or more	1.1 [-5.8, 8.0]; p=0.76
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS) ^c	
-Mild (<u><</u> 2)	Ref
-moderate/severe (3-5)	-7.0 [-12, -2.3]; p=0.0037
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.41 [-0.65, -0.16]; p=0.0014
GENERAL HEALTH DOMAIN VARIABLES	
Depressive symptoms (PHQ-9) ^c	-0.70 [-1.2, -0.24]; p=0.0032
Quality-of-Life (PROMIS Global02) ^c	5.2 [2.7, 7.8]; p<0.0001
Perceived Health status (PROMIS Global01)	4.6 [2.0, 7.1]; p=0.0006
MISTT DOMAIN VARIABLES	
MISTT Treatment Group	Overall p=0.31
-Usual Care	Ref
-SWCM	-4.5 [-10, 1.4]; p=0.13
-SWCM+MISTT website	-1.7 [-7.6, 4.1]; p=0.56
MISTT Study Site	Overall p=0.42
-Sparrow	Ref
-St. Joseph Mercy	2.8 [-2.7, 8.3]; p=0.31
-University of Michigan	3.6 [-3.3, 11]; p=0.29

^a n=180 except where noted

^b Bold results indicate significance at p<0.1

^c n=179

^d n=178

^emild: NIHSS=1-5 or GCS=13-15, moderate: NIHSS=6-13 or GCS=5-12, severe: NIHSS=14-42 or GCS=3-4 ^ffactors include history of transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hyperlipidemia

Table 3. 5: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with the Patient Activation Measure (PAM)					
Variable	Estimate [CI]: n-value ^a	R ²	Overall	Degrees of	
Valiable	Estimate [Ci], p-value	n	p-value	Freedom (df)	
PAM: Base model (n=180)					
Age (years)	-0.10 [-0.30, 0.10]; p=0.33			df=3	
Education level (ref=high school or less)		R ² =0.015	n = 0.42		
Some college	0.49 [-5.3, 6.3]; p=0.87		p=0.45		
College degree	3.8 [-2.2, 9.8]; p=0.21				
PAM Sub-MODEL 1: Support domain (n=178)					
Age (years)	-0.14 [-0.32, 0.05]; p=0.15			df=7	
Education level (ref=high school or less)					
Some college	0.63 [-4.8, 6.1]; p=0.82				
College degree	5.9 [-0.25, 11.6]; p=0.041	R ² =0.154	n=0.0002		
Consented caregiver (yes vs no)	-8.6 [-13.4, -3.8]; p=0.0005		p=0.0002		
PROMIS Informational Support	0.16 [-0.26, 0.57]; p=0.46				
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.50 [0.11, 0.90]; p=0.013				
PROMIS Instrumental Support	0.06 [-0.43, 0.55]; p=0.81				
PAM Sub-MODEL 2: Disease domain (n=179)					
Age (years)	-0.11 [-0.31, 0.09]; p=0.26			df=7	
Education level (ref=high school or less)					
Some college	1.5 [-4.2, 7.2]; p=0.60				
College degree	3.4 [-2.4, 9.2]; p=0.24				
Discharge destination (ref=home)		R ² =0.119	p=0.0026		
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation) 1.2 [-3.9, 6.3]; p=0.64					
SAR (subacute rehabilitation) -5.9 [-14.8, 3.0]; p=0.19					
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-5.5 [-10.4, -0.6]; p=0.027				
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.37 [-0.62, -0.12]; p=0.0036				

Table 3. 5 (cont'd)							
PAM Sub-MODEL 3: General Health domain (n=178)							
Age (years)	-0.12 [-0.32, 0.08]; p=0.24			df=6			
Education level (ref=high school or less)							
Some college	0.78 [-4.8, 6.4]; p=0.78						
College degree	2.7 [-3.1, 8.5]; p=0.36	R ² =0.115	p=0.0017				
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.44 [-0.97, 0.09]; p=0.10						
QOL (PROMIS global02)	3.1 [-0.1, 6.2]; p=0.057						
Perceived health status (PROMIS global01)	1.6 [-1.6, 4.8]; p=0.33						
PAM FINAL MODEL (n=177)							
Age (years)	-0.14 [-0.33, 0.05]; p=0.14			df=6			
Education level (ref=high school or less)							
Some college	0.82 [-4.6, 6.2]; p=0.77						
College degree	4.9 [-0.70, 10.6]; p=0.086	R ² =0.175	p<0.0001				
Consented caregiver (yes vs no)	-7.2 [-11.9, -2.4]; p=0.0035						
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.66 [0.36, 0.95]; p<0.0001						
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-5.5 [-10.1, -0.87]; p=0.020						

PAM = Patient Activation Measure

^a Bold results indicate significance at p<0.05 and were advanced to the final model in addition to age and education

Aim 3: Patient Factors Associated with Self-efficacy

Utilizing the same statistical approach as in Aim2, multivariable linear regression models were built to determine the set of variables that were independently associated with each of four PROMIS self-efficacy measures (Figure 2.3). The list of potential variables was selected from significant (p<0.1) bivariate simple linear regression analyses (Table 3.6). Again, age and education were forced into the models regardless of significance. Significant variables from domain-specific sub-models were advanced into a full multivariable model. Backwards selection where non-significant variables were dropped one at a time in order of largest to smallest p-value was used to identify the final, parsimonious models of significant variables. Results are presented for each outcome measure.

Table 3. 6: Bivariate associations between sociodemographic, support, disease, general health, and MISTT study domain factors and the T-							
scores of four PROMIS Self-Efficacy measures							
Variable ^a	SEMMT	SEMDA	SEME	SEMSI			
	Estimate [CI], p-value ^b						
SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC DOMAIN							
Age (years)	-0.078 [-0.18, 0.022]; p=0.13	-0.022 [-0.11, 0.066]; p=0.62	-0.06 [-0.17, 0.044]; p=0.25	0.044 [-0.045, 0.13]; p=0.34			
Sex							
-Female	-1.4 [-3.9, 1.0]; p=0.25	-3.2 [-5.4, -1.1]; p=0.0036	-3.9 [-6.4, -1.3]; p=0.0033	-0.83 [-3.0, 1.3]; p=0.45			
-Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Race ^c							
-White	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref			
-Non-white	-2.1 [-5.4, 1.1]; p=0.19	-2.5 [-5.3, 0.39]; p=0.09	-1.1 [-4.5, 2.4]; p=0.54	-1.7 [-4.6, 1.2]; p=0.25			
Education level	Overall p=0.65	Overall p=0.072	Overall p=0.79	Overall p=0.035			
-High school or less	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref			
-Some college	-0.15 [-3.1, 2.8]; p=0.92	0.93 [-1.7, 3.5]; p=0.48	-0.041 [-3.2, 3.1]; p=0.98	-1.6 [-4.2, 0.92]; p=0.21			
-College degree or more	1.2 [-1.9, 4.3]; p=0.45	3.2 [0.41, 5.9]; p=0.025	0.98 [-2.3, 4.3]; p=0.56	-3.6 [-6.3, -0.88]; p=0.009			
SUPPORT DOMAIN							
Living alone ^c							
-Yes	-0.66 [-3.5, 2.2]; p=0.65	-1.8 [-4.3, 0.74]; p=0.17	-1.5 [-4.5, 1.5]; p=0.32	-2.1 [-4.5, 0.40]; p=0.099			
-No	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Consented caregiver							
-Yes	-0.80 [-3.4, 1.8]; p=0.54	-0.60 [-2.9, 1.7]; p=0.61	-1.4 [-4.2, 1.3]; p=0.30	0.54 [-1.7, 2.8]; p=0.64			
-No	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref			
PROMIS Informational							
support	0.26 [0.12, 0.39]; p=0.0002	0.14 [0.012, 0.26]; p=0.031	0.25 [0.11, 0.40]; p=0.0007	0.46 [0.36, 0.57]; p<0.0001			
PROMIS Emotional support ^d	0.26 [0.10, 0.41]; p=0.0013	0.077 [-0.064, 0.22]; p=0.28	0.28 [0.12, 0.44]; p=0.0008	0.48 [0.36, 0.60]; p<0.0001			
PROMIS Instrumental support	0.26 [0.085, 0.44]; p=0.0040	0.14 [-0.022, 0.30]; p=0.090	0.23 [0.040, 0.42]; p=0.018	0.46 [0.31, 0.61]; p<0.0001			

Table 3. 6 (cont'd)						
DISEASE DOMAIN						
Stroke Severity ^e	Overall p=0.73	Overall p=0.60	Overall p=0.42	Overall p=0.71		
-Mild	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-Moderate	-0.0072 [-3.1, 3.0]; p=1.0	-0.30 [-3.0, 2.4]; p=0.83	0.36 [-2.9, 3.6]; p=0.83	-0.0071 [-2.7, 2.7]; p=1.0		
-Severe	-2.4 [-8.5, 3.6]; p=0.43	-2.7 [-8.1, 2.6]; p=0.32	-4.1 [-11, 2.3]; p=0.20	2.4 [-3.3, 8.0]; p=0.4`		
Discharge destination	Overall p=0.0042	Overall p<0.0001	Overall p=0.0023	Overall p=0.26		
-Home	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-Inpatient rehab (IPR)	-0.92 [-3.4, 1.6]; p=0.47	-4.8 [-7.0, -2.7]; p<0.0001	-0.80 [-3.5, 1.9]; p=0.56	-0.22 [-2.5, 2.1]; p=0.85		
-Subacute rehab (SAR/SNF)	-7.5 [-11.9, -3.1]; p=0.0010	-6.7 [-11, -2.9]; p=0.0006	-8.4 [-13, -3.7]; p=0.0005	-3.3 [-7.4, 0.73]; p=0.11		
Complete LOS (admission to	-0.037 [-0.16, 0.087];	-0.31 [-0.41, -0.21];	-0.049 [-0.18, 0.083];	-0.0066 [-0.12, 0.10];		
discharge home)	p=0.55	p<0.0001	p=0.47	p=0.91		
Stroke Risk Factors ^f	Overall p=0.86	Overall p=0.61	Overall p=1.0	Overall p=0.55		
-None	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-One	0.51 [-3.5, 4.5]; p=0.80	-0.51 [-4.1, 3.0]; p=0.78	0.18 [-4.1, 4.4]; p=0.93	1.9 [-1.6, 5.4]; p=0.28		
-Two or more	-0.30 [-3.9, 3.3]; p=0.87	-1.4 [-4.6, 1.8]; p=0.38	0.052 [-3.8, 3.8]; p=0.98	1.1 [-2.1, 4.2]; p=0.50		
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS) ^c						
-Mild (<u><</u> 2)	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-moderate/severe (3-5)	-3.6 [-6.1, -1.2]; p=0.0039	-7.4 [-9.4, -5.5]; p<0.0001	-4.6 [-7.2, -2.0]; p=0.0006	-2.5 [-4.7, 0.28]; p=0.027		
NeuroQOL emotional &	-0.26 [-0.39, -0.14];	-0.24 [-0.35, -0.13];	-0.51 [-0.63, -0,39];	-0.25 [-0.36, -0.14];		
behavioral dyscontrol	p<0.0001	p<0.0001	p<0.0001	p<0.0001		
GENERAL HEALTH DOMAIN						
Depressive symptoms	-0.65 [-0.88, -0.42];	-0.57 [-0.78, -0.37];	-0.96 [-1.2, -0.73];	-0.49 [-0.70, -0.29];		
(PHQ-9) ^c	p<0.0001	p<0.0001	p<0.0001	p<0.001		
Quality-of-Life						
(PROMIS global02) ^c	2.0 [0.70, 3.4]; p=0.0032	2.8 [1.6, 4.0]; p<0.0001	2.8 [1.4, 4.2]; p=0.0001	2.2 [0.98, 3.4]; p=0.0004		
Perceived Health status						
(PROMIS global01)	2.4 [1.0, 3.7]; p=0.0006	3.4 [2.3, 4.5]; p<0.0001	2.8 [1.4, 4.2]; p=0.0001	1.0 [-0.20, 2.22]; p=0.10		
MISTT STUDY DOMAIN						
MISTT Treatment Group	Overall p=0.42	Overall p=0.84	Overall p=0.97	Overall p=0.73		
-Usual Care	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-SWCM	-2.0 [-5.1, 1.0]; p=0.19	0.81 [-1.9, 3.5]; p=0.56	0.35 [-2.9, 3.6]; p=0.83	-0.90 [-3.6, 1.8]; p=0.52		
-SWCM+MISTT website	-0.93 [-4.0, 2.1]; p=0.55	0.36 [-2.4, 3.1]; p=0.79	0.30 [-3.0, 3.6]; p=0.86	0.036 [-2.7, 2.7]; p=0.98		
Table 3. 6 (cont'd)						
---------------------	---------------------------	-------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------		
MISTT Study Site	Overall p=0.11	Overall p=0.55	Overall p=0.39	Overall p=0.082		
-Sparrow	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref		
-St. Joseph Mercy	1.86 [-0.98, 4.7]; p=0.20	1.1 [-1.5, 3.6]; p=0.41	0.93 [-2.1, 3.6]; p=0.55	2.8 [0.34, 5.3]; p=0.026		
-Univ of Michigan	3.6 [-0.1, 7.3]; p=0.056	1.5 [-1.8, 4.9]; p=0.37	2.7 [-1.3, 6.7]; p=0.18	0.49 [-2.8, 3.7]; p=0.77		

SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments; SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities; SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions; SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

^a n=180 except where noted

^b Bold results indicate significance at p<0.1

^c n=179

^d n=178

^emild: NIHSS=1-5 or GCS=13-15, moderate: NIHSS=6-13 or GCS=5-12, severe: NIHSS=14-42 or GCS=3-4

^ffactors include history of transient ischemic attack [TIA], stroke, myocardial infarction, hypertension, atrial fibrillation, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and hyperlipidemia

<u>Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT)</u>

Bivariate analyses revealed that the three PROMIS informational, emotional, and instrumental support measures, single-item QOL, and perceived health were positively and significantly (p<0.10) associated with SEMMT, while discharge to subacute rehabilitaiton (SAR), moderate/severe post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, and PHQ9 (depressive symptoms) were negatively and significantly (p<0.10) associated with SEMMT(Table 3.6). Step 1 of the multivariable model building involved creating domain-specific sub-models using covariates that were significant in the bivariate screening analysis. Discharge destination, post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, and depressive symptoms retained significance in the domain-specific models and were then moved forward to the full model; age and education were retained regardless of significance (Table 3.7). Of the 10 variables that were significant in bivariate analyses, only three variables retained significant associations with SEMMT in the final model. Every 1-year increase in age (β =-0.13 [95% CI: -0.23, -0.03]) was associated with a 0.13 decrease in SEMMT T-score, meaning older patients were less confident in managing their medications and treatment. Similarly, for every 1-unit increase in PHQ9 score (β =-0.68 [95% CI: -0.91, -0.46]), SEMMT T-scores decreased by 0.68, indicating that those with more depressive symptoms were also less confident. Discharge destination was also independently associated with SEMMT and had an overall type 3 significance of p=0.046; discharging to subacute rehabilitation (SAR) vs home was associated with a 5.2 decrease in SEMMT (β =-5.2 [95% CI: -9.4, -1.0]). Although significant, neither age nor depressive symptoms had a large effect on SEMMT scores. The final multivariable model accounted for 22.9% of the variance in SEMMT the overall F-test p-value was <0.0001, rejecting the null hypothesis that all coefficients were equal to zero.

 Table 3. 7: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications and Treatments (SEMMT)

Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value ^a	R ²	Overall p-value	Degrees of Freedom (df)
SEMMT Base model (n=180)			·	•
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.19, 0.01]; p=0.088			df=3
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 = 0.021$	n = 0.20	
Some college	-0.84 [-3.9, 2.2]; p=0.58	R -0.021	p=0.29	
College degree	1.1 [-2.0, 4.2]; p=0.50			
SEMMT Sub-MODEL 1: Support domain (n=178)				
Age (years)	-0.11 [-0.21, -0.01]; p=0.033			df=6
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-0.85 [-3.8, 2.1]; p=0.57			
College degree	2.2 [-0.87, 5.2]; p=0.16	R ² =0.113	P=0.0021	
PROMIS Informational Support	0.16 [-0.06, 0.4]; p=0.15			
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.26 [-0.05, 0.37]; p=0.14			
PROMIS Instrumental Support	0.02 [-0.24, 0.28]; p=0.89			
SEMMT Sub-MODEL 2: Disease domain (n=179)				
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.19, 0.01]; p=0.078			df=7
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-0.35 [-3.2, 2.5]; p=0.81			
College degree	0.67 [-2.3, 3.6]; p=0.65			
Discharge destination (ref=home)		R ² =0.169	p<0.0001	
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	0.44 [-2.1, 3.0]; p=0.74			
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-4.8 [-9.3, -0.31]; p=0.036			
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-2.5 [-5.0, -0.08]; p=0.043			
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.25 [-0.37, -0.12]; p=0.0001			

Table 3. 7 (cont'd)					
SEMMT Sub-MODEL 3: General Health domains (n=178)					
Age (years)	-0.15 [-0.24, -0.05]; 0.0037			df=6	
Education level (ref=high school or less)					
Some college	-0.71 [-3.5, 2.1]; p=0.61				
College degree	0.87 [-2.0, 3.8]; p=0.55	R ² =0.205	P<0.0001		
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.67 [-0.93, -0.41]; p<0.0001				
QOL (PROMIS global02)	-0.08 [-1.6, 1.5]; p=0.92				
Perceived health status (PROMIS global01)	0.76 [-0.81, 2.3]; p=0.34				
SEMMT FINAL MODEL (n=178)					
Age (years)	-0.13 [-0.23, -0.03]; p=0.010			df=6	
Education level (ref=high school or less)					
Some college	-0.48 [-3.2, 2.3]; p=0.73				
College degree	0.93 [-1.9, 3.7]; p=0.51	P ² -0 220	D<0.0001		
Discharge destination (ref=home) ^b		K -0.229	P<0.0001		
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	-0.33 [-2.7, 2.0]; p=0.78				
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-5.2 [-9.4, -1.0]; p=0.015				
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.68 [-0.91, -0.46]; p<0.0001				

SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments

^a Bold results indicate significance at p<0.05 and were advanced to the final model in addition to age and education

^b Type 3 significance level: p=0.046

Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEMDA)

Bivariate screening analyses revealed 11 variables that were significantly (p<0.1) associated with selfefficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA): sex, race, education level, perceived emotional and instrumental support, discharge destination, post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, depressive symptoms, QOL, and perceived health status (Table 3.6). In domain-specific submodeling, sex, discharge destination, post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, PHQ9 (depressive symptoms), and perceived health status retained significance and contributed to the final model along with age and education (Table 3.8). The final multivariable model with eight degrees of freedom detected (significance of p<0.0001) overall F-test, thus rejecting the null hypothesis that all covariates were equal to zero. The model explained 43.3% of the variance in selfefficacy for managing daily activities. Variables that retained significance (p<0.05) and were negatively associated with this outcome included discharge destination, post-stroke disability, and PHQ9 (depression). Discharging to rehabilitation rather than home was associated with a decrease in SEMDA T-score - compared to discharging home scores were 3.3 units worse when discharged to acute rehabilitation (acute [IPR]: β =-3.3 [95% CI: -5.3, -1.4]) and 3.8 units worse when discharged to subacute rehabilitation [SAR]: β =-3.8 [95% CI: -7.1, -0.43]). SEMDA was also lower by 5.0 units in patients reporting moderate/severe post-stroke disability compared to those with mild disability (β =-5.0 [95% CI: -6.8, -3.1]), and with each 1-unit increase of PHQ-9 scores, SEMDA T-scores decreased by 0.35 indicating less self-efficacy among those with more depressive symptoms (β =-0.35 [95% CI: -0.55, -0.15]). Additionally, perceived health status was positively associated with SEMDA (β =1.8 [95% CI: 0.78, 2.9]); each unit increase in perceived health was associated with an increase of 1.8 in SEMDA T-score. In summary, the variables with the strongest association were discharge destination and post-stroke disability.

Table 3. 8: Multivariable linear regression models f	or factors associated with mean T-score	es of PROMIS Self	f-Efficacy for Ma	naging Daily
Activities (SEMDA)				
Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value ^a	R ²	Overall p-value	Degrees of Freedom (df)
SEMDA Base model (n=180)				
Age (years)	-0.02 [-0.12, 0.07]; p=0.59			df=3
Education level (ref=high school or less)		P ² -0 021	n = 0.14	
Some college	0.74 [-1.9, 3.4]; p=0.59	R -0.031	p=0.14	
College degree	3.1 [0.36, 5.9]; p=0.027			
SEMDA Sub-MODEL 1: Sociodemographic domain	n (n=180)			
Age (years)	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07]; p=0.68			df=5
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	0.85 [-1.8, 3.5]; p=0.52	P ² -0.094	P=0.0086	
College degree	3.0 [0.32, 5.7]; p=0.029	N -0.004		
Sex (female vs male)	-2.8 [-5.0, -0.65]; p=0.011			
Race (non-white vs white)	-2.2 [-5.0, -0.66]; p=0.13			
SEMDA Sub-MODEL 2: Support domain (n=180)				
Age (years)	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]; p=0.50			df=5
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	0.80 [-1.8, 3.4]; p=0.55	$P^2 - 0.060$	P=0.028	
College degree	3.7 [0.97, 6.5]; p=0.0084	R -0.009		
PROMIS Informational support	0.14 [-0.03, 0.32]; p=0.11			
PROMIS Instrumental support	0.04 [-0.19, 0.27]; p=0.73			
SEMDA Sub-MODEL 3: Disease domain (n=179)				
Age (years)	0.001 [-0.08, 0.08]; p=0.99			df=7
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	1.7 [-0.55, 3.9]; p=0.14			
College degree	2.2 [-0.14, 4.5]; p=0.066			
Discharge destination (ref=home)		R ² =0.353	P<0.0001	
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	-3.0 [-5.0, -0.98]; p=0.0038			
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-4.2 [-7.8, -0.71]; p=0.019			
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-5.8 [-7.7, -3.9]; p<0.0001			
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.19 [-0.29, -0.09]; p=0.0003			

Table 3. 8 (cont'd)						
SEMDA Sub-MODEL 4: General Health domain (n=178	SEMDA Sub-MODEL 4: General Health domain (n=178)					
Age	-0.05 [-0.13, 0.04]; p=0.26			df=6		
Education level (ref=high school or less)						
Some college	0.81 [-1.6, 3.2]; p=0.50					
College degree	2.4 [-0.11, 4.9]; p=0.06	R ² =0.250	p<0.0001			
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.42 [-0.64, -0.19]; p=0.0004					
QOL (PROMIS global02)	0.75 [-0.61, 2.1]; p=0.28					
Perceived health status (global01)	1.8 [0.47, 3.2]; p=0.0086					
SEMDA FINAL MODEL (n=178)						
Age (years)	-0.008 [-0.08, 0.07]; p=0.84			df=8		
Education level (ref=high school or less)						
Some college	1.5 [-0.66, 3.6]; p=0.18					
College degree	1.6 [-0.63, 3.8]; p=0.16					
Discharge destination (ref=home) ^b		P ² -0 422	n<0 0001			
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	-3.3 [-5.3, -1.4]; p=0.0006	K -0.455	p<0.0001			
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-3.8 [-7.1, -0.43] = p=0.027					
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-5.0 [-6.8, -3.1]; p<0.0001					
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.35 [-0.55, -0.15]; p=0.0005					
Perceived health status (global01)	1.8 [0.78, 2.9]; p=0.0008					

SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities

^a Bold results indicate significance at p<0.05 and were advanced to the final model in addition to age and education

^b Type 3 significance level: p=0.0016

Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME)

Significant bivariate associations for self-efficacy for managing emotions (SEME) included sex, perceived informational, emotional and instrumental support, discharge to SAR, moderate/severe post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, depressive symptoms, QOL, and perceived health status (Table 3.6). The four variables that advanced to the final model, in addition to age and education, were sex, discharge destination, post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, and PHQ9 (Table 3.9). The overall F-test for the final multivariable model was significant (p<0.0001), rejecting the null hypothesis that all covariates were equal to zero. The model used eight degrees of freedom and accounted for 44.8% of the variance in self-efficacy for managing emotions. Five variables were significantly (p<0.05) and negatively associated with this outcome: age, sex, discharge destination, NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, and PHQ9 (depression). With each 1-year age increase, SEME T-scores decreased by 0.12 units (β =-0.12 [95% CI: -0.21, -0.03]). Females were less confident than males by a difference of 2.4 T-score units (β =-2.4 [95% CI: -4.4, -0.29]). Discharge destination was independently associated with SEME (p=0.023); compared to discharging home, those who discharged to subacute rehabilitation scored 5.1 units lower on SEME (subacute [SAR]: β =-5.1 [-8.9, -1.3]). With every 1-unit increase in NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol T-score, SEME T-scores decreased 0.33 units (β =-0.33 [95% CI: -0.47, -0.20]), and with every 1-unit increase in PHQ9 score, SEME decreased 0.58 units (β =-0.58 [95% CI: -0.84, -0.32]). In summary, being female, discharging to SAR, having more emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, and more depressive symptoms were associated with less confidence to manage emotions. The strongest association was found among those discharging to SAR.

 Table 3. 9: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions

 (SEME)

(02:012)				
Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value ^a	R ²	Overall p-value	Degrees of Freedom (df)
SEME Base model (n=180)			praide	
Age (years)	-0.07 [-0.18, 0.04]; p=0.21			df=3
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 - 0.012$	n-0 F C	
Some college	-0.58 [-3.8, 2.6]; p=0.72	R =0.012	p=0.56	
College degree	0.87 [-2.5, 4.2]; p=0.61			
SEME Sub-MODEL 1: Sociodemographic domain (n=18)	-		-
Age (years)	-0.05 [-0.17, 0.05]; p=0.32			df=4
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-0.52 [-3.7, 2.6]; p=0.75	$P^2 - 0.054$	p=0.044	
College degree	0.62 [-2.6, 3.9]; p=0.71	K -0.054		
Sex (female vs male)				
Female	-3.7 [-6.3, -1.1]; p=0.0055			
SEME Sub-MODEL 2: Support domain (n=178)				
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.19, 0.02]; p=0.10			df=6
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-0.33 [-3.4, 2.8]; p=0.83			
College degree	2.0 [-2.3, 5.2]; p=0.23	R ² =0.097	p=0.0071	
PROMIS Informational Support	0.17 [-0.07, 0.40]; p=0.16			
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.21 [-0.02, 0.43]; p=0.069			
PROMIS Instrumental Support	-0.05 [-0.32, 0.22]; p=0.72			

Table 3. 9 (cont'd)				
SEME Sub-MODEL 3: Disease domain (n=179)				
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.18, -0.0003]; p=0.049			df=7
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	0.35 [-2.3, 3.0]; p=0.79			
College degree	0.70 [-2.0, 3.4]; p=0.61			
Discharge destination (ref=home)		R ² =0.375	p<0.0001	
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	0.78 [-1.6, 3.1]; p=0.52			
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-5.6 [-9.8, -1.5]; p=0.0083			
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-2.8 [-5.1, -0.56]; p=0.015			
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.49 [-0.61, -0.38]; p<0.0001			
SEME Sub-MODEL 4: General Health domain (n=178)			•	
Age (years)	-0.14 [-0.24, -0.05]; p=0.0032			df=6
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-0.55 [-3.3, 2.2]; p=0.69			
College degree	0.81 [-2.0, 3.6]; p=0.57	R ² =0.334	p<0.0001	
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.98 [-1.2, -0.72]; p<0.0001			
QOL (PROMIS global02)	0.35 [-1.2, 1.9]; p=0.65			
Health status (PROMIS global01)	0.30 [-1.2, 1.8]; p=0.70			
SEME FINAL MODEL (n=179)				
Age (years)	-0.12 [-0.21, -0.03]; p=0.011			df=8
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	0.11 [-2.4, 2.6]; p=0.93			
College degree	0.78 [-1.8, 3.3]; p=0.54			
Sex (female vs male)	-2.4 [-4.4, -0.29]; p=0.026	$D^2 - 0.449$	n <0.0001	
Discharge destination (ref=home) ^b		K =0.448	p<0.0001	
IPR (inpatient rehabilitation)	0.04 [-2.2, 2.1]; p=0.97			
SAR (subacute rehabilitation)	-5.1 [-8.9, -1.3]; p=0.0090			
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.33 [-0.47, -0.20]; p<0.0001			
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.58 [-0.84, -0.32]; p<0.0001			

SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions

^a Bold results indicate significance at p<0.05 and were advanced to the final model in addition to age and education

^b Type 3 significance level: p=0.023

Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (SEMSI)

Among significant (p<0.1) bivariate screening results, perceived informational, emotional, and instrumental support, QOL, and St. Joseph Mercy recruitment hospital were positively associated with self-efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI). On the other hand, having a college degree, living alone, moderate/severe post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, and depressive symptoms were negatively associated with the outcome (Table 3.6). Variables that retained significance (p<0.05) in the domain-specific sub-models and were advanced to the final multivariable model included PROMIS informational support, PROMIS emotional support, post-stroke disability, NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol, PHQ9, and MISTT study site (Table 3.10).

The final multivariable model accounted for 44.7% of the variance in self-efficacy for managing social interactions. It included seven degrees of freedom and the overall F-test was significant (p<0.0001), thus the null hypothesis that all covariates were equal to zero was rejected. Informational support (β =0.28 [95% CI: 0.15, 0.41]) and emotional support (β =0.24 [95% CI: 0.09, 0.38]) were both positively associated with SEMSI resulting in a 0.28 and 0.24 increase in SEMSI T-scores, respectively, with each 1-unit increase of support T-scores. Education was independently associated with SEMSI (p=0.044), and having a college degree compared to a high school degree or less was associated with a 2.7 decrease in SEMSI (β =-2.7 [95% CI: -4.8, -0.59]). Reporting moderate/severe post-stroke disability compared to mild disability was associated with a 2.3 lower SEMSI T-score (β =-2.3 [95% CI: -4.0, -0.49]) and with each 1-unit increase in PHQ9 scores, SEMSI T-scores decreased by 0.32 units (β =-0.32 [95% CI: -0.49, -0.14]). The largest effect sizes were from PAM's associations with education, and post-stroke disability.

 Table 3. 10: Multivariable linear regression models for factors associated with mean T-scores of PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Social

 Interactions (SEMSI)

Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value ^a	R ²	Overall	Degrees of
			p-value	Freedom (dt)
SEIVISI Base model (n=1/8)			1	1
Age (years)	0.04 [-0.05, 0.13]; p=0.38			df=3
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$B^2 = 0.042$	n=0.058	
Some college	-1.3 [-3.9, 1.3]; p=0.33	N =0.042	p=0.050	
College degree	-3.5 [-6.2, -0.82]; p=0.011			
SEMSI Sub-MODEL 1: Support domain (n=177)				
Age (years)	0.01 [-0.06, 0.09]; p=0.75			df=7
Education level (ref=high school or less)			p<0.0001	
Some college	-1.2 [-3.4, 1.0]; p=0.29			
College degree	-2.1 [-4.4, 0.17]; p=0.070	$D^2 - 0.265$		
Living alone (yes vs no)	-0.79 [-3.0, 1.4]; p=0.48	K -0.505		
PROMIS Informational Support	0.30 [0.14, 0.47]; p=0.0004			
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.24 [0.08, 0.40]; pp=0.0028			
PROMIS Instrumental Support	0.02 [-0.17, 0.22]; p=0.82			
SEMSI Sub-MODEL 2: Disease domain (n=177)				
Age (years)	0.03 [-0.06, 0.11]; p=0.53			df=5
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-1.1 [-3.5, 1.4]; p=0.40	$D^2 - 0.1 C 4$	m (0,0001	
College degree	-3.9 [-6.5, -1.4]; p=0.0029	R-=0.164	p<0.0001	
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <u><</u> 2)	-2.2 [-4.3, -0.15]; p=0.036			
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol	-0.23 [-0.34, -0.12]; p<0.0001			
SEMSI Sub-MODEL 3: General Health domain (n=176)			
Age (years)	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10]; p=0.76			df=5
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-1.2 [-3.7, 1.3]; p=0.33	$D^2 - 0.175$	n <0.0001	
College degree	-3.8 [-6.4, -1.3]; p=0.0037	R -0.175	h<0.0001	
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.39 [-0.62, -0.16]; p=0.0009			
QOL (PROMIS global02)	1.4 [0.16, 2.7]; p=0.27			

Table 3. 10 (cont'd)				
SEMSI Sub-MODEL 4: MISTT domain (n=178)				
Age (years)	0.01 [-0.05, 0.13]; p=0.41			df=5
Education level (ref=high school or less)				
Some college	-1.7 [-4.4, 0.93]; p=0.20			
College degree	-3.5 [-6.3, -0.78]; p=0.012	R ² =0.069	P=0.031	
MISTT study site (ref=Sparrow)				
St. Joseph Mercy	2.8 [0.29, 5.3]; p=0.029			
University of Michigan	1.3 [-2.0, 4.6]; p=0.44			
SEMSI FINAL MODEL (n=176)				
Age (years)	-0.01 [-0.08, 0.06]; p=0.79			df=7
Education level (ref=high school or less) ^b				
Some college	-1.1 [-3.2, 0.89]; p=0.27			
College degree	-2.7 [-4.8, -0.59]; p=0.013	$P^2 = 0.447$ $p < 0.0001$		
PROMIS Informational Support	0.28 [0.15, 0.41]; p<0.001	K -0.447	p<0.0001	
PROMIS Emotional Support	0.24 [0.09, 0.38]; p=0.0018			
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-2.3 [-4.0, -0.49]; p=0.012			
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)	-0.32 [-0.49, -0.14]; p=0.0006			

SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

^a Bold results indicate significance at p<0.05 and were advanced to the final model in addition to age and education

^b Type 3 significance level: p=0.044

In summary of the final models, several variables were significantly associated with more than one domain of self-efficacy, however, only increased depressive symptoms was associated with all selfefficacy measures (Table 3.11). In partial support of my hypothesis, age was negatively associated with SEMMT and SEME, but effect sizes were small and similar for both. Regardless, these small effect sizes could result in meaningful differences between stroke survivors at opposite ends of the age spectrum. Contrary to my hypothesis, sex was associated with SEME where females had a modestly lower confidence. Unexpectedly, education was only associated with self-efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) where being highly educated (college degree) was associated with lower selfefficacy compared to those who had a high school education or less. PROMIS informational support and emotional support were both independently associated with SEMSI, although effect size was small, whereas PROMIS instrumental support was not significantly associated with any of the self-efficacy domains. As expected, discharging to subacute rehabilitation (SAR) was independently associated with lower SEMMT, SEMDA and SEME when compared to those discharging home, however, discharging to acute rehabilitation (IPR) was also independently associated with lower SEMDA, in opposite direction of the hypothesized effect. Post-stroke disability was only associated with two self-efficacy domains – SEMDA and SEMSI. It was negatively associated with both domains but, as expected, had a larger effect for SEMDA (β =-5.0) than for SEMSI (β =-2.3). NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol was negatively associated with SEME only. As hypothesized, increasing depressive symptoms was independently associated with lower self-efficacy for all four domains and produced small effect sizes ranging from -0.32 to -0.68. Perceived health status was only associated with SEMDA with a positive, modest effect size. Contrary to my hypotheses, living alone, stroke severity, stroke risk factors, and QOL were not associated with self-efficacy. Patient factors that were not associated with any of the selfefficacy measures included race, living alone, stroke severity, stroke risk factors, MISTT treatment group, and MISTT study site.

final Aim 2 and Aim 3 multivariable linear regression models					
Variable	PAM	SEMMT	SEMDA	SEME	SEMSI
Age (years)		-		-	
Sex (female vs male)				-	
Race (non-white vs white)					
Education level (college degree vs high school or					_
less)					_
Living alone (yes vs no)					
Consented caregiver (yes vs no)	-				
PROMIS Informational support					+
PROMIS Emotional support	+				+
PROMIS Instrumental support					
Stroke Severity					
Discharge destination (IPR vs home, SAR vs home)		SAR: -	IPR: - SAR: -	SAR: -	
Complete LOS (days)					
Stroke Risk Factors					
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-		-		-
NeuroQOL emotional & behavioral dyscontrol				-	
Depressive symptoms (PHQ9)		-	-	-	-
Quality-of-Life (PROMIS global02)					
Perceived Health status (PROMIS global01)			+		
MISTT Treatment Group					
MISTT Study Site					

Table 3. 11: Summary of the independent variables significantly associated with each outcome in the

 final Aim 2 and Aim 3 multivariable linear regression models

PAM = Patient Activation Measure; SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments; SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities; SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions; SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

IPR = acute rehabilitation; SAR = subacute rehabilitation

LOS = length of stay

+ indicates statistically significant positive association with the outcome in final multivariable model

- indicates statistically significant negative association with the outcome

Aim 4: Associations between Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation (PAM): Exploration of Confounding

and Effect Moderation

To understand the associations between four measures from the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing

Chronic Conditions domain and PAM, results from the final models in Aim 2 and Aim 3 were used to

build multivariable models exploring confounding and effect moderation.

Confounding

This aim was achieved by building a series of models. Variables that were significant in the final multivariable regression models of both PAM (Aim 2) and self-efficacy (Aim 3) were considered as potential confounders (Table 3.11). PROMIS emotional support and post-stroke disability were the only two variables that fulfilled this criteria.

First, simple linear regression was performed to document the crude relationships between each PROMIS self-efficacy measure and PAM as the dependent variable (Table 3.12). In these bivariate models, all associations between self-efficacy and PAM were positive and significant (p<0.05), although small in magnitude given that each increase in self-efficacy T-score was associated with less than a 1unit change in PAM. Self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT) accounted for the most variation in PAM (20.8%), followed by self-efficacy for managing emotions (SEME) (13.8%), selfefficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) (8.0%), and self-efficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA) (7.8%).

Table 3. 12: Bivariate associations between Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation (PAM)					
Variable	Estimate [CI]: n-value	R ²	Overall	Degrees of	
Vallable		N N	p-value	Freedom (df)	
SEMMT	0.88 [0.62, 1.1]; p<0.001	R ² =0.208	p<0.0001	df=1	
SEMDA	0.60 [0.30, 0.91]; p=0.0001	R ² =0.078	p=0.0001	df=1	
SEME	0.67 [0.42, 0.92]; p<0.0001	R ² =0.138	p<0.0001	df=1	
SEMSI	0.62 [0.30, 0.93]; p=0.0001	R ² =0.080	p=0.0001	df=1	

SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments; SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities; SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions; SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

Next, a-priori variables of age and education were introduced, and these "base models" served as the comparison model to determine confounding by PROMIS emotional support and post-stroke disability variables. Model 1 was simply the addition of post-stroke disability to the base model, while model 2 was the addition of PROMIS emotional support to the base model. The final model included self-efficacy, age, education, post-stroke disability, and PROMIS emotional support. Confounding was

considered if the self-efficacy β coefficient was attenuated >10% when comparing models 1 and 2 to the base model (Figure 2.3). These steps were repeated, separately, for each PROMIS self-efficacy measure to determine their relationship with PAM. Results for each series of self-efficacy and PAM models are shown in Tables 3.13-3.16.

Adding a-priori variables of age and education (base model in Tables 3.13-3.16) resulted in minimal shifts of the self-efficacy β coefficients for all models except SEMSI which had a 13% change (Table 3.16). Entering age and education into the SEMSI model separately revealed that education was solely responsible for the confounding effect (data not shown).

Post-stroke disability (s-mRS) was identified as a confounding variable only in the model examining the association between SEMDA and PAM. Self-efficacy remained significant but was 19% attenuated when post-stroke disability was entered into the model (Table 3.14, sub-model 1). Adjusting for post-stroke disability (s-mRS) had no confounding impact in model 1 for SEMMT (Table 13.13), SEME (Table 13.15), or SEMSI (13.16). The regression coefficients for post-stroke disability (s-mRS) were significantly associated with PAM in the final models of SEME (Table 13.15) and SEMSI (Table 13.16) after controlling for self-efficacy, age, education, and PROMIS emotional support. Post-stroke disability was not significantly associated with PAM in the final models of SEMMT (Table 3.13) and SEMDA (Table 3.14).

Perceived emotional support, on the other hand, was a confounding factor in all self-efficacy and PAM analyses. Adding perceived emotional support to the base model resulted in attenuations of 12%, 17%, 17%, and 21% for SEMMT, SEMDA, SEME, and SEMSI coefficients, respectively (model 2, Tables 13.13-13.16). After controlling for self-efficacy, age, education, and post-stroke disability in each final model, the PROMIS emotional support β coefficient remained significantly associated with PAM.

The final models, adjusted for confounding effects of age, education, post-stroke disability, and perceived emotional support resulted in attenuation of the relationship between all four self-efficacy

domains and PAM, in the magnitude of 16% for SEMMT (Table 3.13), 43% for SEMDA (Table 3.14), 27% for SEME (Table 3.15), and 37% for SEMSI (Table 3.16). Despite substantial attenuation, self-efficacy remained significantly associated with PAM for all domains except SEMDA, which was marginally non-significant after adjustment. Additionally, final models accounted for little of the variation in PAM, with R² values ranging from 0.15 (15%) to 0.25 (25%).

Table 3. 13: Self-Efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression					
confounding analysis					
Variable	Estimato [CI]: p valuo	D ²	Overall	Degrees of Freedom (df) and	
Valiable	Estimate [CI], p-value	n	p-value	Comments	
SEMMT & PAM Crude (bivariate) model (n=1	80)				
SEMMT	0.88 [0.62, 1.1]; p<0.001	R ² =0.208	p<0.0001	df=1	
SEMMT & PAM BASE MODEL (n=180)					
SEMMT	0.86 [0.61, 1.1]; p<0.0001			df=4	
Age (years)	-0.02 [-0.20, 0.16]; p=0.81	D ² -0 212			
Education level (ref=high school or less)		R-=0.213	p<0.0001	2% attenuation of SEMMT β	
Some college	1.2 [-4.0, 6.4]; p=0.65			coefficient from crude model	
College degree	2.9 [-2.5, 8.3]; p=0.29				
SEMMT & PAM Sub-MODEL 1: Post-stroke Di	sability (n=179)		·	·	
SEMMT	0.83 [0.57, 1.1]; p<0.0001			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.03 [-0.20, 0.15]; p=0.78				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		D ² -0 221	m 10 0001	3% attenuation of SEMMT β	
Some college	1.6 [-3.6, 6.8]; p=0.55	R-=0.231	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	2.7 [-2.7, 8.1]; p=0.32				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <u><</u> 2)	-3.8 [-8.3, 0.57]; p=0.088				
SEMMT & PAM Sub-MODEL 2: Emotional Sup	port (n=178)		·	-	
SEMMT	0.76 [0.50, 1.0]; p<0.0001			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.06 [-0.24, 0.12]; p=0.54				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		D ² -0 222	m 10 0001	12% attenuation of SEMMT β	
Some college	1.3 [-3.9, 6.5]; p=0.63	R==0.232	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	4.0 [-1.4, 9.3]; p=0.15				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.33 [0.04, 0.61]; p=0.024				
SEMMT & PAM FINAL MODEL (n=177)			·	-	
SEMMT	0.72 [0.44, 0.99]; p<0.0001			df=6	
Age (years)	-0.06 [-0.24, 0.12]; p=0.50				
Education level (ref=high school or less)				16% attenuation of SEMMT β	
Some college	1.6 [-3.6, 6.7]; p=0.55	R ² =0.251	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	3.7 [-1.7, 9.1]; p=0.18				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-4.3 [-8.7, 0.18]; p=0.060				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.36 [0.07, 0.64]; p=0.015				

Table 3. 14: Self-Efficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis					
Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value	R ²	Overall p-value	Degrees of Freedom (df) and Comments	
SEMDA & PAM Crude (bivariate) model (n=180)					
SEMDA	0.60 [0.30, 0.91]; p=0.0001	R ² =0.078	p=0.0001	df=1	
SEMDA & PAM BASE MODEL (n=180)					
SEMDA	0.58 [0.26, 0.89]; p=0.0004	D ² 0.005		df=4	
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.28, 0.11]; p=0.38				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		R ² =0.085	p=0.0037	3% attenuation of SEMDA β	
Some college	0.06 [-5.6, 5.7]; p=0.98			coefficient from crude model	
College degree	2.0 [-3.8, 7.9]; p=0.50				
SEMDA & PAM Sub-MODEL 1: Post-stroke Disability (n=179)					
SEMDA	0.47 [0.11, 0.83]; p=0.010			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.28, 0.11]; p=0.38		02 7-0.0044		
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 - 0.002$		19% attenuation of SEMDA β	
Some college	0.38 [-5.3, 6.1]; p=0.89	K -0.095	p=0.0044	coefficient from base model	
College degree	2.1 [-3.8, 7.9]; p=0.49				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-3.3 [-8.7, 2.1]; p=0.22				
SEMDA & PAM Sub-MODEL 2: Emotional Supp	port (n=178)				
SEMDA	0.48 [0.17, 0.79]; p=0.0029			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.13 [-0.32, 0.06]; p=0.18				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$R^2 - 0.134$	n = 0.0001	17% attenuation of SEMDA β	
Some college	0.18 [-5.3, 5.7]; p=0.05	N -0.134	p=0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	3.6 [-2.2, 9.4]; p=0.22				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.50 [0.21, 0.79]; p=0.0009				
SEMDA & PAM FINAL MODEL (n=177)					
SEMDA	0.33 [-0.03, 0.69]; p=0.069			df=6	
Age (years)	-0.13 [-0.32, 0.06]; p=0.18				
Education level (ref=high school or less)				43% attenuation of SEMDA β	
Some college	0.53 [-5.0, 6.0]; p=0.85	R ² =0.149	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	3.7 [-2.1, 9.4]; p=0.22				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-4.6 [-9.8, 0.70]; p=0.089				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.54 [0.24, 0.83]; p=0.0005				

Table 3. 15: Self-Efficacy for managing emotions (SEME) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis						
Variable	Estimate [CI]; p-value	R ²	Overall p-value	Degrees of Freedom (df) and Comments		
SEME & PAM Crude (bivariate) model (n=180)						
SEME	0.67 [0.42, 0.92]; p<0.0001	R ² =0.138	p<0.0001	df=1		
SEME & PAM BASE MODEL (n=180)						
SEME	0.66 [0.41, 0.91]; p<0.001		147 p<0.0001	df=4		
Age (years)	-0.05 [-0.24, 0.13]; p=0.58	$D^2 - 0.147$				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		R-=0.147		1% attenuation of SEME β		
Some college	0.87 [-4.6, 6.3]; p=0.75			coefficient from crude model		
College degree	3.2 [-2.3, 8.8]; p=0.25					
SEME & PAM Sub-MODEL 1: Post-stroke Disability (n=179)						
SEME	0.61 [0.33, 0.86]; p<0.0001			df=5		
Age (years)	-0.05 [-0.24, 0.13]; p=0.57		2 0 1 6 1			
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 - 0.161$		8% attenuation of SEME β		
Some college	1.1 [-4.3, 6.6]; p=0.68	K -0.101	h<0.0001	coefficient from base model		
College degree	2.9 [-2.7, 8.6]; p=0.30					
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-4.0 [-8.7, 0.65]; p=0.091					
SEME & PAM Sub-MODEL 2: Emotional Suppo	ort (n=178)					
SEME	0.55 [0.29, 0.81]; p<0.0001			df=5		
Age (years)	-0.09 [-0.28, 0.09]; p=0.33					
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 = 0.171$	n<0.0001	17% attenuation of SEME β		
Some college	0.77 [-4.6, 6.1]; p=0.78	K -0.171	h<0.0001	coefficient from base model		
College degree	4.4 [-1.2, 10.0]; p=0.12					
PROMIS Emotional support	0.38 [0.08, 0.68]; p=0.012					
SEME & PAM FINAL MODEL (n=177)						
SEME	0.48 [0.21, 0.75]; p=0.0006			df=6		
Age (years)	-0.10 [-0.28, 0.09]; p=0.30					
Education level (ref=high school or less)				27% attenuation of SEME β		
Some college	1.0 [-4.4, 6.4]; p=0.71	R ² =0.191	p<0.0001	coefficient β coefficient from base		
College degree	4.0 [-1.5, 9.6]; p=0.16			model		
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-4.8 [-9.4, -0.12]; p=0.044					
PROMIS Emotional support	0.42 [0.12, 0.72]; p=0.0059					

Table 3. 16: Self-Efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) and Patient Activation (PAM) multivariable regression confounding analysis					
Variable	Estimate [CI]: p value	P ²	Overall	Degrees of Freedom (df) and	
	Estimate [CI], p-value	n	p-value	Comments	
SEMSI & PAM Crude (bivariate) model (n=178)					
SEMSI	0.62 [0.30, 0.93]; p=0.0001	R ² =0.080	p=0.0001	df=1	
SEMSI & PAM BASE MODEL (n=178)					
SEMSI	0.70 [0.39, 1.0]; p=0.0001			df=4	
Age (years)	-0.13 [-0.32, 0.06]; p=0.18	$P^2 - 0.119$			
Education level (ref=high school or less)		K -0.110	p=0.0002	13% inflation of SEMSI β coefficient	
Some college	1.5 [-4.1, 7.1]; p=0.59			from crude model	
College degree	6.9 [1.1, 12.7]; p=0.020				
SEMSI & PAM Sub-MODEL 1: Post-stroke Disability (n=177)					
SEMSI	0.65 [0.33, 0.97]; p<0.0001			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.12 [-0.31, 0.06]; p=0.19				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		$P^2 - 0.129$	n<0.0001	7% attenuation of SEMSI β	
Some college	1.7 [-3.8, 7.3]; p=0.53	K -0.136	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	6.3 [0.45, 12.2]; p=0.035				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <u><</u> 2)	-4.4 [-9.1, 0.28]; p=0.065				
SEMSI & PAM Sub-MODEL 2: Emotional Supp	ort (n=178)				
SEMSI	0.55 [0.19, 0.91]; p=0.0032			df=5	
Age (years)	-0.14 [-0.33, 0.04]; p=0.13				
Education level (ref=high school or less)		P ² -0 122	n=0.0001	21% attenuation of SEMSI β	
Some college	1.3 [-4.2, 6.8]; p=0.64	N -0.135	p=0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	6.9 [1.1, 12.6]; p=0.020				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.29 [-0.04, 0.63]; p=0.085				
SEMSI & PAM FINAL MODEL (n=177)		1			
SEMSI	0.44 [0.07, 0.82]; p=0.020			df=6	
Age (years)	-0.14 [-0.33, 0.04]; p=0.14				
Education level (ref=high school or less)				37% attenuation of SEMSI β	
Some college	1.5 [-4.0, 7.0]; p=0.60	R ² =0.160	p<0.0001	coefficient from base model	
College degree	6.0 [0.21, 11.8]; p=0.042				
Post-stroke disability (s-mRS 3-5 vs <2)	-5.4 [-10.1, -0.66]; p=0.026				
PROMIS Emotional support	0.36 [0.02, 0.71]; p=0.038				

Moderation

Lastly, two-way interactions were explored between each self-efficacy measure and age, education,

post-stroke disability, and perceived emotional support with PAM score as the dependent outcome

(Figure 2.5). No significant interactions were detected (p<0.05) (Table 3.17). In conclusion, none of the

variables that were explored for interaction effects serve as moderators of the associations between

self-efficacy and patient activation.

Table 3. 17: Moderation analysis of Self-Efficacy and the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) – Interaction effects of four self-efficacy measures with age, education, post-stroke disability, and perceived emotional support

Interaction Term	Type III p-value ^a	Degrees of Freedom (df)
7-day Self-Efficacy for Managing Medications & Treat		
SEMMT*age (years)	df=1	
SEMMT*education level (ref=high school or less)	p=0.22	df=2
SEMMT*post-stroke disability (s-mRS <2 vs 3-5)	p=0.49	df=1
SEMMT*PROMIS emotional support	p=0.32	df=1
7-day Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities (SEN		
SEMDA*age (years)	p=0.19	df=1
SEMDA*education level (ref=high school or less)	p=0.20	df=2
SEMDA*post-stroke disability (s-mRS <a>2 vs 3-5)	p=0.88	df=1
SEMDA*PROMIS emotional support	p=0.42	df=1
7-day Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions (SEME)		
SEME*age (years)	p=0.28	df=1
SEME*education level (ref=high school or less)	p=0.09	df=2
SEME*post-stroke disability (s-mRS <2 vs 3-5)	p=0.81	df=1
SEME*PROMIS emotional support	p=0.31	df=1
7-day Self-Efficacy for Managing Social Interactions (
SEMSI*age (years)	p=0.86	df=1
SEMSI*education level (ref=high school or less)	p=0.47	df=2
SEMSI*post-stroke disability (s-mRS <2 vs 3-5)	p=0.71	df=1
SEMSI*PROMIS emotional support	p=0.47	df=1

SEMMT = self-efficacy for managing medications & treatments; SEMDA = self-efficacy for managing daily activities; SEME = self-efficacy for managing emotions; SEMSI = self-efficacy for managing social interactions

DISCUSSION

Stroke transitions of care are often challenging for survivors who face a variety of medical and psychosocial needs that change over the recovery period. Achieving successful transitions from hospital to home and attaining community reintegration involves engagement, health management, education, well-being, continuity of care, and accountability.¹² Effective self-management is a key contributor to addressing multiple transitional care components and ultimately achieving better long term control of stroke deficits, addressing modifiable risk factors, and improving stroke prevention strategies. Self-efficacy and patient activation are distinct yet related constructs important to successful self-management and care transitions. Self-efficacy measures an individual's confidence to perform a specific task or activity,³² whereas patient activation is a broader construct measuring an individual's knowledge, skill, and confidence for managing their general health and health care.²³ The overarching goal of this secondary analysis of MISTT data was to explore indicators of self-efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain and the patient activation measure (PAM), as well as factors that may confound or moderate these relationships among a population of acute stroke patients.

Patient Activation

In this population of ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke survivors returning back to their communities, the mean PAM score obtained shortly after patients returned home was 64.5 (SD: 16.1; range 30.4 to 100.0). Higher PAM scores indicate greater activation. Mean scores in the MISTT population are a few points higher than the mean score of 62 (SD: not reported) derived from a large national US population (n=1,469); however, perfect scores of 100 were excluded when generating that population estimate in an attempt to control for socially desirable response bias.⁷² Dropping the 15 MISTT patients with PAM scores of 100 results in a mean PAM score of 61.3 (SD: 12.5), clearly closer to the mean score from Hibbard's nationally representative sample. Studies conducted among specific patient populations

have shown mean PAM scores in the range of 57 to 72; these means were calculated by including the entire spectrum of possible scores from 0 to 100. For example, two studies of diabetics had mean baseline PAM scores of 64.1 (SD: 15.0)⁴⁸ and 71.5 (SD: 12.8),⁴⁹ respectively, while another produced a mean of 57 (SD: not reported);⁸¹ chronically ill individuals with concurrent depression had average baseline scores of about 60 (intervention: 60.2 [SD: 13.2]; control: 58.2 [SD: 13.9]);³⁹ and the mean PAM scores for patients prior to undergoing lumbar spinal surgery was 58.5 (SD: 15.1).⁴² Among employees that were not selected for disease condition, mean scores were 69 (SD: 15.4).⁷⁵ The range in mean scores studies is clinically meaningful, but not statistically different due to overlapping standard deviations. One study suggests that a 5-point change in PAM indicates a clinically meaningful change in healthier behaviors,⁷⁵ but to the author's knowledge no other estimates of minimally clinical important differences have been established for PAM. Insignia Health, the company that now owns rights to PAM, also claims that even a 1-point change in PAM can be considered meaningful.⁸¹

Only two exploratory studies have assessed PAM among stroke survivors. The median PAM scores (60.6 [IQR: 51.0, 73.5]) obtained in this MISTT analysis are lower than median PAM scores of 75.3 (IQR: 69, 80) derived from a small group (n=20) of stroke survivors, measured 1-12 months post-stroke.¹¹³ In another small ⁵⁰ study of stroke survivors (n=10) and Multiple Sclerosis patients (n=10) who had been diagnosed for at least 6-months and were undergoing neuro-rehabilitation, median PAM scores at baseline were 56.4 (IQR: 52.9, 63.9) and 63.0 (IQR: 51.5, 71.3) in control and intervention groups. Due to the small sample sizes and exploratory nature of these two studies, reliability and generalizability of these data are very limited.

PROMIS Self-Efficacy Domains

PROMIS self-efficacy responses are converted into a T-score, which is standardized to a mean of 50 and standard deviation of 10. Standardization for the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain was established with a clinical population consisting of individuals with a wide range of general

and neurologic chronic conditions, including angina, arthritis, asthma, cancer, coronary artery disease, diabetes, myocardial infarction, COPD, congestive heart failure, HIV/AIDS, renal disease, hepatic disease, migraines, epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, neuropathy, Parkinson's disease, spinal cord injury, or stroke.³² Although the number of stroke survivors within the general chronic conditions population were not reported, only 20% (167/837) of the chronic neurologic participants were stroke survivors. In this MISTT analysis, mean T-scores for three of the PROMIS self-efficacy domains are similar to standardized means of 50 (SD=10): self-efficacy for managing medications and treatments (SEMMT) T-score = 47.0 (SD: 8.4), self-efficacy for managing emotions (SEME) T-score = 50.2 (SD: 8.9), and self-efficacy for managing social interactions (SEMSI) T-score = 49.8 (SD: 7.4). However, the self-efficacy for managing daily activities (SEMDA) T-score was 43.5 (7.5), which is more than half a standard deviation (i.e., >5 points) lower than the standardized mean which may be considered a clinically meaningful difference. Daily activities includes functional tasks related to bathing, grooming, dressing, ambulating, cooking, etc. Functional deficits are common consequences of stroke. They often directly impact daily activities, are easily identified immediately post-stroke, and are an important focus of stroke recovery and rehabilitation. As such, patients with newly acquired functional deficits may be acutely aware of their deficits and have less confidence in their ability to perform associated daily tasks. It is possible that the time point of our data collection, which occurred within the first week and a half following return to home, actually reflects a time point where patients are more aware of functional challenges and have not yet developed or experienced awareness of emotional or social challenges associated with community reintegration. Thus, our results of patients having lower confidence in SEMDA might reflect this greater awareness and immediate impact of functional deficit. On the other hand, patients may not have been home long enough to recognize or experience challenges related to independently managing medications, managing emotions, or managing social interactions. Alternatively, and regardless of when data were collected in relation to the stroke event, acute stroke may have greater impact on daily

activities but similar impact on medication management, emotions, and social interactions as experienced by the chronically ill clinical population used to standardize mean PROMIS self-efficacy T-scores.

Associations between PROMIS Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation

The following sections will discuss the meaning and relevance of the results generated from each Aim of this thesis analysis. The goals of Aim 1 were to establish correlation coefficients to explore construct validity of the underlying theory that the patient activation construct involves a component of self-efficacy. Aims 2 and 3 were focused on identifying patient factors associated with patient activation and self-efficacy, respectively, among acute stroke survivors. Aim 4 then explored if any of the identified factors from Aims 2 and 3 confounded or moderated the relationships between each PROMIS self-efficacy measure and PAM.

Aim 1: Correlation between PROMIS Self-Efficacy and Patient Activation

Concurrent with previous studies supporting the theory that self-efficacy and patient activation are related constructs, ^{34-38,40} Pearson correlation coefficients generated in Aim 1 of this analysis were positive and significant, revealing that modest linear relationships exist between PROMIS self-efficacy measures and PAM. As hypothesized, PAM was most strongly correlated with SEMMT (r=0.46), likely because the two measures share similar questions pertaining to one's confidence in medication management. Medication knowledge, adherence, and access are critically important aspects to successful transitions of care and disease self-management, but are certainly not the sole contributors to patient activation. Both SEMDA and SEMSI had weaker correlations with PAM (both r=0.28), while SEME had a slightly stronger correlation (r=0.38). Unexpectedly, SEMDA had a weaker correlation with PAM than SEME and had identical results as SEMSI. Correlation coefficients remained stable in the sensitivity analysis when raw PAM sums, rather than transformed scores, were used to form two restricted sub-scales – one containing six confidence-related questions (PAM-CR) and one containing the

remaining seven questions (PAM-nonCR). The results support an underlying conceptualization that confidence is part of the PAM construct, which holds true across multiple self-efficacy domains. Correlations between the self-efficacy measures and the two PAM sub-scales (PAM-CR and PAM-nonCR) were very similar, suggesting that self-efficacy is a concept associated with all PAM questions, regardless of whether or not the question explicitly addresses one's confidence. These results refute my hypothesis that questions directly addressing confidence (PAM-CR) would have greater correlation with self-efficacy compared to correlations between self-efficacy and PAM questions that did not directly address confidence (PAM-nonCR). Despite psychometric testing that supports PAM as a unidimensional measure,²³ other authors have suggested that PAM may actually be multidimensional, indicating there are discrete, distinct constructs within PAM that should be reported as sub-scales.^{37,38,79,131} Confirming dimensionality is outside the scope of simple correlations, thus future work with MISTT data, including more advanced statistical methods such as factor analysis or latent class analysis, might shed further light on the underlying conceptual structure of PAM and on the underlying relationships and constructs between PROMIS self-efficacy measures and PAM.¹¹⁴ Future studies designed to establish construct validity of PAM using other self-efficacy measures, in addition to the PROMIS self-efficacy measures, are also warranted.

Aim 2: Factors Associated with Patient Activation

Aim 2 explored patient factors associated with patient activation. I hypothesized that education, discharge to acute rehabilitation (compared to home or subacute rehabilitation), better QOL, and greater perceived health status would be positively associated with PAM, while older age, post-stroke disability, and depressive symptoms would be negatively associated with PAM. Greater perceived emotional support was a significant, positive, independent, factor associated with PAM, whereas greater post-stroke disability and having a caregiver consented to MISTT were significant, independent factors negatively associated with PAM. These results supported my hypothesized relationship between PAM

and post-stroke disability, but refuted my hypothesis that greater perceived support and having a caregiver participate in the MISTT study would not be significantly associated with PAM. Selfmanagement and patient activating interventions often aim to increase social support, however, few studies have directly evaluated the relationship between support outcomes and PAM. Support is not always clearly defined and may refer to several different types of support, including educational support, practical support, and emotional support. Congruent with my results, baseline levels of social support were associated with higher PAM scores among a large sample reporting chronic conditions⁸⁰ and a population of geriatric adults.¹³² Evidence also shows that having a family support network results in better outcomes (e.g., glucose monitoring, readmissions, mortality, self-management, etc.) for patients with diabetes, ^{133,134} heart failure, ^{135,136} and chronic illnesses, ^{134,137} but these studies did not address the effect of support on patient activation using PAM.

Consenting to participate in the MISTT trial may serve as a proxy for caregiver behaviors, possibly indicating a high level of engagement in the caregiving role. Caregiver motivation for being highly engaged could be based on a wide range of factors including, but not limited to a lack of confidence in their new caregiving role, anticipation that their loved-one will need additional help beyond their own caregiving capacity, knowing their loved-one lacks self-confidence and activation to manage their stroke recovery, or merely a reflection of strong family support. This raises interesting questions about the how the dyad relationship between caregiver and patient may impact levels of activation and engagement. Regardless of the caregiver's ability or motivation, patients who had a participating caregiver had lower levels of activation, after controlling for age, education, emotional support, and post-stroke disability. The inverse relationship found in this study differs from previous studies that measured the amount of perceived family support, independent of the caregiver's study participation. The variable of "consented caregiver" used in this thesis analysis is not a known measure of the support network available to the patient, thus it can only be hypothesized as a proxy indicating engaged

caregiver behaviors. Perhaps patient activation was lower when the caregiver was engaged (i.e., consented to participate in MISTT) because their loved-one knew there was someone to rely on for taking care of the things they were uncertain about or, alternatively, because the patient perceived their interactions with the caregiver as negative. Although this theory isn't directly addressed in previous patient activation literature, self-efficacy literature shows that caregiver involvement can have unintended negative effects. In an intervention study of a psychosocial education program for arthritis patients and their partners, those with partners had lower Arthritis Self-Efficacy and higher fatigue.¹³⁸ Likewise, additional studies among older adults with chronic conditions found caregiver involvement confidence.^{134,139}

The finding that greater post-stroke disability was negatively associated with patient activation, is similar to previous studies showing negative associations between disability/severity and patient activation among non-stroke populations.^{112,140} During the first week at home, stroke patients are still learning to cope with their deficits and are discovering how these deficits impact day-to-day living. Since data were collected shortly after return to home, lower activation levels likely reflect the fact that patients have not had enough recovery time to acquire the skills and knowledge to build self-confidence for actively managing their deficits.

Aim 3: Factors Associated with PROMIS Self-Efficacy

Similar to Aim 2, Aim 3 explored patient factors associated with each of the four PROMIS self-efficacy domains. I hypothesized that:

 H1: Education, perceived informational support, emotional support, discharge to acute rehabilitation (vs home or subacute rehabilitation), QOL, and perceived health status will be positively associated with the four PROMIS self-efficacy measures

- H2: Age, living alone, stroke severity, post-stroke disability, stroke risk factors, and depressive symptoms will be negatively associated with self-efficacy measures
- H3: Discharge destination, stroke risk factors, and post-stroke disability will be more strongly associated with self-efficacy for managing medications and treatment and for managing daily activities.
- H4: Living alone and depressive symptoms will be more strongly associated with self-efficacy for managing emotions and for managing social interactions.

Most of these hypotheses were only partially supported by my results. Unexpectedly, in multivariable modeling, only four variables were consistently associated across two or more PROMIS self-efficacy measures, including depressive symptoms (PHQ-9), discharge destination, age, and post-stroke disability. Education, PROMIS informational support, and PROMIS emotional support were only associated with SEMSI, where having a college degree was associated with less SEMSI and having great support was positively associated with SEMSI. Sex was only significantly associated with SEME, where females were associated with lower self-efficacy scores, and perceiving better health status was positively associated with only SEMDA. Contrary to my hypotheses, no associations were found between any of the self-efficacy measures and living alone, stroke severity, or stroke risk factors. Perhaps because these factors were partially reflected in discharge destination and post-stroke disability. Additionally, post-stroke emotional and behavioral dyscontrol was independently and inversely associated with SEME, even after controlling for age, education, sex, discharge destination, and depressive symptoms.

Results from the multivariable models supported my hypothesis that depressive symptoms are negatively associated with all four PROMIS self-efficacy domains. Depressive symptoms had larger magnitude of association with SEMMT and SEME and were associated at a smaller magnitude with

SEMDA and SEMSI, which only partially supported my fourth hypotheses. Contrary to my hypothesis, depression had stronger inverse association with SEMMT than SEMSI, possibly because patients hadn't been home long enough to realize how their depression might affect their social interactions. Currently, medication complexity for MISTT participants has not been analyzed; however, the negative association between SEMMT and depression could be explained if those with depression also have more complex medications (total number of medications and medication changes, new medications, dose, frequency, route, etc.) and thus experience more difficulty managing their medication treatments. Future MISTT analyses could explore the association between medication complexity and SEMMT, along with whether the number or complexity of medications differs between patients with different levels of depressive symptoms.

Despite evidence that post-stroke rehabilitation programs are associated with increased self-efficacy,¹⁴¹ discharge destination revealed inverse associations of discharge to acute rehabilitation with SEMDA and discharge to subacute rehabilitation with SEMMT, SEMDA, and SEME. These results refute my first hypothesis that acute rehabilitation has a positive relationship with self-efficacy. Discharging to subacute rehabilitation, compared to discharging home, was associated with lower confidence for managing medications/treatments, daily activities, and emotions, which likely reflects the fact that patients experiencing more severe stroke and greater medical needs discharge to subacute rehabilitation. Clearly patients discharging directly home rather than to either acute or subacute rehabilitation have greater SEMDA, again, likely due to the differences patient characteristics that lead to an initial discharge location other than home, including post-stroke disability level.

In partial support of my hypothesis, age was inversely related to SEMMT and SEME, but not significantly associated with SEMDA or SEMSI. In contrast, one study found that SEME was higher in older individuals and that mean SEMMT T-scores were similar across age.³² However, the authors did not use multivariable models to control for confounding, but only, compared mean T-scores within each

demographic variable. Future analyses of MISTT data could explore the distribution of stroke severity, medication complexity, and post-stroke disability by age to help explore explanations for these results.

As hypothesized, post-stroke disability (s-mRS) was negatively associated with SEMDA and SEMSI. Patients with more severe impairment likely experience restricted activity that also creates social isolation. Although not directly comparable to the results of this thesis, previous work has shown a moderate inverse correlation between SEMDA and mRS scores (r= -0.47), along with strong correlation between SEMDA and PROMIS physical function (r=0.78) and PROMIS Global physical health (r=0.75). SEMSI was also significantly and inversely correlated with mRS, but at a much weaker level (r= -0.23), while the other PROMIS self-efficacy measures had even weaker correlations.³²

In summary, multivariable models found older age, discharge to a subacute rehabilitation facility (SAR), and greater depressive symptoms were independently and inversely associated with SEMMT. Better perceived health status was positively associated with SEMDA, while discharging to an acute or subacute rehabilitation facility (IPR or SAR), greater post-stroke disability, and greater depressive symptoms were independent, negatively associated factors. SEME was inversely associated with older age, female gender, discharge to SAR, greater emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, and greater depressive symptoms. Finally, SEMSI was positively associated with greater emotional and informational support and inversely associated with having a college degree, greater post-stroke disability, and greater depressive symptoms.

The only comparable study that explored difference in demographic variables across PROMIS selfefficacy measures is the original validation study of the PROMIS self-efficacy measures for managing chronic conditions, conducted by Gruber-Baldini et. al.³² Following development work that involved expert opinion, patient focus groups, and patient cognitive interviewing, Gruber-Baldini conducted a cross-sectional study among 1,087 individuals, including 837 (77%) individuals with a chronic neurologic

condition and 250 individuals with at least one general chronic condition. The chronic neurologic population was recruited from an academic ambulatory neurology clinic, while the population with general chronic conditions was recruited from an online research community; disease duration across the whole cohort was an average of 10.1 years (SD: 10.7). ANOVA methods determined differences in PROMIS self-efficacy T-scores within each participant demographic variable. The authors found that across the five PROMIS self-efficacy measures, T-scores within each measure differed significantly by most demographic characteristics, including age, race, sex, ethnicity, education, marital status, annual income, employment status, and recruitment population. Results from my multivariable analysis identified independent variables that differed from the observed variables and directions of association expected from Gruber-Baldini's work. For example, race was not a significant factor in my final models and older age was associated with worse SEME rather than better SEME; age was not independently associated with SEMDA or SEMSI. Sex was associated with SEME and SEMDA and was lower in females, while Gruber-Baldini only found significant associations with SEMMT where females had higher Tscores. Inconsistencies between the results found in this thesis analysis and the Gruber-Baldini's validation study may be due to differences in study populations, study design, and data collection methods. Of particular note, MISTT involved acute stroke survivors whose self-efficacy was measured within the first month of returning home compared to the validation study of mixed conditions with an average chronicity/duration of 10-years. Acute stroke survivors may experience and respond differently to physical and emotional unmet needs and challenges that result in different levels of confidence during the acute phase of recovery/transition than in a more chronic phase where greater time has elapsed in relation to the acute health event. In addition to the differences between an acute and chronic health event, experiences and responses contributing to self-efficacy may differ between stroke and other conditions.

Aim 2 and Aim 3 revealed that PROMIS self-efficacy domains and PAM shared only two common independent risk factors – self-reported post-stroke disability (s-mRS) and perceived emotional support. Depressive symptoms (PHQ9) were independently associated with all four self-efficacy measures (Aim 3) but not PAM (Aim 2), which was surprising given the strong empirical evidence for associations between depression and PAM.^{35,37,40,46,80,82,83,111,112,137,140,142-144} Factors associated with increased levels of patient activation or self-efficacy may serve as important intervention targets for tailoring programs to achieve better self-management, transitions of care, and health outcomes. For example, addressing depression or social support with a patient-centered approach may lead to increased self-efficacy, resulting in better outcomes. Much of the available patient activation research has been limited to exploring factors associated with PAM within clinical populations of diabetes, arthritis, heart disease, COPD, and mental health conditions. Only one pilot study has explored patient activation exclusively in stroke but this was exploratory and limited to 20 patients.¹¹³ Factors associated with PAM vary across populations, and future studies are needed to confirm the generalizability of this current analysis. Self-efficacy has served as a popular theoretical framework for numerous interventions, even among stroke populations.^{55,68,70,145} Factors associated with self-efficacy have been explored with regression analyses using various different measures, but to the author's knowledge similar studies do not exist for the PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domains. More work is needed to confirm the results generated in this work and to confirm demographic differences in self-efficacy during the acute post-stroke period. This analysis is limited to measures collected, on average, within the first 10-days after patients returned home, early in the post-stroke recovery phase when patients are still discovering their needs and limitations. It is possible that some patients overestimated their activation or domainspecific confidence because they hadn't yet identified existing unmet needs or realized the impact of ongoing deficiencies on their ability to return to their previous social and functional roles. The timing of our data collection has the potential to impact both self-efficacy and patient activation results.

Particularly among stroke, the timing of self-efficacy and patient activation assessments will need to be carefully considered when comparing results to more stable chronic disease populations, and ideal timing for measurement needs to be established.

Ultimately, this cross-sectional analysis contributes insight to the relationships between factors associated with self-efficacy and patient activation, but cannot confirm causal relationships. Further information is needed to characterize and understand how factors impact changes in these outcomes over time, but such relationships cannot be determined from this thesis analysis because only starting (baseline) values were examined. Future MISTT analyses will evaluate the associations between factors with 90-day self-efficacy and patient activation outcomes, and their change between 7-day and 90-day time points. Additional work is needed to understand post-stroke activation and self-efficacy across the spectrum of recovery trajectories and unmet need profiles, as well as how self-efficacy and activation among stroke compares to other chronic disease or healthy populations.

Aim 4: The Relationship between PROMIS Self-Efficacy domains and Patient Activation

As hypothesized for Aim 4, all self-efficacy domains were significantly associated with patient activation in crude, unadjusted linear regression models. Refuting my hypothesis, discharge destination, depressive symptoms and QOL were not significantly associated with self-efficacy or PAM in Aims 2 and 3 and, therefore, were not selected to test for confounding effects in Aim 4. Instead, only post-stroke disability and perceived emotional support were selected. As expected, unadjusted associations between self-efficacy and PAM attenuated when covariates were introduced into the models; these associations remained significant for all self-efficacy domains except SEMDA.

Confounding occurs when the covariate is both associated with the independent variable (self-efficacy) and the dependent variable (patient activation), and thereby attenuates (i.e., reduces) the association between the independent and dependent variables. If the covariate is known or hypothesized to be
part of the causal pathway between the independent and dependent variables, then the effect is manifest by mediation where the relationship between the independent and dependent variables occurs *through* the covariate. Mediation typically involves the same analytical methods (i.e., multivariable modelling) as confounding, therefore, distinguishing whether a covariate is a mediator or confounder is driven by external knowledge and cannot be solely determined by statistical methods. It is also challenging to reliably establish mediation effects using cross-sectional data because the timeorder of the relationship between the independent and dependent variables is unknown. To summarize the results of the exploratory confounding analyses performed in Aim 4, perceived emotional support attenuated the relationship between all four self-efficacy domains and PAM, whereas post-stroke disability (s-mRS) only attenuated the relationship between SEMDA and PAM. Both post-stroke disability and perceived emotional support confounded the relationship between SEMDA and PAM. Interestingly, in the final adjusted model, the association between SEMDA and PAM lost significance where the SEMDA coefficient was attenuated 43%. This result suggests a need to further explore the relationship between SEMDA and post-stroke disability, as well as to explore SEMDA as a mediator

In partial support of my hypothesis, the magnitude of the association between SEMSI and PAM was lower than the magnitude of SEMMT and PAM, however, the association of PAM was unexpectedly lower with SEMDA than with SEME. Again, this may reflect the timing of data collection in relation to the short period of time patients had after returning home and the proximity to their stroke event. It may also reflect the domains of self-efficacy that are more prevalent in patient activation as measured in the PAM.

Social support has been described as containing three main elements – emotional support (i.e. caring, empathy, acceptance), informational support (i.e., providing knowledge), and instrumental support (i.e. practical support). The literature offers evidence that perceived social support influences post-stroke

outcomes including participation, leisure activities, activities of daily living, functioning,¹⁴⁶ and also particularly depression.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ However, interventions designed to increase post-stroke support when tested in RCTs have been largely unsuccessful in creating meaningful changes in mood or depression.¹⁴⁹ This thesis analysis supports the idea that perceived emotional support, which is an independent predictor of both self-efficacy and patient activation, also attenuates the relationship between selfefficacy and PAM. The PROMIS emotional support measure reflects perceived feelings of being cared for and valued.¹¹⁹ Support is important to assess, and should be integrated into interventions by establishing trusted relationships with patients/families and helping patients build social support systems. Support should also be controlled in analyses involving stroke populations. In addition to PROMIS emotional support, PROMIS informational support and PROMIS instrumental support had significant bivariate associations with self-efficacy and patient activation, but these relationships became non-significant after further adjustment and so were excluded from final models. Emotional support was the only support measure that had a consistent and strong relationship in the current analyses, but the effects of the other two support measures may have been suppressed due to collinearity with emotional support.

Post-stroke disability, on the other hand, was associated with both SEMDA and SEMSI, but only confounded the relationship between SEMDA and PAM. Both SEMDA and s-mRS assess the domain of activities encountered as part of everyday living and have overlapping items that address either confidence for performing the activity/task (SEMDA) or functional ability (post-stroke disability).

The context of patient-reported responses, cognitive-behavioral status, and mental and physical health outcomes is complex and diverse among individuals. Covariates in the current analyses were considered as confounders in part due to the cross-sectional nature of this data, but the covariates of post-stroke disability and perceived social support might be functioning as mediators rather than confounders. Both variables could conceivably fit into the causal pathway. To the author's knowledge, no studies have

explored the mediation effects of self-reported outcomes (such as post-stroke disability and perceived emotional support) on the relationship between self-efficacy and PAM. In fact, many analyses consider either PAM or self-efficacy as the mediator, rather than the dependent variable. Further analyses is needed to explore the temporal relationships of whether self-efficacy may impact a person's response to self-reported outcomes that may, in turn, influence self-reported activation. Given that neither age nor education level are hypothesized in the causal pathway of self-efficacy and patient activation, they more readily meet the definition of confounding, not mediation.

In support of my hypothesis, no interaction effects were detected between self-efficacy domains (SEMMT, SEMDA, SEME, SEMSI) and age, education, post-stroke disability, or perceived emotional support. This finding reveals that none of these third variables moderated the relationships between self-efficacy and patient activation, meaning that self-efficacy and PAM associations were constant across different levels of the third variable.

This thesis addresses current gaps in the limited use of PAM among stroke populations, minimal data available from the recent PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions measures, and the limited information about what impacts the direct associations between self-efficacy and patient activation in the acute post-stroke transition period. Fewer risk factors and potential confounders were identified during this acute post-stroke recovery phase than hypothesized. Further work is need to identify if relationships between self-efficacy, patient activation, and patient risk factors differ in the acute versus chronic post-stroke recovery phases and how these variables change over time in stroke survivors. Additionally, further work is need to understand what interventions may affect stroke survivor self-efficacy and patient activation. MISTT data will be used to begin explore these areas because follow-up data at 90-days can be used to quantify changes in PROMIS self-efficacy and PAM measures, but future studies will be needed to confirm results.

Clinical Implications

This work found that among stroke survivors in their acute transitional care period, patient activation and self-efficacy are related constructs; higher levels of self-efficacy are associated with higher levels of activation. Perceived emotional support and self-reported post-stroke disability are important variables to control for in analyses because, within the context of these exploratory analyses, they appear to confound the relationships between self-efficacy and activation. Additional analyses, using longitudinal data, could help further distinguish between these confounding effects and potential mediation effects. Among the four measures of self-efficacy assessed, only SEMDA had a mean score that was meaningfully below the standardized mean T-score of 50. In theory, self-efficacy is modifiable; therefore, medical providers, community service personnel, and informal caregivers should support stroke survivors in ways that will increase their confidence in adapting to perform daily activities. Mean scores of PAM, SEMMT, SEME, and SEMSI were similar to means previously established using either standardized populations (self-efficacy) or nationally representative samples (PAM). However, MISTT data was collected an average of 10-days after returning home, potentially before the patient had time to encounter meaningful community and role integration. Thus, these results cannot be extrapolated to later recovery periods, and the results from this analysis should not be grounds for immediately disregarding activation or self-efficacy domains, including SEMMT, SEME, and SEMSI, from selfmanagement strategies. Fortunately, MISTT 90-day follow-up data offers an opportunity to explore intervention effects and changes over time.

Self-efficacy or patient activation scores should not be used as a proxy measure for survivors' needs, specifically assuming that high self-efficacy or patient activation levels reflect an absence of need. On the contrary, these assessments should be used in conjunction with biopsychosocial and other needs assessments. While biopsychosocial assessments identify specific domains of need, PAM measures can identify the patient's global capabilities related to knowledge, skill, and confidence. Jointly, these tools

can be used to guide post-stroke intervention and management plans to encourage successful, tailored, patient-centered self-management practices. To date, self-efficacy measures have been largely reserved for research purposes, although implementing self-efficacy assessments in clinical practice may offer additional insight into areas for targeted intervention activities. Addressing the role of self-efficacy measures as clinical assessment tools or quality metrics would need to be explored through future implementation research. Regardless of what measurement tools are implemented into standard practice, increasing confidence and encouraging stroke survivors to have an active role in their health are important elements of any post-stroke transitional care and recovery program.

Strengths and Limitations

Strengths of this analysis include utilization of measures from the recently validated PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Chronic Conditions domain.³² Stroke survivors were included in the clinical populations used to validate these measures,³² although no information was provided about their recovery status and they were grouped together with individuals with other chronic neurologic conditions. To the author's knowledge, this work is the first to determine associations between PROMIS self-efficacy measures and PAM for any population. Understanding these relationships is important for grounding the new PROMIS self-efficacy measures with previous literature and providing further evidence for their usefulness, particularly because of the growing advocacy to utilize PROMIS measures and PAM in clinical practice. It is also the first analysis to identify risk factors associated with PAM in acute stroke survivors who have recently returned home, and the first to explore direct relationships between post-stroke self-efficacy and patient activation. Additionally, this analysis included a broad, community-hospital population of 180 stroke survivors, which is a larger sample size than many of the previous patient activation studies.

This thesis analysis also has several limitations. First, performing a cross-sectional analysis limits the ability to determine causality due to the lack of temporality. However, understanding associations at

one time point is the first step in interpreting changes that occur over time and how these baseline factors may influence longitudinal relationships. I plan to conduct longitudinal analyses, but they were outside the scope of this work. Secondly, 7-day interviews were conducted shortly after randomization occurred and intervention initiation. Although collecting baseline data after randomization could have produced a social desirability response bias, the possibility is unlikely because data were collected early in the intervention exposure period, likely before any sustained intervention activities were established. Of note, bivariate analysis found no significant differences in mean self-efficacy or PAM scores across the three MISTT treatment groups. Third, data were collected via telephone interviews but the interviewers and other staff were not blind to treatment group, which could have resulted in interviewer bias where interviewers alter their interview approach based on treatment group. Ultimately, interview bias can influence participants to respond differently, creating a systematic measurement bias and threatening validity of study results. The original intent that data collectors be blinded to group assignment proved impractical because, without prompting, most patients reported their experience with the intervention during the data collection interview. Similar to the issue of social desirability bias above, we believe that potential measurement bias is unlikely because outcome measures were collected using validated multi-item patient-reported instruments with standardized response options that did not require interviewer interpretation or observation.

Fourth, in this exploratory work, many statistical models were tested, but the level of significance was maintained at p<0.05 and not adjusted for multiple comparisons. Thus, it is possible that some of the significant findings are false positive results that result from performing multiple tests. Bonferroni-like corrections could have been applied to adjust the level of p-value used to detect significance; however, our approach is typical for exploratory analyses. Ultimately, these results need to be confirmed and validated by obtaining results from pre-specified hypotheses and pre-specified statistical tests.

Finally, generalizability is limited by the time point of data collection and population characteristics. These cross-sectional outcomes were collected within the immediate in-home transition period after patients returned home. As such, results cannot be generalized to survivors further along in their recovery or transition period. Additionally, a majority of this population (58%) self-reported mild poststroke disability (defined as s-mRS score \leq 2); but a more severely affected population may generate different results.

Future Directions

This thesis was an exploratory analysis to identify associations between four self-efficacy domains related to self-management and patient activation among stroke survivors and to explore potential confounding factors and effect modifiers. Future work is planned to perform similar cross-sectional analyses using MISTT data collected 3-months after returning home, followed by longitudinal analysis to explore associations between baseline factors, 90-day self-efficacy and PAM values, and changes in selfefficacy and PAM over time. Likewise, performing mediation analyses could distinguish the role of poststroke disability and perceived emotional support as mediators or confounders between self-efficacy and patient activation, as well as inform whether self-efficacy or patient activation mediate the MISTT intervention effect on patient outcomes such as QOL, depression, anxiety, or readmissions. Understanding the context of SWCM intervention delivery, including how specific goals and tasks map back to the self-efficacy measures (e.g., SEMMT), may enhance our understanding of treatment effect across sub-groups and provide insight into causal pathways. Additionally, further analysis is needed to understand the mediating effects of post-stroke factors such as emotional and behavioral dyscontrol, functional deficits, and perceived support. Determining which patient-reported measures are sensitive enough to detect changes resulting from transitional care and self-management interventions will be important for informing appropriate assessment tools, outcomes, and intervention targets for both

clinical and research practices. There is also need to design future studies to determine the sensitivity of these measures to stroke-specific interventions compared to general chronic disease interventions.

Finally, future studies are needed to confirm the results found in this thesis analyses and to expand our understanding of self-efficacy and patient activation across the spectrum of stroke recovery and transitional care experiences.

Conclusions

In conclusion, cross-sectional results generated during the acute post-stroke transitional care period revealed significant associations between self-efficacy and patient activation. After adjusting for age, education, perceived emotional support, and post-stroke disability, three PROMIS self-efficacy domains, including managing medications and treatments, managing emotions, and managing social interactions, were significantly associated with PAM, whereas perceived emotional support and post-stroke disability entirely attenuated the association between self-efficacy for managing daily activities and patient activation. These results emphasize the importance that psychosocial aspects of recovery have on survivors' overall post-stroke engagement for managing their own health conditions. The findings also emphasize the role of support and post-stroke disability as potential confounders. It is important that transitional care interventions not only target medical needs such as medication management and functional recovery, but also include support for managing emotions and social reintegration. Additional work is needed to confirm these exploratory results and establish activation levels within acute stroke populations.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: PROMIS Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities, Item Bank

Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities

Please respond to each question or statement by marking one box per row.

	CURRENT level of confidence	I am not at all confident	I am a little confident	I am somewhat confident	I am quite confident	I am very confident
SEMDA001	I can take a bath or shower			□ 3	4	5
SEMDA002	I can eat without help from anyone		2	3	4	5
SEMDA003	I can take care of my personal hygiene without help from anyone (for example: brush my teeth, comb my hair, shave, apply makeup)		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMDA004	I can dress myself in the way I want to be dressed (including buttoning clothes and putting on shoes)		□2	□ 3	4	5
8EMDA005	I can get in and out of bed without falling .	1	2	3	4	5
8EMDA006	I can get in and out of a chair	1	2	3	4	5
SEMDA007	I can get to the bathroom in time		2	3	4	5
SEMDA008	I can manage my clothes when I need to use the toilet		2	3	4	5
SEMDA009	I can stand for 5 minutes (for example: waiting in a line, waiting for a bus)		□2	3	4	5
SEMDA010	I can walk around inside my house		2	3	4	5
SEMDA011	I can walk a block (about 300 feet or 100 meters) on flat ground		□2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDA012	I can exercise at a moderate level for 10 minutes (for example: walking briskly, biking, swimming, aerobics)		□2	□ 3	□ 4	5
8EMDA013	I can exercise at a vigorous level for 10 minutes (for example: running, jogging)		□2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDA014	I can get around in an unfamiliar environment		2	3	4	5

Last Updated: 5 August 2016 © 2010 - 2016 PROMIS Health Organization and PROMIS Cooperative Group

Page 1 of 3

	CURRENT level of confidence	I am not at all confident	I am a little confident	I am somewhat confident	I am quite confident	I am very confident
SEMDADIS	I can travel to a new destination alone		2	3	4	5
SEMDADIS	I can go outside in challenging weather for me		2	3	4	5
SEMDA017	I can climb one flight of stairs (with or without rails)		□ 2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDADIS	I can go shopping and run errands		2	3	4	5
SEMDAD19	I can perform my daily activities even if someone is rushing me		2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDA020	I can lift and carry groceries		2	3	4	5
SEMDA021	I can perform my household chores		2	3	4	5
SEMDA022	I can drive a car		2	3	4	5
SEMDA023	I can use public transportation		2	3	4	5
SEMDA024	I can keep doing my usual activities at work		2	3	4	5
SEMD A025	I can use a computer (for example: use keyboard, see screen, login)		2	3	4	5
SEMD A026	I can use a telephone to schedule an appointment		2	3	4	5
SEMD A027	I can engage in hobbies or recreational activities		□ 2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDA028	I can take care of others (for example: cook for others, help them dress, watch children)		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMDA029	I can maintain my finances (for example: write checks, pay bills)		□ 2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDADDO	I can maintain a regular exercise program			□ 3	4	5
SEMDAD21	I can concentrate on something difficult		2	3	4	5

PROMIS Item Bank v1.0 - Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities

Last Updated: 5 August 2016 © 2010 - 2016 PROMIS Health Organization and PROMIS Cooperative Group

Page 2 of 3

	CURRENT level of confidence	I am not at all confident	I am a little confident	I am somewhat confident	I am quite confident	I am very confident
SEMDA032	I can prepare my own meals (for example: plan and cook full meals by myself)		2	3	4	5
SEMDADID	I can take my medications in the right doses and at the right times		2	3	4	5
SEMDA024	I can find new ways to manage daily activities when the old way doesn't work		2	□ 3	4	5
SEMDA025	I can recognize risks (for example: handling hot liquids, walking on uneven ground) and take steps to prevent accidents		□ 2	□ 3	4	5

PROMIS Item Bank v1.0 - Self-Efficacy for Managing Daily Activities

APPENDIX B: Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions, Item Bank

PROMIS Item Bank v1.0 - Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions

Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions

Please respond to each question or statement by marking one box per row.

	CURRENT level of confidence	I am not at all confident	I am a little confident	I am somewhat confident	I am quite confident	I am very confident
SEMEM001	I can keep anxiety from becoming overwhelming		2	3	4	5
SEMEM002	I can use relaxation to deal with worries		2	3	4	5
SEMEMOD	I can relax my body to reduce my anxiety .		2	3	4	5
SEMEM004	I can manage anxiety about injuring myself or others (for example: falling, dropping a child, a driving accident)		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMEMOOS	I can focus on something else to decrease anxiety		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMEMODE	I can prevent my illness from making me feel discouraged		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMEM007	I can avoid feeling helpless		2	3	4	5
SEMEMODE	When I'm feeling down, I can find ways to make myself feel better		□ 2	3	4	5
SEMEMOOR	I can manage my frustration		2	3	4	5
SEMEM010	I can bounce back from disappointment		2	3	4	5
SEMEMO11	I can avoid becoming angry	1	2	3	4	5
SEMEM012	I can avoid feeling discouraged		2	3	4	5
SEMEMON	I can hear about symptoms and side effects without getting discouraged		2	3	4	5
SEMEM014	I can avoid upsetting thoughts		2	3	4	5

Last Updated: 5 August 2016 © 2010 - 2016 PROMIS Health Organization and PROMIS Cooperative Group Page 1 of 2

	CURRENT level of confidence	I am not at all confident	I am a little confident	I am somewhat confident	I am quite confident	I am very confident
SEMEMO15	I can handle negative feelings	1	2	3	4	5
SEMEMOIS	I can handle upsetting situations		2	3	4	5
SEMEM017	I can keep emotional distress from interfering with things I want to do		2	3	4	5
SEMEMOIR	I can find ways to manage stress		2	3	4	5
SEMEMOID	I can handle the stress of going for treatment of my medical conditions		2	3	4	5
SEMEM021	I can manage the loss of my ability to do things that are important to me (for example: parenting, work, hobbies, attend school)		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMEM022	I can manage my anxiety about telling others I have health problems		2	3	4	5
SEMEM023	I can manage my anger when others make insensitive comments about my health problems		□ 2	□ 3	□ 4	5
SEMEM024	I can manage my anger when others don't understand what I am going through		2	□ 3	4	5
SEMEMO25	I can stay positive when I feel like I am the only one going through this		2	□ 3	4	5
SEMEM026	I can use a strategy (for example: humor, leaving a situation) to keep from getting upset			□ 3	4	5

PROMIS Item Bank v1.0 - Self-Efficacy for Managing Emotions

Last Updated: 5 August 2016 © 2010 - 2016 PROMIS Health Organization and PROMIS Cooperative Group Page 2 of 2 REFERENCES

REFERENCES

1. Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2018;137:e67-e492.

2. Walsh ME, Galvin R, Loughnane C, Macey C, Horgan NF. Factors associated with community reintegration in the first year after stroke: a qualitative meta-synthesis. Disability and Rehabilitation 2015;37:1599-608.

3. Wesselhoff S, Hanke TA, Evans CC. Community mobility after stroke: a systematic review. Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation 2018;25:224-38.

4. Naylor MD, Aiken LH, Kurtzman ET, Olds DM, Hirschman KB. The care span: The importance of transitional care in achieving health reform. Health Aff (Millwood) 2011;30:746-54.

5. Kind AJ, Smith MA, Frytak JR, Finch MD. Bouncing back: patterns and predictors of complicated transitions 30 days after hospitalization for acute ischemic stroke. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2007;55:365-73.

6. Forster A, Brown L, Smith J, et al. Information provision for stroke patients and their caregivers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;11:CD001919.

7. Burke RE, Jones CD, Coleman EA, Falvey JR, Stevens-Lapsley JE, Ginde AA. Use of post-acute care after hospital discharge in urban and rural hospitals. American Journal of Accountable Care 2017;5:16-22.

8. Woodman P, Riazi A, Pereira C, Jones F. Social participation post stroke: a meta-ethnographic review of the experiences and views of community-dwelling stroke survivors. Disability and Rehabilitation 2014;36:2031-43.

9. Tornbom K, Hadartz K, Sunnerhagen KS. Self-Perceived Participation and Autonomy at 1-Year Post Stroke: A Part of the Stroke Arm Longitudinal Study at the University of Gothenburg (SALGOT Study). Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases 2018;27:1115-22.

10. Tornbom K, Persson HC, Lundalv J, Sunnerhagen KS. Self-Assessed Physical, Cognitive, and Emotional Impact of Stroke at 1 Month: The Importance of Stroke Severity and Participation. Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases 2017;26:57-63.

11. Tse T, Binte Yusoff SZ, Churilov L, et al. Increased work and social engagement is associated with increased stroke specific quality of life in stroke survivors at 3 months and 12 months post-stroke: a longitudinal study of an Australian stroke cohort. Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation 2017;24:405-14.

12. Naylor MD, Shaid EC, Carpenter D, et al. Components of Comprehensive and Effective Transitional Care. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2017;65:1119-25.

13. Prvu Bettger J, Alexander KP, Dolor RJ, et al. Transitional care after hospitalization for acute stroke or myocardial infarction: a systematic review. Annals of Internal Medicine 2012;157:407-16.

14. Barlow J, Wright C, Sheasby J, Turner A, Hainsworth J. Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions: a review. Patient Education and Counseling 2002;48:177-87.

15. Jones F, Riazi A. Self-efficacy and self-management after stroke: a systematic review. Disability and Rehabilitation 2011;33:797-810.

16. Lorig KR, Holman H. Self-management education: history, definition, outcomes, and mechanisms. Annals of Behavioral Medicine 2003;26:1-7.

17. Bodenheimer T, Lorig K, Holman H, Grumbach K. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. JAMA 2002;288:2469-75.

18. Lennon S, McKenna S, Jones F. Self-management programmes for people post stroke: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil 2013;27:867-78.

19. Fryer CE, Luker JA, McDonnell MN, Hillier SL. Self management programmes for quality of life in people with stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016:CD010442.

20. Puhr MI, Thompson HJ. The Use of Transitional Care Models in Patients With Stroke. J Neurosci Nurs 2015;47:223-34.

21. Reeves MJ, Hughes AK, Woodward AT, et al. Improving transitions in acute stroke patients discharged to home: the Michigan stroke transitions trial (MISTT) protocol. BMC Neurology 2017;17:115.

22. Lo SHS, Chang AM, Chau JPC. Stroke Self-Management Support Improves Survivors' Self-Efficacy and Outcome Expectation of Self-Management Behaviors. Stroke 2018;49:758-60.

23. Hibbard JH, Stockard J, Mahoney ER, Tusler M. Development of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM): conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers. Health Services Research 2004;39:1005-26.

24. Lorig K, Stewart A, Ritter P, Gonzalez V, Laurent D, Lynch J. Outcome Measures for Health Education and other Health Care Interventions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.; 1996.

25. Lorig K, Chastain RL, Ung E, Shoor S, Holman HR. Development and evaluation of a scale to measure perceived self-efficacy in people with arthritis. Arthritis and Rheumatism 1989;32:37-44.

26. Bolen SD, Chandar A, Falck-Ytter C, et al. Effectiveness and safety of patient activation interventions for adults with type 2 diabetes: systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2014;29:1166-76.

27. Hibbard JH, Mahoney ER, Stock R, Tusler M. Do increases in patient activation result in improved self-management behaviors? Health Serv Res 2007;42:1443-63.

28. Fryer CE, Luker JA, McDonnell MN, Hillier SL. Self-Management Programs for Quality of Life in People With Stroke. Stroke 2016;47:e266-e7.

29. Boger EJ, Demain S, Latter S. Self-management: a systematic review of outcome measures adopted in self-management interventions for stroke. Disability and Rehabilitation 2013;35:1415-28.

30. Jones F, Riazi A, Norris M. Self-management after stroke: time for some more questions? Disability and Rehabilitation 2013;35:257-64.

31. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev 1977;84:191-215.

32. Gruber-Baldini AL, Velozo C, Romero S, Shulman LM. Validation of the PROMIS((R)) measures of self-efficacy for managing chronic conditions. Qual Life Res 2017;26:1915-24.

33. Hibbard J, Gilburt H. Supporting people to manage their health. An introduction to patient activation London: The King's Fund 2014.

34. Brenk-Franz K, Hibbard JH, Herrmann WJ, et al. Validation of the German version of the patient activation measure 13 (PAM13-D) in an international multicentre study of primary care patients. PloS One 2013;8:e74786.

35. Magnezi R, Glasser S. Psychometric properties of the hebrew translation of the patient activation measure (PAM-13). PloS One 2014;9:e113391.

36. Moreno-Chico C, Gonzalez-de Paz L, Monforte-Royo C, Arrighi E, Navarro-Rubio MD, Gallart Fernandez-Puebla A. Adaptation to European Spanish and psychometric properties of the Patient Activation Measure 13 in patients with chronic diseases. Family Practice 2017;34:627-34.

37. Ngooi BX, Packer TL, Kephart G, et al. Validation of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM-13) among adults with cardiac conditions in Singapore. Quality of Life Research 2017;26:1071-80.

38. Skolasky RL, Mackenzie EJ, Riley LH, 3rd, Wegener ST. Psychometric properties of the Patient Activation Measure among individuals presenting for elective lumbar spine surgery. Quality of Life Research 2009;18:1357-66.

39. McCusker J, Lambert SD, Cole MG, et al. Activation and Self-Efficacy in a Randomized Trial of a Depression Self-Care Intervention. Health Education & Behavior 2016;43:716-25.

40. Stepleman L, Rutter MC, Hibbard J, Johns L, Wright D, Hughes M. Validation of the patient activation measure in a multiple sclerosis clinic sample and implications for care. Disability and Rehabilitation 2010;32:1558-67.

41. Ackermans L, Hageman MG, Bos AH, Haverkamp D, Scholtes VAB, Poolman RW. Feedback to Patients About Patient-reported Outcomes Does Not Improve Empowerment or Satisfaction. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research 2018;476:716-22.

42. Skolasky RL, Mackenzie EJ, Wegener ST, Riley LH, 3rd. Patient activation and adherence to physical therapy in persons undergoing spine surgery. Spine 2008;33:E784-91.

43. Masterson Creber R, Chen T, Wei C, Lee CS. Brief Report: Patient Activation Among Urban Hospitalized Patients With Heart Failure. Journal of Cardiac Failure 2017;23:817-20.

44. Young L, Kupzyk K, Barnason S. The Impact of Self-management Knowledge and Support on the Relationships Among Self-efficacy, Patient Activation, and Self-management in Rural Patients With Heart Failure. The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing 2017;32:E1-E8.

45. Bello JK, Lapin B, Poston L, Hirshfeld M, Hosack A. The Role of Patient Activation in Contraceptive Use. Womens Health Issues 2016;26:161-7.

46. Munce SE, Straus SE, Fehlings MG, et al. Impact of psychological characteristics in selfmanagement in individuals with traumatic spinal cord injury. Spinal Cord 2016;54:29-33.

47. Gruber JS, Hageman M, Neuhaus V, Mudgal CS, Jupiter JB, Ring D. Patient activation and disability in upper extremity illness. J Hand Surg Am 2014;39:1378-83 e3.

48. Flode M, Iversen MM, Aarflot M, Haltbakk J. Lasting impact of an implemented selfmanagement programme for people with type 2 diabetes referred from primary care: a one-group, before-after design. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 2017;31:789-95.

49. Wallace AS, Seligman HK, Davis TC, et al. Literacy-appropriate educational materials and brief counseling improve diabetes self-management. Patient Education and Counseling 2009;75:328-33.

50. Kersten P, McPherson KM, Kayes NM, Theadom A, McCambridge A. Bridging the goal intentionaction gap in rehabilitation: a study of if-then implementation intentions in neurorehabilitation. Disability and Rehabilitation 2015;37:1073-81.

51. Jones F. Strategies to enhance chronic disease self-management: how can we apply this to stroke? Disability and Rehabilitation 2006;28:841-7.

52. Jones KR, Tullai-McGuinness S, Dolansky M, Farag A, Krivanek MJ, Matthews L. Expanded adult day program as a transition option from hospital to home. Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice 2011;12:18-26.

53. AbuSabha R, Achterberg C. Review of self-efficacy and locus of control for nutrition- and health-related behavior. J Am Diet Assoc 1997;97:1122-32.

54. Buck HG, Dickson VV, Fida R, et al. Predictors of hospitalization and quality of life in heart failure: A model of comorbidity, self-efficacy and self-care. International Journal of Nursing Studies 2015;52:1714-22.

55. Korpershoek C, van der Bijl J, Hafsteinsdottir TB. Self-efficacy and its influence on recovery of patients with stroke: a systematic review. J Adv Nurs 2011;67:1876-94.

56. Dallolio L, Messina R, Calugi S, et al. Self-management and self-efficacy in stroke survivors: validation of the Italian version of the Stroke Self-Efficacy Questionnaire. European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine 2018;54:68-74.

57. Jones F, Partridge C, Reid F. The Stroke Self-Efficacy Questionnaire: measuring individual confidence in functional performance after stroke. J Clin Nurs 2008;17:244-52.

58. Maujean A, Davis P, Kendall E, Casey L, Loxton N. The daily living self-efficacy scale: a new measure for assessing self-efficacy in stroke survivors. Disability and Rehabilitation 2014;36:504-11.

59. Dong X, Liu Y, Wang A, Wang M. The psychometric properties of Chinese version of SCI Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale in patients with stroke. Patient Preference and Adherence 2016;10:1235-41.

60. Aben L, Busschbach JJ, Ponds RW, Ribbers GM. Memory self-efficacy and psychosocial factors in stroke. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine 2008;40:681-3.

61. Robinson-Smith G, Johnston MV, Allen J. Self-care self-efficacy, quality of life, and depression after stroke. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2000;81:460-4.

62. Johnston M, Bonetti D, Joice S, et al. Recovery from disability after stroke as a target for a behavioural intervention: results of a randomized controlled trial. Disability and Rehabilitation 2007;29:1117-27.

63. Schwarzer R, Jerusalem M. Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. Windsor, UK: NFER-NELSON; 1995.

64. Smith MS, Wallston KA, Smith CA. The development and validation of the Perceived Health Competence Scale. Health Education Research 1995;10:51-64.

65. Frank G, Johnston M. Perceived control and recovery from functional limitations: Preliminary evaluation of a workbook-based intervention for discharged stroke patients. British Journal of Health Psychology 2000;5:413-20.

66. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005-2008. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 2010;63:1179-94.

67. Sit JW, Chair SY, Choi KC, et al. Do empowered stroke patients perform better at selfmanagement and functional recovery after a stroke? A randomized controlled trial. Clinical Interventions in Aging 2016;11:1441-50.

68. McKenna S, Jones F, Glenfield P, Lennon S. Bridges self-management program for people with stroke in the community: A feasibility randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Stroke 2015;10:697-704.

69. Jones F, Mandy A, Partridge C. Changing self-efficacy in individuals following a first time stroke: preliminary study of a novel self-management intervention. Clin Rehabil 2009;23:522-33.

70. Kendall E, Catalano T, Kuipers P, Posner N, Buys N, Charker J. Recovery following stroke: the role of self-management education. Social Science & Medicine (1982) 2007;64:735-46.

71. Jones F, Gage H, Drummond A, et al. Feasibility study of an integrated stroke self-management programme: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2016;6:e008900.

72. Hibbard JH, Mahoney ER, Stockard J, Tusler M. Development and testing of a short form of the patient activation measure. Health Services Research 2005;40:1918-30.

73. Chubak J, Anderson ML, Saunders KW, et al. Predictors of 1-year change in patient activation in older adults with diabetes mellitus and heart disease. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 2012;60:1316-21.

74. Harvey L, Fowles JB, Xi M, Terry P. When activation changes, what else changes? the relationship between change in patient activation measure (PAM) and employees' health status and health behaviors. Patient Education and Counseling 2012;88:338-43.

75. Fowles JB, Terry P, Xi M, Hibbard J, Bloom CT, Harvey L. Measuring self-management of patients' and employees' health: further validation of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM) based on its relation to employee characteristics. Patient Educ Couns 2009;77:116-22.

76. Mitchell SE, Gardiner PM, Sadikova E, et al. Patient activation and 30-day post-discharge hospital utilization. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2014;29:349-55.

77. Greene J, Hibbard JH. Why does patient activation matter? An examination of the relationships between patient activation and health-related outcomes. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2012;27:520-6.

78. Hibbard JH, Greene J, Tusler M. Improving the outcomes of disease management by tailoring care to the patient's level of activation. The American Journal of Managed Care 2009;15:353-60.

79. Packer TL, Kephart G, Ghahari S, Audulv A, Versnel J, Warner G. The Patient Activation Measure: a validation study in a neurological population. Quality of Life Research 2015;24:1587-96.

80. Blakemore A, Hann M, Howells K, et al. Patient activation in older people with long-term conditions and multimorbidity: correlates and change in a cohort study in the United Kingdom. BMC Health Services Research 2016;16:582.

81. Remmers C, Hibbard J, Mosen DM, Wagenfield M, Hoye RE, Jones C. Is patient activation associated with future health outcomes and healthcare utilization among patients with diabetes? J Ambul Care Manage 2009;32:320-7.

82. Sacks RM, Greene J, Hibbard JH, Overton V. How well do patient activation scores predict depression outcomes one year later? Journal of Affective Disorders 2014;169:1-6.

83. Hibbard JH. Using systematic measurement to target consumer activation strategies. Medical Care Research and Review : MCRR 2009;66:9s-27s.

84. Koes BW, van Tulder M, Lin CW, Macedo LG, McAuley J, Maher C. An updated overview of clinical guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care. Eur Spine J 2010;19:2075-94.

85. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. Eur Heart J 2016;37:2893-962.

86. American Diabetes Association. 1. Improving Care and Promoting Health in Populations: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care 2018;41:S7-S12.

87. American Diabetes Association. 4. Lifestyle Management: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care 2018;41:S38-S50.

88. Kinney RL, Lemon SC, Person SD, Pagoto SL, Saczynski JS. The association between patient activation and medication adherence, hospitalization, and emergency room utilization in patients with chronic illnesses: a systematic review. Patient Education and Counseling 2015;98:545-52.

89. Collinsworth AW, Brown RM, James CS, Stanford RH, Alemayehu D, Priest EL. The impact of patient education and shared decision making on hospital readmissions for COPD. International journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 2018;13:1325-32.

90. Cullington H, Kitterick P, Weal M, Margol-Gromada M. Feasibility of personalised remote longterm follow-up of people with cochlear implants: a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2018;8:e019640.

91. Schumacher JR, Lutz BJ, Hall AG, et al. Feasibility of an ED-to-Home Intervention to Engage Patients: A Mixed-Methods Investigation. The Western Journal of Emergency Medicine 2017;18:743-51.

92. Haas K, Martin A, Park KT. Text Message Intervention (TEACH) Improves Quality of Life and Patient Activation in Celiac Disease: A Randomized Clinical Trial. The Journal of Pediatrics 2017;185:62-7.e2.

93. Houlihan BV, Brody M, Everhart-Skeels S, et al. Randomized Trial of a Peer-Led, Telephone-Based Empowerment Intervention for Persons With Chronic Spinal Cord Injury Improves Health Self-Management. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2017;98:1067-76.e1.

94. Moljord IEO, Lara-Cabrera ML, Salvesen O, et al. Twelve months effect of self-referral to inpatient treatment on patient activation, recovery, symptoms and functioning: A randomized controlled study. Patient Education and Counseling 2017;100:1144-52.

95. Wolinsky FD, Lou Y, Edmonds SW, et al. Activating Patients With a Tailored Bone Density Test Results Letter and Educational Brochure: the PAADRN Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Clinical Densitometry 2017;20:464-71.

96. Dingemann J, Szczepanski R, Ernst G, et al. Transition of Patients with Esophageal Atresia to Adult Care: Results of a Transition-Specific Education Program. European Journal of Pediatric Surgery [et al] = Zeitschrift fur Kinderchirurgie 2017;27:61-7.

97. Kvale EA, Huang CS, Meneses KM, et al. Patient-centered support in the survivorship care transition: Outcomes from the Patient-Owned Survivorship Care Plan Intervention. Cancer 2016;122:3232-42.

98. Tan KK, Chan SW, Wang W, Vehvilainen-Julkunen K. A salutogenic program to enhance sense of coherence and quality of life for older people in the community: A feasibility randomized controlled trial and process evaluation. Patient Education and Counseling 2016;99:108-16.

99. Ryvicker M, Feldman PH, Chiu YL, Gerber LM. The role of patient activation in improving blood pressure outcomes in Black patients receiving home care. Medical Care Research and Review : MCRR 2013;70:636-52.

100. Nagykaldi Z, Aspy CB, Chou A, Mold JW. Impact of a Wellness Portal on the delivery of patientcentered preventive care. Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine : JABFM 2012;25:158-67.

101. Shively MJ, Gardetto NJ, Kodiath MF, et al. Effect of patient activation on self-management in patients with heart failure. The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing 2013;28:20-34.

102. Wagner PJ, Dias J, Howard S, et al. Personal health records and hypertension control: a randomized trial. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA 2012;19:626-34.

103. Desouza CV, Padala PR, Haynatzki G, Anzures P, Demasi C, Shivaswamy V. Role of apathy in the effectiveness of weight management programmes. Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism 2012;14:419-23.

104. Rygg LO, Rise MB, Gronning K, Steinsbekk A. Efficacy of ongoing group based diabetes selfmanagement education for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. A randomised controlled trial. Patient Education and Counseling 2012;86:98-105.

105. Maindal HT, Sandbaek A, Kirkevold M, Lauritzen T. Effect on motivation, perceived competence, and activation after participation in the "Ready to Act" programme for people with screen-detected dysglycaemia: a 1-year randomised controlled trial, Addition-DK. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 2011;39:262-71.

106. Solomon M, Wagner SL, Goes J. Effects of a Web-based intervention for adults with chronic conditions on patient activation: online randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14:e32.

107. Lara-Cabrera ML, Salvesen O, Nesset MB, De las Cuevas C, Iversen VC, Grawe RW. The effect of a brief educational programme added to mental health treatment to improve patient activation: A randomized controlled trial in community mental health centres. Patient Education and Counseling 2016;99:760-8.

108. Eikelenboom N, Smeele I, Faber M, et al. Validation of Self-Management Screening (SeMaS), a tool to facilitate personalised counselling and support of patients with chronic diseases. BMC Fam Pract 2015;16:165.

109. Becker NV, Asch DA, Kullgren JT, Bellamy SL, Sen AP, Volpp KG. Stages of change and patient activation measure scores in the context of incentive-based health interventions. American Journal of Health Promotion : AJHP 2015;30:133-5.

110. Magnezi R, Bergman YS, Grosberg D. Online activity and participation in treatment affects the perceived efficacy of social health networks among patients with chronic illness. J Med Internet Res 2014;16:e12.

111. Magnezi R, Glasser S, Shalev H, Sheiber A, Reuveni H. Patient activation, depression and quality of life. Patient Education and Counseling 2014;94:432-7.

112. Bos-Touwen I, Schuurmans M, Monninkhof EM, et al. Patient and disease characteristics associated with activation for self-management in patients with diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, chronic heart failure and chronic renal disease: a cross-sectional survey study. PloS One 2015;10:e0126400.

113. Kidd L, Lawrence M, Booth J, Rowat A, Russell S. Development and evaluation of a nurse-led, tailored stroke self-management intervention. BMC Health Services research 2015;15:359.

114. McDowell I, Newell C. Measuring Health A Guide To Rating Scales and Questions. 2 ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, Inc.; 1996.

115. Hughes AK, Woodward AT, Fritz MC, Reeves MJ. Improving stroke transitions: Development and implementation of a social work case management intervention. Soc Work Health Care 2018;57:95-108.

116. Cella D, Nowinski C, Peterman A, et al. The neurology quality-of-life measurement initiative. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2011;92:S28-36.

117. Gershon RC, Rothrock N, Hanrahan R, Bass M, Cella D. The use of PROMIS and assessment center to deliver patient-reported outcome measures in clinical research. J Appl Meas 2010;11:304-14.

118. Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System. Informational Support: a brief guide to the PROMIS Informational Support v2.0 instruments2015 July 2015.

119. Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System. Emotional Support: a brief guide to the PROMIS Emotional Support instruments2017 November 2017.

120. Instrumental Support: a brief guide to the PROMIS Instrumental Support v2.0 instruments. 2017. (Accessed 7/11/2018, 2018, at

http://www.healthmeasures.net/administrator/components/com_instruments/uploads/PROMIS%20Ins trumental%20Support%20Scoring%20Manual.pdf.)

121. Kwah LK, Diong J. National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS). Journal of Physiotherapy 2014;60:61.

122. Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet (London, England) 1974;2:81-4.

123. Bruno A, Akinwuntan AE, Lin C, et al. Simplified modified rankin scale questionnaire: reproducibility over the telephone and validation with quality of life. Stroke 2011;42:2276-9.

124. User Manual for the Quality of Life in Neurological Disorders (Neuro-QoL) Measures Version 2.0. 2015. (Accessed March 15, 2019, at

http://www.healthmeasures.net/administrator/components/com_instruments/uploads/Neuro-QOL_User%20Manual%20v2_24Mar2015.pdf.)

125. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Lowe B. The Patient Health Questionnaire Somatic, Anxiety, and Depressive Symptom Scales: a systematic review. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2010;32:345-59.

126. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. JAMA 1999;282:1737-44.

127. Lowe B, Unutzer J, Callahan CM, Perkins AJ, Kroenke K. Monitoring depression treatment outcomes with the patient health questionnaire-9. Med Care 2004;42:1194-201.

128. Katzan IL, Lapin B. PROMIS GH (Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Global Health) Scale in Stroke: A Validation Study. Stroke 2018;49:147-54.

129. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. Journal of Biomedical Informatics 2009;42:377-81.

130. Manea L, Gilbody S, McMillan D. Optimal cut-off score for diagnosing depression with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): a meta-analysis. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association Journal 2012;184:E191-6.

131. Moljord IE, Lara-Cabrera ML, Perestelo-Perez L, Rivero-Santana A, Eriksen L, Linaker OM. Psychometric properties of the Patient Activation Measure-13 among out-patients waiting for mental health treatment: A validation study in Norway. Patient Education and Counseling 2015;98:1410-7.

132. David D, Barnes DE, McMahan RD, Shi Y, Katen MT, Sudore RL. Patient Activation: A Key Component of Successful Advance Care Planning. Journal of Palliative Medicine 2018.

133. Rosland AM, Kieffer E, Israel B, et al. When is social support important? The association of family support and professional support with specific diabetes self-management behaviors. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2008;23:1992-9.

134. Gallant MP. The influence of social support on chronic illness self-management: a review and directions for research. Health education & behavior : the official publication of the Society for Public Health Education 2003;30:170-95.

135. Rohrbaugh MJ, Shoham V, Coyne JC, Cranford JA, Sonnega JS, Nicklas JM. Beyond the "self" in self-efficacy: Spouse confidence predicts patient survival following heart failure. Journal of family Psychology 2004;18:184-93.

136. Luttik ML, Jaarsma T, Moser D, Sanderman R, van Veldhuisen DJ. The importance and impact of social support on outcomes in patients with heart failure: an overview of the literature. The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing 2005;20:162-9.

137. Gleason KT, Tanner EK, Boyd CM, Saczynski JS, Szanton SL. Factors associated with patient activation in an older adult population with functional difficulties. Patient Education and Counseling 2016;99:1421-6.

138. Riemsma RP, Taal E, Rasker JJ. Group education for patients with rheumatoid arthritis and their partners. Arthritis and Rheumatism 2003;49:556-66.

139. Martire LM, Stephens MA, Druley JA, Wojno WC. Negative reactions to received spousal care: predictors and consequences of miscarried support. Health Psychology 2002;21:167-76.

140. Skolasky RL, Mackenzie EJ, Wegener ST, Riley LH, 3rd. Patient activation and functional recovery in persons undergoing spine surgery. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery American volume 2011;93:1665-71.

141. Hellstrom K, Lindmark B, Wahlberg B, Fugl-Meyer AR. Self-efficacy in relation to impairments and activities of daily living disability in elderly patients with stroke: a prospective investigation. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine 2003;35:202-7.

142. Goodworth MC, Stepleman L, Hibbard J, et al. Variables associated with patient activation in persons with multiple sclerosis. Journal of Health Psychology 2016;21:82-92.

143. Smith SG, Curtis LM, Wardle J, von Wagner C, Wolf MS. Skill set or mind set? Associations between health literacy, patient activation and health. PloS One 2013;8:e74373.

144. Shortell SM, Poon BY, Ramsay PP, et al. A Multilevel Analysis of Patient Engagement and Patient-Reported Outcomes in Primary Care Practices of Accountable Care Organizations. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2017;32:640-7.

145. Jones F, Postges H, Brimicombe L. Building Bridges between healthcare professionals, patients and families: A coproduced and integrated approach to self-management support in stroke. NeuroRehabilitation 2016;39:471-80.

146. Elloker T, Rhoda AJ. The relationship between social support and participation in stroke: A systematic review. Afr J Disabil 2018;7:357.

147. Lewin A, Jobges M, Werheid K. The influence of self-efficacy, pre-stroke depression and perceived social support on self-reported depressive symptoms during stroke rehabilitation. Neuropsychological Rehabilitation 2013;23:546-62.

148. Volz M, Mobus J, Letsch C, Werheid K. The influence of early depressive symptoms, social support and decreasing self-efficacy on depression 6 months post-stroke. Journal of Affective Disorders 2016;206:252-5.

149. Salter K, Foley N, Teasell R. Social support interventions and mood status post stroke: a review. International Journal of Nursing Studies 2010;47:616-25.